
Page 1 of 1 

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 30, 2025 
10:00 AM 

ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, HEARING ROOM 2 
OAKLAND, CA  94612 

MEETING CANCELLED 

The regular meeting of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Audit & Operations 
Committee, originally scheduled for Wednesday, April 30, 2025, has been canceled. The next 

regular meeting will take place on Wednesday, May 28, 2025.  

If you have any questions, please contact the Retirement Unit Office at 510-238-7295. 

AGENDA

Retirement Unit 
150 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza 

Oakland, CA 94612 

Meetings are held in wheelchair 
accessible facilities. 

The Board may take action on 
items not on the agenda only if 
findings pursuant to the Sunshine 
Ordinance and Brown Act are 
made that the matter is urgent or 
an emergency. 

For additional information, contact 
the Retirement Unit by calling 
(510) 238-7295, or send an email
to jlloyd2@oaklandca.gov

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
John C. Speakman 

Chairperson 
R. Steven Wilkinson

Member 
Martin J. Melia 

Member 

*In the event a quorum of the Board
participates in the Committee meeting,
the meeting is noticed as a Special
Meeting of the Board; however, no final
Board action can be taken.  In the event
that the Audit Committee does not reach
quorum, this meeting is noticed as an
informational meeting between staff and
the Chair of the Audit Committee.

MEETING of the AUDIT & OPERATIONS COMMITTEE  
of the OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) 

 

mailto:jlloyd2@oaklandca.gov


Page 1 of 1 

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 30, 2025 
10:30 AM 

ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, HEARING ROOM 2 
OAKLAND, CA  94612 

MEETING CANCELLED 

The regular meeting of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Investment & Financial 
Matters Committee, originally scheduled for Wednesday, April 30, 2025, has been canceled. The 

next regular meeting will take place on Wednesday, May 28, 2025.  

If you have any questions, please contact the Retirement Unit Office at 510-238-7295 

Retirement Unit 
150 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza 
Oakland, California 94612 

 INVESTMENT COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
Jaime T. Godfrey 

Chairperson 
R. Steven Wilkinson

Member 
Robert W. Nichelini 

Member 

*In the event a quorum of the Board
participates in the Committee meeting, the
meeting is noticed as a Special Meeting of the
Board; however, no final Board action can be
taken. In the event that the Investment
Committee does not reach quorum, this
meeting is noticed as an informational
meeting between staff and the Chair of the
Investment Committee.

MEETING of the INVESTMENT & FINANCIAL MATTERS COMMITTEE  
of the OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) 

Meetings are held in wheelchair 
accessible facilities. 

The Board may take action on 
items not on the agenda only if 
findings pursuant to the Sunshine 
Ordinance and Brown Act are 
made that the matter is urgent or 
an emergency. 

For additional information, contact 
the Retirement Unit by calling 
(510) 238-7295, or send an email
to jlloyd2@oaklandca.gov

AGE NDA

mailto:jlloyd2@oaklandca.gov


Page 1 of 5 

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 30, 2025 
10:30 AM

ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, HEARING ROOM 2 
OAKLAND, CA 94612 

OBSERVE 

▪ To observe the meeting by video conference, please click on this link:
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82880493983 at the noticed meeting time.

▪ To listen to the meeting by phone, please call the numbers below at the noticed meeting time:
Dial (for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location):

▪ iPhone one-tap: US: +16699006833, 82880493983# or +13462487799, 82880493983#

▪ US: +1 669 900 6833 or +1 346 248 7799 or +1 253 215 8782 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 626
6799 or +1 929 205 6099

▪ International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kctrX35uax

▪ Webinar ID: 828 8049 3983.

▪ If asked for a participant ID or code, press #.

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
There are three ways to submit public comments. 

1. Speaker Card:  All persons wishing to address the Board must complete a speaker’s card, stating
their name and the agenda item they wish to address, including “Open Forum”.

2. e-Comment:  To send your comment directly to staff BEFORE the meeting starts, please email
jlloyd2@oaklandca.gov with “PFRS Board Meeting Public Comment” in the subject line for the
corresponding meeting. Please note that e-Comment submission closes two (2) hours before
the posted meeting time.

RETIREMENT BOARD MEMBERS 

Walter L. Johnson, Sr. 
President 

Jaime T. Godfrey 
Vice President 

Martin J. Melia 
Member 

Robert W. Nichelini 
Member 

John C. Speakman 
Member 

R. Steven Wilkinson
Member 

Erin Roseman 
Member 

SPECIAL HYBRID MEETING of the BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
of the OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) 

Retirement Unit 
150 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza Oakland, California 94612 

REVISED AGENDA

Meetings are held in wheelchair 
accessible facilities. 

The Board may take action on 
items not on the agenda only if 
findings pursuant to the Sunshine 
Ordinance and Brown Act are 
made that the matter is urgent or 
an emergency. 

For additional information, contact 
the Retirement Unit by calling 
(510) 238-7295. or send an email
to jlloyd2@oaklandca.gov

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82880493983
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kctrX35uax
mailto:jlloyd2@oaklandca.gov
mailto:jlloyd2@oaklandca.gov


Page 2 of 5 

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION MEETING AGENDA 
APRIL 30, 2025 

3. Zoom (Remote Participation):
Members of the public may observe and participate in the meeting remotely via Zoom. 

▪ To comment by video, use the “Raise Hand” function during the Public Comment period.
Instructions available at: Zoom Raise Hand Help Article.

▪ To comment by phone, dial the number provided on the meeting agenda and press *9 to raise
your hand and *6 to unmute when called upon.

Zoom access details (including Meeting ID and dial-in numbers) have been provided on the first 
page of the agenda. 

If you have any questions, please email Jessica Lloyd, Administrative Analyst I, at 
jlloyd2@oaklandca.gov 

ORDER OF BUSINESS

A. Subject: POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) BOARD OF 
ADMINISTRATION MEETING MINUTES 

From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

Recommendation: APPROVE the March 26, 2025, PFRS Board of Administration Meeting Minutes 

B. Subject: ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES REPORT 

From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

Recommendation: ACCEPT the informational report regarding PFRS administrative expenses as 
of February 28, 2025 

C. Subject: ANNUAL REPORT 
FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2024 

From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

Recommendation: APPROVE the printing and publication of the Annual Report of the Oakland 
Police and Fire Retirement Systems for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024. 

D. Subject: RESOLUTION No. 8128 
From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

Recommendation: APPROVE Resolution No. 8128 
authorizing the request of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Board Member R. Steven Wilkinson to travel and attend the Milken Institute 
Global Conference in Los Angeles, CA, from May 3, 2025, through May 8, 
2025, and authorizing the reimbursement of registration fees and travel-related 
expenses in an amount not to exceed two thousand nine hundred dollars 
($2,900.00). 

mailto:jlloyd2@oaklandca.gov


OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION MEETING AGENDA 
APRIL 30, 2025 

Page 3 of 5 

E. Subject: ECONOMIC AND INVESTMENT MARKET OVERVIEW 
AS OF MARCH 31, 2025 

From: Meketa Investment Group 

Recommendation: ACCEPT the informational report regarding the Global Investment Markets as 
of March 31, 2025. 

F. Subject: PFRS PRELIMINARY INVESTMENT FUND PERFORMANCE UPDATE 
AS OF MARCH 31, 2025 

From: Meketa Investment Group 

Recommendation: ACCEPT the informational report on the preliminary performance of the PFRS 
Investment Fund as of MARCH 31, 2025. 

G. Subject: INVESTMENT POLICY STATEMENT (IPS) UPDATE: 
FIXED INCOME BECHMARK  

From: Meketa Investment Group 

Recommendation: APPROVE the updated report regarding the status of the Fixed Income 
Benchmark within the PFRS Investment Portfolio. 

H. Subject: RESOLUTION NO. 8129 - RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE AMENDMENT 
OF THE CONTRACT WITH MEKETA INVESTMENT GROUP AS 
INVESTMENT COUNSEL FOR THE CITY OF OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE 
RETIREMENT SYSTEM. 

From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

Recommendation: APPROVE Resolution No. 8129 authorizing the amendment of the contract with 
Meketa Investment Group as the Investment Counsel for the City of Oakland 
Police and Fire Retirement System. 

I. Subject: RESOLUTION NO. 8130 - RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE HIRING OF 
LOOP CAPITAL ASSET MANAGEMENT FOR CORE FIXED INCOME 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY MANAGER SERVICES FOR THE CITY OF 
OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

Recommendation: APPROVE Resolution No. 8130 authorizing the hiring of Loop Capital 

Asset Management for Core Fixed Income Investment Strategy 
Manager Services for the City of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement 
System. 

J. Subject: RESOLUTION NO. 8131 - RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE HIRING OF 
RAMIREZ ASSET MANAGEMENT FOR CORE FIXED INCOME 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY MANAGER SERVICES FOR THE CITY OF 
OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

Recommendation: APPROVE Resolution No. 8131 authorizing the hiring of Ramirez Asset 
Management for Core Fixed Income Investment Strategy Manager 
Services for the City of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System. 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION MEETING AGENDA 
APRIL 30, 2025 

Page 4 of 5 

K. Subject: RESOLUTION NO. 8132 - RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE HIRING OF 
REAMS ASSET MANAGEMENT FOR CORE PLUS FIXED INCOME 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY MANAGER SERVICES FOR THE CITY OF 
OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

Recommendation: APPROVE Resolution No. 8132 authorizing the hiring of Reams Asset 
Management for Core Plus Fixed Income Investment Strategy 
Manager Services for the City of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement 
System. 

L. Subject: RESOLUTION NO. 8133 - RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE HIRING OF 
WELLINGTON MANAGEMENT COMPANY FOR CORE PLUS FIXED 
INCOME INVESTMENT STRATEGY MANAGER SERVICES FOR THE CITY 
OF OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

Recommendation: APPROVE Resolution No. 8133 authorizing the hiring of Wellington 

Management Company for Core Plus Fixed Income Investment 
Strategy Manager Services for the City of Oakland Police and Fire 
Retirement System. 

M. Subject: 2025 ANNUAL DIVERSITY SURVEY RESULTS: CURRENT PFRS 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY MANAGERS & ANNUAL INDUSTRY REPORT 

From: Meketa Investment Group 

Recommendation: ACCEPT the informational report on the diversity representation of current 
PFRS Investment Managers and across the industry, to date. 

N. Subject: MEMBER RESOLUTIONS No. 8134 - 8135 

From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

Recommendation: APPROVE member resolutions No. 8134 - 8135 

O. RESOLUTION
NO. 8134

Resolution fixing the monthly allowance of the surviving spouse of the following 
retired members of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System in the 
amount indicated: 

Deceased Member Surviving Spouse 
Monthly 
Allowance 

▪ Albert P. Giordano Jr. Norma M. Giordano $4,829.97

▪ Gary N. Wickwire Deborah L. Wickwire $4,154.55 

 

P. RESOLUTION
NO. 8135

Resolution approving death benefit payments and directing warrants thereunder 
in the total sum of $1,000.00 payable to the beneficiary of the following 
deceased members of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System: 
▪ Robert L. Del Gado
▪ Phillip D. Armistead



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT 
SYSTEM BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION MEETING 
AGENDA APRIL 30, 2025 

Page 5 of 5 

Q. PENDING ITEMS

R. NEW BUSINESS

S. OPEN FORUM

T. FUTURE SCHEDULING

U. ADJOURNMENT



PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 26, 2025 
PAGE 1 OF 6 

A MEETING OF THE OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) BOARD OF 
ADMINISTRATION was held Wednesday, March 26, 2025, at One Frank Ogawa Plaza, Hearing Room 2, 
Oakland, California. 

Board Members: ▪ Walter L. Johnson President 
▪ Jaime T. Godfrey Vice President
▪ Martin J. Melia Member (EXCUSED) 
▪ Robert W. Nichelini  Member
▪ Erin Roseman Member (EXCUSED) 
▪ John C. Speakman Member
▪ R. Steven Wilkinson Member (ABSENT)

Additional Attendees: ▪ David F. Jones PFRS Plan Administrator & Secretary  
▪ Téir Jenkins PFRS Investment & Operations Manager 
▪ Jessica Lloyd PFRS Staff Member 
▪ Selia Warren PFRS Legal Counsel 
▪ David Sancewich Meketa Investment Group
▪ Paola Nealon Meketa Investment Group 

The meeting was called to order at 11:59 AM Pacific 
A. APPROVAL OF THE PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION MEETING MINUTES

Vice President Godfrey made a motion to APPROVE the minutes of the PFRS Board of Administration
Meeting, held on February 26, 2025, as submitted; seconded by Member Nichelini. Motion Passed.

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: Y / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: ABSTAIN / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 3 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 1 / EXCUSED: 2) 

B. RESOLUTION No. 8127
A resolution of appreciation was presented to the Board for Maxine Visaya, in recognition of her
dedication, contributions, and loyal service as Administrative Assistant II to the Oakland Police and Fire
Retirement System Board.
MOTION: Member Speakman made a motion to APPROVE resolution 8127; seconded by Member
Nichelini. Motion Passed.

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: Y / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 4 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 02) 



PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 26, 2025 
PAGE 2 OF 6 

C. AUDIT AND OPERATIONS COMMITTEE AGENDA – MARCH 26, 2025
C1. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES REPORT: JANUARY 31, 2025

PFRS Investment and Operations Manager Teir Jenkins presented an informational report on the 
administrative expenditures of PFRS as of January 31, 2025. PFRS has an approved annual budget of 
$4.1 million and has expensed approximately $1.5 million, to date, with approximately 63% of the overall 
budget remaining. A surplus is anticipated, particularly in staff salaries. 

Internal cash, in Treasury, totaled $9.9 million, with a $4 million pension payment made, leaving a 
balance of nearly $6 million. Total membership as of January 31st was 607 (376 police, 231 fire), 
reflecting a continued decline from 961 members in 2015. 

MOTION: Member Speakman made a motion to ACCEPT the PFRS Administrative Expenses Report 
as of January 31, 2025; seconded by Member Nichelini. Motion passed.  

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: Y / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 4 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

C2. PROPOSED TWO-YEAR PFRS ADMINISTRATIVE BUDGET 
FISCAL YEARS 2025/2026 and 2026/2027 
PFRS Investment and Operations Manager Teir Jenkins presented a proposed administrative budget 
for FY 2025-26 and 2026-27. The proposal included a slight overall increase, primarily to restore a 
previously removed staff position and account for minor contract-based adjustments in audit, actuary, 
and potential investment consulting fees. The total budget remains under 1% (0.945%) of the investment 
portfolio, well below industry standards. 

MOTION: Member Speakman made a motion to APPROVE the budget for FY 2025-26 and 2026-27; 
seconded by Member Nichelini. Motion passed.  

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: Y / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 4 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 02) 

C3. RESOLUTION No. 8126 
A resolution approving the request of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board Member Jaime T. 
Godfrey to travel and attend the Institutional Investors Public Funds Forum in Los Angeles, CA, from April 27, 
2025, through April 30, 2025, and authorizing the reimbursement of registration fees and travel-related expenses 
in an amount not to exceed one-thousand seven hundred dollars ($1,700.00). 

MOTION: Member Speakman made a motion to APPROVE resolution 8126; seconded by Member 
Nichelini. Motion passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: ABSTAIN / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 3 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 1 / EXCUSED: 02) 



PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 26, 2025 
PAGE 3 OF 6 

D. INVESTMENT & FINANCIAL MATTERS COMMITTEE AGENDA – MARCH 26, 2025
D1. INVESTMENT MANAGER PERFORMANCE UPDATE: VERSOR INVESTMENTS, LLC

Vice President Godfrey provided an overview regarding the hybrid presentation given by Versor 
Investments, LLC. During the presentation, Versor discussed its operations, investment strategy, 
Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) policies, and portfolio performance challenges. Versor's 
performance is currently being reviewed as they have been on Watch Status since 2023 due to negative 
gross returns. 

MOTION: Vice President Godfrey made a motion to ACCEPT the performance update presentation; 
seconded by Member Nichelini. Motion passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: Y / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 4 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 02) 

D2. INVESTMENT MANAGER PERFORMANCE REVIEW: VERSOR INVESTMENTS, LLC 
David Sancewich of the Meketa Investment Group presented an overview regarding Versor’s trend 
strategies. He advised that the Meketa Manager Research Team still had confidence in the firm, despite 
its negative performance since the portfolio's inception. David Sancewich recommended that Versor 
remain on Watch Status for an additional six to nine months for ongoing monitoring, with a performance 
review scheduled for the end of the calendar year 

MOTION: Member Nichelini made a motion to ACCEPT the informational review and evaluation of 
Versor Investment, LLC provided by Meketa and APPROVE the recommendation for Versor Investment, 
LLC to remain on Watch Status for an additional six to nine months for ongoing monitoring; seconded 
by Member Speakman. Motion passed.  

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: Y / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 4 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

D3. ECONOMIC AND INVESTMENT MARKET OVERVIEW AS OF FEBRUARY 28, 2025 
David Sancewich of the Meketa Investment Group presented an informational report on the Economic 
and Investment Market overview as of February 28, 2025. He highlighted key areas, including Index 
Returns, Domestic Equity Returns, Foreign Equity Returns, Fixed Income Returns, as well as the current 
volatility within the U.S. economy and consumer market.  

MOTION: Vice President Godfrey made a motion to ACCEPT the informational report provided by 
Meketa; seconded by Member Nichelini. Motion passed.  

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: Y / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 4 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 



PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 26, 2025 
PAGE 4 OF 6 

D4. PFRS PRELIMINARY INVESTMENT FUND PERFORMANCE UPDATE AS OF FEBRUARY 28, 2025 
David Sancewich of the Meketa Investment Group presented an informational report regarding a 
preliminary investment performance update of the PFRS Fund as of February 28, 2025, and noted the 
PFRS Plan saw a return of 2.4% quarter-to-date, with strong contributions from international equities 
and positive performance in fixed income. Certain managers outperformed their benchmarks, and 
overall plan returns remain solid across 1-, 5-, and 10-year periods. 

MOTION: Vice President Godfrey made a motion to ACCEPT the informational report provided by 
Meketa; seconded by Member Nichelini. Motion passed.  

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: Y / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 4 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

D5. PFRS INVESTMENT POLICY UPDATE  
ASSET ALLOCATION IMPLEMENTATION: FIXED INCOME 
David Sancewich of the Meketa Investment Group presented an informational report on the asset 
allocation of the PFRS portfolio. A proposed fixed income allocation was presented, based on an in-
house model designed to maximize risk-adjusted returns while also managing portfolio risk. Four 
equally weighted metrics guided the process: Sharpe ratio, alpha, information ratio, and minimizing 
tracking error. The recommended allocation included Ramirez at 21.8%, Loop Capital Core at 21.9%, 
Reams Core Plus at 29.8%, and Wellington Core Plus at 26.5%. Board approval of this allocation was 
requested, with a rebalancing plan to follow upon approval.   

MOTION: Vice President Godfrey made a motion to APPROVE the recommended allocation provided 
by Meketa; seconded by Member Speakman. Motion passed.  

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: Y / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 4 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

D6. $13.2 MILLION DRAWDOWN FOR PFRS MEMBER RETIREMENT ALLOWANCES FROM APRIL 1, 
2025, THROUGH JUNE 30, 2025 
Vice President Godfrey provided an overview of Meketa’s informational report and reiterated that $13.2 
million is needed for member benefit payments. The recommendation presented was to allocate $4.5 
million to come from the PFRS Investment Fund (Wellington Select Equity Strategy), and the remaining 
amount ($8.7 million) to come from the City PTO Fund. 

MOTION: Vice President Godfrey made a motion to APPROVE the recommended allocation provided 
by Meketa; seconded by Member Nichelini. Motion passed.  

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: Y / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 4 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 



PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 26, 2025 
PAGE 5 OF 6 

D7. CAPITAL MARKET EXPECTATIONS 
David Sancewich of the Meketa Investment Group presented an informational report regarding the 
capital market expectations for 2025. The report included 10- and 20-year return forecasts across 
various asset classes. Notable highlights included increased fixed income return expectations and 
lowered equity expectations due to current market valuations.  

MOTION: Member Nichelini made a motion to ACCEPT the informational report provided by Meketa; 
seconded by Member Speakman. Motion passed.  

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: Y / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 4 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

D8. PFRS LONG-TERM INVESTMENT RETURN EXPECTATIONS 
David Sancewich of the Meketa Investment Group presented an informational report on expected 
portfolio returns. Based on the 2025 capital market assumptions and long-term targets (with 61% 
allocated to fixed income), the PFRS portfolio is projected to return 5.7% over the next 10 years and 
6.6% over 20 years, with an annualized volatility of 6.2%. These estimates did not include potential 
added value from active management. The data will be shared with the actuary for use in the upcoming 
actuarial study. 

MOTION: Vice President Godfrey made a motion to APPROVE the informational report provided by 
Meketa; seconded by Member Nichelini. Motion passed.  

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: Y / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 4 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

D9. PROPOSAL TO AMEND THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT WITH PFRS INVESTMENT 
COUNCIL REGARDING FEE INCREASE 
David Sancewich of the Meketa Investment Group presented a memo and noted that PCA and Meketa 
have served as investment consultant to the PFRS Board since July 2004. The current annual fee of 
$100,000 has been in place since approximately 2006–2007. Due to increased responsibilities and rising 
costs, including expanded support for board, committee, and city council meetings, Meketa is requesting 
an increase to $165,000 per year. The proposed amount reflects market comparisons and includes a 
discounted rate. A resolution and contract amendment will be presented at the April 30, 2025, Board 
meeting. 

MOTION: Member Speakman made a motion to APPROVE Meketa’s recommended fee increase; 
seconded by Member Nichelini. Motion passed.  

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: Y / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 4 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 



PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 26, 2025 
PAGE 6 OF 6 

E. PENDING ITEMS – PFRS Plan Administrator & Secretary David Jones provided an update on the Ad
Hoc Committee.  The committee did not meet as scheduled on March 24, 2025, however, there is a
meeting tentatively scheduled for April 21, 2025. A recap regarding the February meeting was provided.
PTO-related items will return in the summer, with rate discussions anticipated in mid-August once the
county releases the tax rolls. It was also recommended that PTO remain a standing item on the Ad Hoc
Committee agenda to promote open communication.

F. NEW BUSINESS – None
G. OPEN FORUM – None

H. FUTURE SCHEDULING – The next Regular Board Meeting will be held in-person and is tentatively
scheduled to occur on Wednesday, April 30, 2025, at One Frank Ogawa Plaza, Hearing Room 2,
Oakland, CA.

I. ADJOURNMENT – Member Speakman made a motion to adjourn; seconded by Member Nichelini.
Motion passed.

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: Y / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: ABSENT] 
(AYES: 4 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 1 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

The meeting adjourned at 12:31 PM. 

       DAVID F. JONES        DATE 
 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR & SECRETARY 



Table 1

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM
Administrative Budget Spent to Date (Preliminary)

As of February 28, 2025

Approved

Budget February 2025 FYTD Remaining Percent Remaining

Internal Administrative Costs
PFRS Staff Salaries 1,745,000$          103,781$                        909,123$                        835,877$                        47.9%

Board Travel Expenditures 52,500                 -                                  -                                  52,500                            100.0%

Staff Training 20,000                 -                                  -                                  20,000                            100.0%

Staff Training  - Tuition Reimbursement 7,500                   -                                  -                                  7,500                              100.0%

Board Hospitality 7,200                   999                                 2,948                              4,252                              59.1%

Payroll Processing Fees 40,000                 -                                  -                                  40,000                            100.0%

Miscellaneous Expenditures 45,000                 631                                 11,243                            33,757                            75.0%

Internal Service Fees (ISF) 88,000                 -                                  89,728                            (1,728)                             -2.0%

Contract Services Contingency 50,000                 -                                  1,500                              48,500                            97.0%

Internal Administrative Costs Subtotal : 2,055,200$          105,412$                        1,014,542$                     1,040,658$                     50.6%

Actuary and Accounting Services
Audit 54,400$               -$                                52,700$                          1,700$                            3.1%

Actuary 50,900                 21,563                            24,795                            26,105                            51.3%

Actuary and Accounting Subtotal: 105,300$             21,563$                          77,495$                          27,805$                          26.4%

Legal Services
City Attorney Salaries 220,700$             17,732$                          138,981$                        81,719$                          37.0%

Legal Contingency 150,000               -                                  -                                  150,000                          100.0%

Legal Services Subtotal: 370,700$             17,732$                          138,981$                        231,719$                        62.5%

Investment Services
Money Manager Fees 1,353,000$          288,043$                        613,970$                        739,030$                        54.6%

Custodial Fee 124,500               31,125                            62,250                            62,250                            50.0%

Investment Consultant 100,000               -                                  50,000                            50,000                            50.0%

Investment Subtotal: 1,577,500$          319,168$                        726,220$                        851,280$                        54.0%

Total Operating Budget 4,108,700$   463,875$               1,957,238$            2,151,462$            52.36%



Table 2

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Cash in Treasury (Fund 7100) - Preliminary

As of February 28, 2025

 

February 2025

Beginning Cash as of 2/1/2025 10,086,280$                                    

Additions:

City Pension Contribution - February 2,903,750                                        

Investment Draw 1,500,000                                        

Misc. Receipts 800                                                  

Total Additions: 4,404,550$                                      

Deductions:

Pension Payment (January Pension Paid on 2/1/2025) (4,086,637)                                       

Expenditures Paid (534,462)                                          

Total Deductions (4,621,099)$                                     

Ending Cash Balance as of 2/28/2025* 9,869,731$                                      

 

* On 3/1/2025, February pension payment of appx $4,076,000 will be made leaving a cash balance of $5,794,000.



Table 3

CITY OF OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Census

As of February 28, 2025

COMPOSITION POLICE FIRE TOTAL

Retired Member:

Retiree 255 135 390

Beneficiary 121 92 213

Total Retired Members 376 227 603

Total Membership: 376 227 603

COMPOSITION POLICE FIRE TOTAL

Retired Member:

Service Retirement 250 105 355

Disability Retirement 118 111 229

Death Allowance 8 11 19

Total Retired Members: 376 227 603

Total Membership as of February 28, 2025: 376 227 603

Total Membership as of June 30, 2024: 389 237 626

Annual Difference: -13 -10 -23



2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 FYTD

Police 558 545 516 492 475 460 439 422 404 389 376

Fire 403 384 370 345 323 308 284 264 250 237 227

Total 961 929 886 837 798 768 723 686 654 626 603

558
545

516

492

475
460

439

422

404
389

376

403

384
370

345

323
308

284

264
250

237
227

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System
Pension Plan Membership Count

As of February 28, 2025 (FY 2015 - FY 2025)



POLICE & FIRE

RETIREMENT SYSTEM

C
I
T

Y
 O

F
 O

A
K

L
A

N
D

ANNUAL REPORT 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 





1 

 

 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Table of Contents 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

CONTENTS 
 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION: 

President of the Board: Letter of Transmittal to the City Council  ..................................................................    5 

Plan Administrator: Letter of Transmittal to the Board of Administration  .................................................    6 

Members of the Board of Administration ..................................................................................................................  9 

Administrative Staff  ......................................................................................................................................................  10 

Professional Services  ....................................................................................................................................................  10 

Board Meeting Information  .........................................................................................................................................  10 

SECTION 2: FINANCIAL: 

Independent Auditor’s Report for the Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023  .............................................  13 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)  ..........................................................................................  17 

Basic Financial Statements 

Statements of Fiduciary Net Position – June 30, 2024 and 2023  ....................................................................  25 

Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position – Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023  .....................  26 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

1. Description of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System  .........................................................  27 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  ............................................................................................  29 

3. Contributions  .....................................................................................................................................................  30 

4. Cash, Deposits and Investments  ..................................................................................................................  31 

5. Net Pension Liability  ........................................................................................................................................  45 

6 & 7.  Reserves and Administrative Expenses   ............................................................................................  49 

Required Supplementary Information 

Schedule of Changes in Employer’s Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios (Unaudited)  ............  50 

Schedules of Employer Contributions and Investment Returns (Unaudited)  ......................................  52 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates  ......................................................  53 

 

SECTION 3: INVESTMENT 

Investment Consultant’s Report ................................................................................................................................  57 

List of Investment Professionals  ...............................................................................................................................  58 

Investment Manager Fees and Other Investment Expenses  ..............................................................................  58 

Largest Stock Holdings, as of June 30, 2024  .........................................................................................................  59 

Largest Bond Holdings, as of June 30, 2024  ..........................................................................................................  59 

Investments by Manager/Exchange-Traded Funds, as of June 30, 2024  .......................................................  60 

Asset Allocation, as of June 30, 2024  ......................................................................................................................  60 

CONTENTS 
(Continued) 



2 

 

 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Table of Contents 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

SECTION 4: ACTUARIAL 

Actuary’s Certification Letter  .....................................................................................................................................  63 

Purpose of Actuarial Valuation  ..............................................................................................................................  66 

Valuation Summary  ...................................................................................................................................................  68 

Actuarial Definitions  .................................................................................................................................................  69 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions ...................................................................................................................  69 

Actuarial Methods  .................................................................................................................................................  69 

Actuarial Value of Plan Assets  ...........................................................................................................................  70 

Rate of Return  .....................................................................................................................................................  70 

Cost of Living Adjustments and Long-Term Salary Increases ...............................................................  70 

Inflation  ................................................................................................................................................................  71 

Administrative Expenses  .................................................................................................................................  71 

Rates of Termination, Disability and Retirement  .....................................................................................  71 

Rates of Mortality for Healthy Lives (for service retirees and beneficiaries)  ...................................  71 

Rates of Mortality for Disabled Retirees  .....................................................................................................  71 

Mortality Improvement  ....................................................................................................................................  71 

Survivor Continuance  .......................................................................................................................................  71 

Changes in Assumptions since the Last Valuation  ..................................................................................  71 

Service Retired Participants  ............................................................................................................................  72 

Disability Retired Participants  .......................................................................................................................  72 

Beneficiaries  ........................................................................................................................................................  73 

Participant Data Summary  ..........................................................................................................................................  74 

IN MEMORIAM 

Retiree and Beneficiary Deaths in Fiscal Year 2023-2024 ..................................................................................  77 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Production Credits 
-Layout: Jessica Lloyd, Retirement Systems, City of Oakland 
-Print Production: City of Oakland Copy Services 
-Photo:  Vincent James Photography 



Officer Toft Jessen 

Served with Oakland Police  Department 

 October 1947 to August 1984 

 

Section 1: 

Introduction 

 



This year, we proudly recognize retired Officer Toft Jessen, 
who recently celebrated his 104th birthday — a remarkable 

milestone in a remarkable life! 
 

During his dedicated years with the Oakland Police 
Department, Officer Jessen served with honor, integrity, and 
heart. His legacy continues to inspire, reminding us of the 

strength, service, and resilience that define the OPD family. 
 

Happy 104th, Officer Jessen. We thank you, and we 
celebrate you. 



5 

 

 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Introduction 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

LETTERS OF TRANSMITTAL 

 

March 27, 2025 
 

Oakland City Council 
1 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza 
Oakland, CA 94612 
 

 

Dear Honorable Interim Mayor Kevin Jenkins and Members of the City Council: 

 

I am pleased to present the annual report of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement 

System for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024.  Provided in this report are the Plan’s 

Financial Information, Investment Performance, and Actuarial Valuations and 

Statistical Information for the corresponding year. 

 

The members of the Board express their appreciation to the Mayor and City Council, 

City Administrator, City Attorney, the various City Agencies and Departments and the 

members of their staff for their cooperation and assistance. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

 

 

Walter L. Johnson, Sr., President 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

 CITY OF OAKLAND  
 
 

1 5 0  F R A N K  H . O G AW A  P L A Z A ,  S U I T E  3 3 4 9  ·  O A K L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A  9 4 6 1 2 - 2 0 2 1  

 
Finance Department  (510) 238-3307 
Treasury Bureau FAX (510) 238-7129 
Retirement Unit CA RELAY 711 



6 

 

 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Introduction 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 CITY OF OAKLAND  
 
 

1 5 0  F R A N K  H . O G AW A  P L A Z A ,  S U I T E  3 3 4 9  ·  O A K L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A  9 4 6 1 2 - 2 0 2 1  

 
Finance Department  (510) 238-3307 
Treasury Bureau FAX (510) 238-7129 
Retirement Unit CA RELAY 711 

LETTERS OF TRANSMITTAL 

March 03, 2025 

 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement Board 
150 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 3349 
Oakland CA 94612 

 

Board of Trustees: 

I am pleased to present the Annual Report of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement 

System for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. 

ACCOUNTING SYSTEM 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the 

City Charter and in accordance with the accounting and reporting requirements of the 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and the reporting requirements 

prescribed by the Government Finance Officers' Association of the United States and 

Canada (GFOA).  

The method for recording revenues and expenses is on an accrual basis.  Revenue is 

taken into account when earned, regardless of the date of the collection, and expenses 

are recorded when the corresponding liabilities are incurred instead of when payment 

is made.  Amortization of bond premiums and discounts are over the life of the invest-

ment security and actuarial reserves are funded via the entry age normal cost method. 

ADDITIONS 

Additions to the plan includes all income received into the Plan for the Fiscal Year.  

Pension Plan's sources of income include items such as contributions and investment 

income. Total additions for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 were $85,675,172.  



7 

 

 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Introduction 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

This amount includes a net investment gain of $44,912,172. Net investment includes 

appreciation or depreciation in fair value of investments, interest income and divi-

dend income less investment expenses during the fiscal year.  In addition, the City 

contributed $40,763,000 during the fiscal year.  As of June 30, 2024, all the System’s 

members are retired. 

DEDUCTIONS 

Total deductions to the plan in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 were $51,797,847. 

This amount includes deductions of $50,101,642 for pension payments to members 

and qualified beneficiaries. 

RESERVES AND FUNDING 

The Police and Fire Retirement System most recent actuarial study values the Plan as 

of July 1, 2023. Details regarding this actuarial study can be found in Section 4 of this 

annual report. 

As of the most recent actuary study dated July 1, 2023, the System’s Unfunded Actu-

arial Liability is approximately $97.0 million, and the System had a Funded Ratio of 

79.6 percent on a Market Value of Assets (MVA) basis. During fiscal year 2024, the 

City of Oakland contributed $40.8 million to the System. The next required City con-

tribution is projected to be approximately $34.8 million in FY 2024-2025. 

INVESTMENTS 

The Police and Fire Retirement System Investment Policy is used as a guideline for all 

investment activities. The Investment Policy includes an asset allocation plan.  The 

plan consists of six asset classes: Domestic Stocks, International Stocks, Fixed Income 

Instruments, Credit, Covered Calls and Crisis Risk Offset (CRO).  In addition, the Poli-

cy also allocates among the different investment management styles. 

Total Investment Income resulted in a gain of $44,912,172 in fiscal year 2024. The ac-

tual money-weighted annual investment return for fiscal year 2024 was 10.8%. GASB 

requires that investments be reported at fair value.  The appreciation (depreciation) in 

fair value of investments held by PFRS is recorded as an increase (decrease) in invest-

ment income based on the valuation of investments at year-end. 

LETTERS OF TRANSMITTAL 



8 

 

 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Introduction 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

The historical annualized money-weighted rates of return on the portfolios are as   

follows: 

 

 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

The compilation of this report reflects the combined efforts of the Retirement System  

Administration Staff, the Board of Trustees, and various professional consultants.  Its   

intent is to provide complete and reliable information to the beneficiaries of the Plan, to 

serve as a basis for making management decisions, and to ensure compliance with legal 

provisions affecting the administration of the Plan. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 
David F. Jones 
Plan Administrator 

 
 
 
 
 

LETTERS OF TRANSMITTAL 

    Total Returns % 

    1 Year   3 Year   5 Year 

Total Fund   10.77%   2.25%   3.59% 



9 

 

 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Introduction 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 

Jaime T. Godfrey 
Vice President  

Bank Representative 

John C. Speakman 
Fire Department  
Representative 

 
 

Plan Administrator 
David F. Jones 

Treasury Administrator 
 

 
 

Legal Advisor, City of Oakland 

Selia Warren 
Supervising 

Deputy City Attorney  

Martin J. Melia 

Walter L. Johnson, Sr. 
President 

Community 
Representative 

R. Steven Wilkinson 
Insurance 

Representative 

Robert W. Nichelini 
Police Representative 

 

Erin Roseman 
Mayoral Designate 

Alternating 
Fire/Police Department 

Representative 



10 

 

 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Introduction 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

Over the past year the Board of Administration has engaged the following consultants to 

assist in making investments and in developing a sound retirement plan: 

 
A complete list of Investment Professionals is included on page 58 of this Annual Report. 

 
BOARD MEETING INFORMATION 

On-Site Meeting Location 1 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Oakland, CA 94612 

Virtual Meeting ...   Zoom Webinar 

Date ........................   Last Wednesday of each month 
 
For more information, visit our website at: 
City of Oakland | Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System Board (PFRS) (oaklandca.gov)  

 
Actuary 

 
Cheiron, Inc. 

Auditors Macias Gini & O’Connell LLP 
Custodial Service The Northern Trust Company 

Investment Consultant Meketa Investment Group 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF 

Retirement Unit 

David Jones 
Plan Administrator 

Maxine Visaya 
Administrative 

Assistant II 

Téir Jenkins 
Operations &  

Investment Manager 

Rome Esparrago 
Accountant III 

Maria Martinez 
Retirement Systems 

Accountant 

            

              

                 

Denisse Guzman 
Benefits  

Representative 

 
Nhan Hua 
Benefits  

Representative  

 
Jessica Lloyd 

Administrative  
Analyst I   

https://www.oaklandca.gov/boards-commissions/police-and-fire-retirement-board


Firefighter  
Harold “Bud” Abbott 

 

Served with Oakland Fire Department 
August 1966 to December 1991 

Section 2: 
Financial 

 



this page intentionally left blank 



 

 
13 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 Independent Auditor’s Report 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 



 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

14 



 

 
15 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 



this page intentionally left blank 



17 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

As management of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (System), we offer read-

ers of the System’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the finan-

cial activities of the System for the years ended June 30, 2024, and 2023. We encourage 

readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with the System’s fi-

nancial statements that follow this section. These discussions and analyses are presented 

in the following sections:  

 Organizational Overview and Highlights

 Financial Statement Overview

 Financial Analysis: 2024 vs. 2023

 Financial Analysis: 2023 vs. 2022

 Requests for Additional Information

ORGANIZATIONAL OVERVIEW AND HIGHLIGHTS 

The City of Oakland City Charter established the System and provides for its funding. Ac-

cordingly, the System is an integral part of the City of Oakland (City), and its operations 

have been reported as a Pension Trust Fund in the City’s basic financial statements. The 

System is a closed, single-employer, defined benefit pension plan that provides retire-

ment, disability, and survivor benefits for eligible sworn safety employees of the City. The 

System serves the City’s sworn employees hired prior to July 1, 1976, who have not trans-

ferred to the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS). The System is 

governed by a board of seven trustees: the Mayor or his/her designate, three Mayoral ap-

pointees approved by the City Council, an elected active or retired member of the Police 

Department, an elected active or retired member from the Fire Department, and an elect-

ed member position which alternates between the Police Department and Fire Department 

membership. Trustees receive no compensation.  

The System has been funded by periodic employee and City contributions at actuarially 

determined amounts sufficient to accumulate the necessary assets to pay benefits when 

due as specified by the City Charter, unless the Board and the City have agreed to other 

funding options. In accordance with the City Charter, active members hired after July 1, 

1951, and prior to July 1, 1976, contribute a percentage of their earned salaries based up-

on entry age as determined by consulting actuaries. During the years ended 

June 30, 2024, and 2023, the employee contribution rate was 0% for both years. There are 

no active participants in the Plan as of June 30, 2024, and 2023.  

Management’s Discussion & Analysis 
(Unaudited) 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

18 

In July 2012, the City deposited $210 million in pension obligation bond proceeds into the 

System and entered into a funding agreement with the System Board, which suspended 

contributions until the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2017.  

As of June 30, 2024, the total pension liability of $497.2 million less the fiduciary net po-

sition of $450.0 million results in a net pension liability of approximately $47.2 million. 

The fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability is 90.5%. 

As of June 30, 2023, the total pension liability of $533.8 million less the fiduciary net po-

sition of $416.1 million results in a net pension liability of approximately $117.7 million. 

The fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability is 78.0%. 

The System membership at June 30, 2024, is 626, which includes 410 retirees and 216 

beneficiaries. The System membership at June 30, 2023, is 653. The following are the sig-

nificant assumptions used to compute contribution requirements in the July 1, 2023, 

Actuarial Valuation Report: 

 Select and ultimate rates, equal to 5.00% single equivalent investment rate of re-
turn

 2.75% inflation rate, U.S.

 2.85% inflation rate, Bay Area

 3.25% long-term post-retirement benefit increases

City contributions are based on spreading costs as a level percentage of the City’s total 

uniform payroll to July 1, 2026. The System uses the entry age normal cost method for its 

disclosure and reporting. During fiscal years 2024 and 2023, the City contributions were 

$40.8 million and $32.7 million respectively to the System. The next required City contri-

bution is projected to be approximately $34.8 million in fiscal year 2025. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENT OVERVIEW 

This annual financial report consists of three parts – management’s discussion and analy-

sis (this section), the basic financial statements and required supplementary information. 

The basic financial statements include Statements of Fiduciary Net Position; Statements of 

Changes in Fiduciary Net Position; and the Notes to the Basic Financial Statements  

The Statements of Fiduciary Net Position and the Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net 

Position report information to assist readers in determining whether the System’s finances 

Management’s Discussion & Analysis 
(Unaudited) 



19 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

as a whole have improved or deteriorated as a result of the year’s activities. These state-

ments report the net position of the System and the activities that caused the changes in 

the net position during the year, respectively. 

The Statements of Fiduciary Net Position present information on all System assets and lia-

bilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position restricted for pen-

sions. Over time, increases or decreases in net position restricted for pensions may serve 

as a useful indicator of whether the financial condition of the System is improving or de-

teriorating. 

While the Statements of Fiduciary Net Position provide information about the nature and 

amount of resources and obligations at year-end, the Statements of Changes in Fiduciary 

Net Position present the results of the System’s activities during the fiscal year and infor-

mation on the change in the net position restricted for pensions during the fiscal year. 

The Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position measure the results of the System’s 

investment performance as well as its additions from contributions and investment in-

come and deductions for payment of benefits and administrative expenses. The State-

ments of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position can be viewed as indicators of the System’s 

progress on the set goals of fully funding all current and past service costs and pos-

sessing sufficient additional resources to pay for current refunds of contributions and 

administrative and investment expenses. 

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements and Required Supplementary Information pro-

vide explanations and other information that is helpful to a full understanding of the data 

provided in the financial statements. The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements and Re-

quired Supplementary Information are found starting on page 27 and page 50, respective-

ly.  

Management’s Discussion & Analysis 
(Unaudited) 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

20 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS  
2024 VS. 2023 

Table 1 summarizes net position restricted for pensions as of June 30, 2024 and 2023: 

Net position restricted for pensions increased $33.9 million from June 30, 2023, to June 30, 

2024. The main reasons for this increase were net investment gains of $44.9 million and the 

City pension contribution of $40.8 million. The remaining fluctuations in receivables and in-

vestments payable are primarily due to investment trading at year-end, where the outstanding 

balances represent investments either sold or purchased, but not yet settled.  

June 30 Change 

2024 2023 Amount Percentage 

Assets 

Cash and Deposits $  10,389,721  $    9,566,751 $       822,970 8.6% 

Receivables  10,348,205   15,147,401  (4,799,196) -31.7%

Investments  492,689,969   458,166,392  34,523,577 7.5%

Total Assets  513,427,895   482,880,544  30,547,351 6.3%

Liabilities 

Accounts payable  5,675  42,821  (37,146) -86.7%

Benefits payable  4,079,138  4,132,458  (53,320) -1.3%

Investments payable  17,482,127  21,517,405   (4,035,278) -18.8%

Accrued investment management fees  356,577  364,389  (7,812) -2.1%

Securities lending liabilities  41,496,609  40,693,027  803,582 2.0%

Total liabilities  63,420,126  66,750,100  (3,329,974) -5.0%

Net Position 

Restricted for pensions $450,007,769 $416,130,444 $  33,877,325 8.1% 

Table 1 
Statements of Fiduciary Net Position 

As of June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Management’s Discussion & Analysis 
(Unaudited) 



21 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Table 2 summarizes changes in net position restricted for pensions for the years ended 

June 30, 2024 and 2023: 

During fiscal year 2024, the City of Oakland contributed $40.8 million to the System. In ad-

dition, the System’s net investment income for the year ended June 30, 2024, was $44.9 

million. The money-weighted annual return for the year ended June 30, 2024, was 10.8%, 

compared to a benchmark return of 10.9% and an actuarial expected rate of return of 5.0%. 

Table 2 
Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 

For the Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023  

June 30 Change 

2024 2023 Amount Percentage 

Additions 
Contributions from the City $    40,763,000  $     32,712,000 $     8,051,000 24.6% 
Net investment income/(loss) 44,912,172 34,407,789 10,504,383 30.5% 

Total additions 85,675,172  67,119,789  18,555,383 27.6% 

Deductions 

Benefits to members and beneficiar- 50,101,642  50,850,416  (748,774) -1.5%

Administrative expenses 1,696,205 1,626,390 69,815 4.3%
Total deductions 51,797,847  52,476,806  (678,959) -1.3%

Changes in net position 33,877,325  14,642,983  19,234,342 131.4% 

Net position restricted for pensions 
Beginning of year 416,130,444 401,487,461 14,642,983 3.6% 
End of year $  450,007,769 $  416,130,444 $   33,877,325 8.1% 

Management’s Discussion & Analysis 
(Unaudited) 



 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

22 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
2023 VS. 2022 

Table 3 summarizes net position restricted for pensions as of June 30, 2023 and 2022: 

 

Net position restricted for pensions increased $14.6 million from June 30, 2022, to June 
30, 2023. The main reasons for this increase were net investment gains of $34.4 million 
and the City pension contribution of $32.7 million. The remaining fluctuations in receiva-
bles and investments payable are primarily due to investment trading at year-end, where 
the outstanding balances represent investments either sold or purchased, but not yet set-
tled.  
 

 

Management’s Discussion & Analysis 
(Unaudited) 

Table 3 
Statements of Fiduciary Net Position 

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022 

 June 30  Change 

 2023  2022  Amount  Percentage 

Assets        

Cash and Deposits $    9,566,751   $    7,494,971   $  2,071,780   27.6%     

Receivables 15,147,401    6,218,664    8,928,737   143.6%  

Investments 458,166,392    448,337,582    9,828,810   2.2%  

Total Assets 482,880,544    462,051,217    20,829,327   4.5%  

        

Liabilities        

Accounts payable 42,821    3,200    39,621   1238.0% 

Benefits payable  4,132,458    4,183,604    (51,145)   -1.2% 

Investments payable 21,517,405    7,700,505    13,816,900   179.4% 

Investment management fees 364,389    300,676    63,713   21.2% 

Securities lending liabilities 40,693,027    48,375,771    (7,682,745)   -15.9% 

Total liabilities 66,750,100    60,563,756    6,186,344   10.2% 

        

Net Position        

Restricted for pensions $416,130,444   $401,487,461   $14,642,983   3.6%  

        



23 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Table 4 summarizes changes in net position restricted for pensions for the years ended 

June 30, 2023 and 2022: 

During fiscal year 2023, the City of Oakland contributed $32.7 million to the System. In 
addition, the System’s net investment income for the year ended June 30, 2023, was $34.4 
million. The money-weighted annual return for the year ended June 30, 2023, was 8.84%, 
compared to a benchmark return of 10.4% and an actuarial expected rate of return of  
5.09 %.

Management’s Discussion & Analysis 
(Unaudited) 

Table 4 
Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 

For the Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022  

June 30 Change 

2023 2022 Amount Percentage 

Additions 
Contributions from the City $  32,712,000  $    43,820,000  $(11,108,000) -25.3%
Net investment income/(loss) 34,407,789  (47,954,760)  82,362,549 -171.8%

Total additions 67,119,789 (4,134,760) 71,254,549 -1723.3%

Deductions 
Benefits to members and beneficiaries 50,850,416  51,450,001 (599,585) -1.2%
Administrative expenses 1,626,390 1,460,653 165,736 11.3%

Total deductions 52,476,806  52,910,654 (433,849) -0.8%

Changes in net position 14,642,983  (57,045,414)  71,688,398 -125.7%

Net position restricted for pensions 
Beginning of year 401,487,461 458,532,875 (57,045,414) -12.4%
End of year $416,130,444  $  401,487,461 $14,642,984 3.6%



24 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

REQUESTS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the System’s finances 

and to account for the money that the System receives. Questions concerning any of the 

information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be 

addressed to: 

Retirement System 
City of Oakland 

150 Frank H Ogawa Plaza, Suite 3349 
Oakland, CA 94612 

Target Allocation 
Asset Class June 30, 2024 

Fixed Income 61%
Credit  -
Covered Calls - 
Domestic Equity 25 
International Equity 5 
Crisis Risk Offset 9
Total 100% 

CURRENTLY KNOWN FACTS, DECISIONS, OR CONDITIONS 

At the April 24, 2024, Board of Administration meeting the board approved proposed re-
visions to the System’s Investment Policy Statement and Manager Guidelines (IPS) and the 
Long-Term Asset Allocation Implementation Plan of the new allocation policy of the Sys-
tem Fund.  The new allocation, as shown below, is set to be effective on July 1, 2024.   

Management’s Discussion & Analysis 
(Unaudited) 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

25 

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements. 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Statements of Fiduciary Net Position 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

2024 2023 
Assets 

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 10,389,721 $ 9,566,751 

Receivables: 

Interest Receivable 943,482 851,342 

Dividends Receivable 180,536 185,259 

Investments Receivable 8,948,924 13,861,852 

Retired Members and Beneficiaries 101,798 101,798 

Miscellaneous 173,465 147,149 

Total Receivables 10,348,205 15,147,401 

Investments, at Fair Value: 

Short-Term Investments 13,304,872 10,743,990 

Bonds 133,574,652 132,354,487 

Domestic Equities and Mutual Funds 192,270,339 169,856,809 

International Equities and Mutual Funds 59,867,309 55,731,256 

Alternative Investments  51,467,943 48,463,642 

Securities Lending Collateral 42,204,854 41,016,208 

Total Investments 492,689,969 458,166,392 

Total Assets 513,427,895 482,880,544 

Liabilities 

Accounts Payable 5,675  42,821 

Benefits Payable 4,079,138  4,132,458 

Investments Payable 17,482,127  21,517,405 

Investment Management Fees Payable 356,577  364,389 

Securities Lending Liabilities 41,496,609  40,693,027 

Total Liabilities 63,420,126  66,750,100 

Net Position Restricted for Pensions $ 450,007,769 $ 416,130,444 

Financial Statements



26 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements. 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 

Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

2024 2023 
Additions 

Contributions from the City $ 40,763,000 $   32,712,000 

Investment Income: 
Net Appreciation/(Depreciation) in Fair Value of  
Investments 37,523,032 27,639,783

 Interest 6,048,835  4,897,976 
 Dividends 2,678,291  3,131,776 

Less: Investment Expenses (1,453,576) (1,361,423)  

Securities Lending Income: 
Securities Lending Earnings 2,614,649  1,905,212 
Securities Lending Expenses, Net of Rebates (2,499,059) (1,805,535)  

  Net Securities Lending Income 115,590 99,677 

  Net Investment Income $ 44,912,172 $ 34,407,789 

Total Additions 85,675,172 67,119,789 

Deductions 

Benefits to Members and Beneficiaries: 
 Retirement 30,070,391  30,958,511 
 Disability 18,562,046  18,400,366 
 Death 1,469,205 1,491,539 

Total Benefits to Members and Beneficiaries 50,101,642 50,850,416 

Administrative Expenses 1,696,205  1,626,390 

Total Deductions 51,797,847  52,476,806 

Change in Net Position $ 33,877,325  $ 14,642,983  

Net Position Restricted for Pensions 
Beginning of Year 416,130,444  401,487,461  

End of Year  $ 450,007,769  $ 416,130,444 

Financial Statements



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

27 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

1. Description of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

The Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (System) is a closed, single-employer 

defined benefit pension plan (Plan) established by the City of Oakland (City) Charter. The 

System is governed by a board of seven trustees (Board); the City Mayor or his/her 

designate, three Mayoral appointees approved by the City Council, an elected active or 

retired member of the Police Department, an elected active or retired member from the 

Fire Department, and an elected member position which alternates between the Police 

Department and Fire Department membership. Trustees receive no compensation. As a 

result of a City Charter amendment, known as Measure R, approved by the electorate on 

June 8, 1976, membership in the Plan is limited to uniformed employees hired prior to 

July 1, 1976.  

The System is exempt from the regulations of the Employee Retirement Income Security 

Act of 1974. The System is also exempt from federal and California income taxes.  

The System is considered to be a part of the City’s financial reporting entity and is 

included in the City’s basic financial statements as a pension trust fund. The financial 

statements of the System are intended to present only the plan net position and changes 

in plan net position of the System. They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the 

financial position of the City as of June 30, 2024, and 2023, and the changes in its 

financial position for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America. The City’s basic financial statements 

can be obtained from the Finance Department, Controller’s Bureau, City of Oakland, 150 

Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 6353; Oakland, California 94612.  

a) System Membership

At June 30, 2024, and 2023, the System membership consisted of only retirees and 

beneficiaries. The System’s membership is as follows:  

Retirees and Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits 
2024 2023 

Police  389 403
Fire  237 250 

Total 626 653 



28 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

b) Basic Benefit Provisions

The City Charter establishes plan membership, contribution, and benefit provisions. The 

System provides that any member who completes at least 25 years of service, regardless 

of age, or completes 20 years of service and attains age 55, or has attained age 65, is 

eligible for retirement benefits. The basic retirement allowance equals 50% of the 

compensation attached to the average rank held during the three years immediately 

preceding retirement, plus an additional allowance of 1 and 2/3% of such compensation 

for each year of service (up to ten) subsequent to (a) qualifying for retirement and 

(b) July 1, 1951. However, any member retiring at age 65 with less than 20 years of service

shall receive a reduced retirement allowance based upon the number of years of service. A 

member is eligible for early retirement benefits after 20 to 24 years of service with a 

retirement allowance based upon 40% to 48% of the compensation attached to the average 

rank held during the three years preceding retirement. Additionally, a member with 10 to 

19 years of service may retire and, on or after the 25th anniversary of his/her date of 

employment may receive a retirement allowance based upon 20% to 38% of the 

compensation attached to the average rank held during the three years preceding 

retirement.  

The System also provides for various death, disability, and survivors’ benefits. Death and 

disability benefits are paid to eligible members who became disabled or passed away prior to 

retirement. If the member’s death or disability is duty related, then the surviving spouse or 

member is paid a pension equivalent to an immediate service retirement. The duty related death 

or disability pension is paid at a level no less than 50% of the pay attached to the rank. If a 

death occurs after retirement, then a one-time payment of $1,000 is paid to the member’s 

designated beneficiary. 

After retirement, members receive benefits based on a fixed monthly dollar amount. 

Pension amounts change based on changes to the compensation attached to the 

average rank. Upon a retiree’s death, benefits are continued to an eligible surviving 

spouse at a two-thirds level for service and non-duty disabled retirees and at a 100% 

level for retirements for duty disability.  

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

29 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a) Basis of Presentation

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 

accounting principles as applicable to governmental organizations. The System adheres to 

the reporting requirements established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

(GASB).  

b) Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared on a flow of economic resources measurement 

focus using the accrual basis of accounting. Contributions are recognized in the period in 

which the contributions are due pursuant to legal requirements as well as statutory or 

contractual requirements, and benefits and refunds are recognized when payable under 

plan provisions.  

c) Methods Used to Value Investments

Investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on a national or international 

exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at current exchange rates. 

Investments that do not have an established market are reported at estimated fair values 

based on the net asset value as determined by the fund manager based on quoted market 

prices of fund holdings or values provided by the custodian or the applicable money 

manager. Purchases and sales of investments are recorded on a trade date basis. 

d) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 

principles in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual 

results could differ from those estimates. 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 



30 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

3. Contributions

In accordance with the City Charter, active members hired after July 1, 1951, and prior to 

July 1, 1976, contributed a percentage of their earned salaries based upon entry age as 

determined by consulting actuaries. Since fiscal year 2015, there were no remaining active 

members in the System.  

In March 1997, the City issued pension obligation bonds and deposited $417 million into 

the System to pay the City’s contributions through June 2011. In accordance with an 

agreement entered into at the time the pension obligation bonds were issued in 1997, the 

City was not expected to contribute until July 2011. In the year ended June 30, 2005, the 

City transferred excess proceeds of $17.7 million from the Oakland Joint Powers 

Financing Authority Refunding Revenue 2005 Series B Bond to fund a portion of the City’s 

future obligation to the System.  

Effective July 1, 2011, the City resumed contributing to the System. The City contributed 

$45.5 million in the year ended June 30, 2012. Using the current actuarial cost method, 

these contributions are based on spreading costs as a level percentage of all uniformed 

employees’ compensation through June 30, 2026. Budgeted administrative expenses are 

included in the City contribution rates. The City must contribute, at a minimum, such 

amounts as are necessary, on an actuarial basis, to provide assets sufficient to meet 

benefits to be paid to plan members.  

On July 30, 2012, the City contributed $210 million to the System. As a result of a funding 

agreement entered into between the System’s Board and the City no additional 

contributions were required until July 1, 2017. The City resumed contributions to the 

System on July 1, 2017. The City contributed $40.8 million and $32.7 million in the years 

ended June 30, 2024, and 2023, respectively. The next required contribution for fiscal 

year 2025 is $34.8 million.  

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

31 

4. Cash, Deposits and Investments

a) Investment Policy

The System’s investment policy authorizes investment in U.S. equities, international 

equities, U.S. fixed income instruments including U.S. Treasury notes and bonds, 

government agency mortgage-backed securities, U.S. corporate notes and bonds, 

collateralized mortgage obligations, Yankee bonds, and non-U.S.-issued fixed income 

securities denominated in foreign currencies. The System’s investment portfolio is 

managed by external investment managers, except for the two iShares ETF, which are 

managed internally. During the years ended June 30, 2024, and 2023, the number of 

external investment managers was eleven and eleven, respectively.  

The System investments are also restricted by the City Charter. In November 2006, City 

voters passed Measure M to amend the City Charter to allow the System’s Board to invest 

in non-dividend paying stocks and to change the asset allocation structure from 50% 

equities and 50% fixed income to the Prudent Person Standard as defined by the 

California Constitution.  

The System’s investment policy limits fixed income investments to a maximum average 

duration of 10 years and a maximum remaining term to maturity (single issue) at 

purchase of 30 years, with targeted portfolio duration of between 3 to 8 years and 

targeted portfolio maturity of 15 years. The System’s investment policy allows the fixed 

income managers to invest in fixed income instruments and some exposure to 

investments below an investment grade rating, as long as the portfolio maintains an 

average credit quality of BBB (investment grade using S&P Global, Moody’s, or Fitch 

ratings).  

The System’s investment policy states that investments in securities known as 

collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs) shall be limited to a maximum of 20% of a 

broker account’s fair value with no more than 5% in any one issue. CMOs are mortgage-

backed securities that create separate pools of pass-through rates for different classes of 

bondholders with varying maturities. The fair values of CMOs are considered sensitive to 

interest rate changes because they have embedded options.  

The investment policy allows for each fixed income asset manager to have a maximum of 

10% of any single security investment in their individual portfolios with the exception of 

U.S. government securities, which is allowed to have a maximum of 25% in each manager’s 

portfolio.  

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 



 

 
32 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

The following was the Board’s adopted asset allocation policy as of June 30, 2024 and 

2023:  

The Board’s target allocation does not include cash and cash equivalents, which are 

designated for approved administrative budget purposes.  

b) Concentrations 

GASB Statement No. 67 requires the disclosure of investments in any one organization 

that represent 5 percent or more of the System’s fiduciary net position. As of 

June 30, 2024, the System had investments issued by the following organizations that 

exceeded 5% of its fiduciary net position: Northern Trust Company (22.4%) and Wellington 

Select Quality Equity, LP (5.7%). As of June 30, 2023, there were no organizations or 

issuers that represent 5% or more of the total investments or the fiduciary net position. 

c) Rate of Return 

The money-weighted rate of return is a measure of the rate of return for an asset or 

portfolio of assets that incorporates the size and timing of cash flows. For the years 

ended June 30, 2024, and 2023, the annual money-weighted rates of return on pension 

plan investments, net of pension plan investment expenses, were 10.77% and 8.84%, 

respectively.  

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

    Target Allocation 

Asset Class  June 30, 2024   June 30, 2023 

Fixed Income   21%    21% 

Credit    2    2 

Covered Calls   5    5 

Domestic Equity   40    40 

International Equity   12    12 

Crisis Risk Offset    20    20 

Total  100%   100% 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

33 

d) Cash and Cash Equivalents

As of June 30, 2024, and 2023, cash and cash equivalents consisted of cash in treasury 

held in the City’s cash and investment pool as well as cash deposits held in bank and with 

a custodian. Funds in the City Treasury are invested according to the investment policy 

adopted by the City Council. Interest earned in the City Treasury is allocated monthly to 

all participants based on the average daily cash balance maintained by the respective 

funds. Information regarding the characteristics of the entire investment pool can be 

found in the City’s June 30, 2024, and 2023 basic financial statements. As of June 30, 

2024, and 2023, the System’s share of the City’s investment pool totaled $10,356,901 and 

$9,559,927, respectively. The System also had cash not included in the City’s investment 

pool. As of June 30, 2024, and 2023, the System’s cash and cash deposits not held in the 

City’s investment pool totaled $32,820 and $6,824, respectively.  

e) Hierarchy of Inputs

The System categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy 

established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the 

valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted 

prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other 

observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.  

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 



34 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

The System has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2024:   

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Recurring Fair Value Measurements 

Level One Level Two Level Three Total 
Investments by fair value level: 

Short-Term Investments $    - $  4,007,767  $ -  $     4,007,767
Bonds 12,830,166 103,591,456   61,548  116,483,170
Domestic Equities and Mutual Funds 66,020,243   -  -  66,020,243  
International Equities and Mutual Funds 59,845,539 - 21,770 59,867,309  
Alternative Investments 24,007,123 -  - 24,007,123  

Total investments by fair value level $ 162,703,071  $107,599,223   $       83,318  270,385,612  

Investments measured at net asset value (NAV): 

Short-Term Investment Funds 9,297,105 
Fixed Income Funds 17,091,482  
Domestic Equities and Mutual Funds 126,250,096 
Hedge Fund 12,120,231  
Venture Capital Fund 15,340,589 

42,204,854  

Total investments measured at NAV 222,304,357  

Total investments measured at fair value $492,689,969  

Securities Lending Collateral - Short-Term Investment Fund   

Recurring Fair Value Measurements 
As of June 30, 2023 

Level One Level Two Level Three Total 
Investments by fair value level: 

Short-Term Investments $    -  $    1,607,980   $ -  $     1,607,980
Bonds 14,131,423 102,295,756 - 116,427,179
Domestic Equities and Mutual Funds 65,219,530   -  -  65,219,530
International Equities and Mutual Funds 55,709,361 - 21,895 55,731,256 
Alternative Investments 22,435,178 -  - 22,435,178 

Total investments by fair value level $ 157,495,492   $103,903,736 $     21,895  261,421,123  

Investments measured at net asset value (NAV): 

Short-Term Investment Funds 9,136,010  
Fixed Income Funds 15,927,308  
Domestic Equities and Mutual Funds 104,637,279 
Hedge Fund 10,476,679
Venture Capital Fund 15,551,785 
Securities Lending Collateral - Short-Term Investment Fund   41,016,208 

Total investments measured at NAV 196,745,269 

Total investments measured at fair value $458,166,392 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

35 

Investments measured at NAV represent commingled and venture capital funds where fair 

value is measured based on the System’s pro rata share of the total NAV .  

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Investments Measured at Net Asset Value 
As of June 30, 2024 

  June 30, 2024 
Redemption 
Frequency 

Redemption Notice 
Period 

Investments measured at net asset value (NAV): 

Short-Term Investment Funds  $     9,297,105  n/a n/a 

Fixed Income Funds 7,006,702  n/a n/a 

Fixed Income Funds 10,084,780  n/a 
15 days for < $10 million; 
60 days for ≥ $10 million 

Domestic Equities and Mutual Funds         25,563,443  Monthly 10 days 

Domestic Equities and Mutual Funds 100,686,653  n/a n/a 

Hedge Fund         12,120,231   Monthly* 30 days 

Venture Capital Fund 15,340,589  Monthly 10 days 

Securities Lending Collateral - 
Short-Term Investment Fund   42,204,854   n/a  n/a 
Total investments measured at NAV  $  222,304,357 

* For full redemptions, a 5% audit holdback is applied that is then paid after the audit is finalized.

Investments Measured at Net Asset Value 
As of June 30, 2023 

  June 30, 2022 
Redemption 
Frequency 

Redemption Notice 
Period 

Investments measured at net asset value (NAV): 

Short-Term Investment Funds  $     9,136,010  n/a n/a 

Fixed Income Funds 6,726,320  n/a n/a 

Fixed Income Funds 9,200,988 n/a 
15 days for < $10 million; 
60 days for ≥ $10 million 

Domestic Equities and Mutual Funds 23,373,498 Monthly 10 days 

Domestic Equities and Mutual Funds 81,263,781 n/a n/a 

Hedge Fund 10,476,679  Monthly* 30 days 

Venture Capital Fund Monthly 10 days 
Securities Lending Collateral - 

Short-Term Investment Fund   n/a  n/a 

Total investments measured at NAV  $   196,745,269 

* For full redemptions, a 5% audit holdback is applied that is then paid after the audit is finalized.

15,551,785 

41,016,208  



36 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

f) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 

value of an investment. As described previously, the System’s investment policy limits 

fixed income investments to a maximum average duration of 10 years and a maximum 

remaining term to maturity (single issue) at purchase of 30 years, with targeted portfolio 

duration of between 3 to 8 years and targeted portfolio maturity of 15 years. The 

weighted average duration for the System’s fixed income investment portfolio excluding 

fixed income short-term investments, foreign currency contracts, and securities lending 

investments was 6.92 years as of June 30, 2024, and 7.23 years as of June 30, 2023.  

The following summarizes the System’s fixed income investments by category as of June 

30, 2024, and 2023. As of June 30, 2023, the System held exchange cleared swaps of 

$43,921 in an asset position that is included in the tables below.   

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Long-Term Investment Duration 
2024 2023 

Investment Type Fair Value 

Modified 
Duration 
(Years) Fair Value 

Modified 
Duration 
(Years) 

Fixed Income Investments 
Government Bonds 

U.S. Treasuries $     25,593,339  8.34 $   20,795,994  8.63 
Government Agencies 38,836,478   7.01 38,294,874 7.57 

Total Government Bonds 64,429,817 59,090,868 

Corporate and Other Bonds 
Corporate Bonds $     69,144,835  6.34 $  69,687,021 6.96 

Other Government Bonds - 0.00 - 0.00
Total Corporate and Other Bonds 69,144,835   69,687,021 

Total Fixed Income Investments $  133,574,652 6.94 $ 132,354,487 7.23 

Securities Lending $    42,204,854 51 Days1 $   41,016,208 39 Days1 
1    Weighted average maturity. This fund is not rated. 
* In fiscal year 2024, U.S Treasury Bills were included with Short-Term Investments in the fi-

nancial statements.  In fiscal year 2023, short-term US Treasury Bills are included in Bonds in
the financial statements.

Short-Term Investment Duration 
2024 2023 

Investment Type Fair Value 

Modified 
Duration 
(Years) Fair Value 

Modified 
Duration 
(Years) 

Short-Term Investment Funds $  9,297,466  n/a   $ 10,743,990  n/a 
U.S. Treasury Bills* 4,007,406  0.51 3,576,597  0.55 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

37 

g) Fair Value Highly Sensitive to Change in Interest Rates

The terms of a debt investment may cause its fair value to be highly sensitive to interest 

rate changes. The System has invested in CMOs, which are mortgage-backed bonds that 

pay pass-through rates with varying maturities. The fair values of CMOs are considered 

sensitive to interest rate changes because they have embedded options, which are triggers 

related to quantities of delinquencies or defaults in the loans backing the mortgage pool. 

If a balance of delinquent loans reaches a certain threshold, interest and principal that 

would be used to pay junior bondholders is instead directed to pay off the principal. 

The following are the System’s investments in CMOs at June 30, 2024: 

The following are the System’s investments in CMOs at June 30, 2023: 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Investment Type 

Weighted 
Average 
Coupon 

Rate 

 Weighted 
Average 
Maturity 
(Years) Fair Value 

Percent of 
Total 

Investments 
Fair Value 

Mortgage-backed securities 2.75% 26.53  $33,486,018 6.80% 

Investments in CMOs 
at June 30, 2024 

Investment Type 

Weighted 
Average 
Coupon 

Rate 

Weighted 
Average 
Maturity 
(Years) Fair Value 

Percent of 
Total 

Investments 
Fair Value 

Mortgage-backed securities 2.45% 27.49 $28,560,073  6.23% 

Investments in CMOs  
at June 30, 2023 



38 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

h) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill 

its obligation.  

The following provides information concerning the credit risk of fixed income securities 

as of June 30, 2024 and 2023: 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Long-Term Investment Ratings 
2024 2023 

S&P / Moody’s Rating Fair Value 

Percentage 
of Total 

Fair Value Fair Value 

Percentage 
of Total 

Fair Value 

AAA/Aaa $   57,681,414  43.2%  $ 30,637,612  23.8% 
AA/Aa 31,293,284 23.4%  22,291,955 17.3% 
A/A 13,103,437 9.8%  12,987,483 10.1% 
BBB/Baa 11,106,041 8.3%  11,087,375 8.6% 
BB/Ba 150,426 0.1%  469,751 0.4% 
B/B 10,095,589 7.6%  55,102 0.0% 
CCC/CCC - 0.0%  9,200,988 7.1% 
Not Rated* 1,415,402 1.1% 21,055,331 16.4% 
N/A** 8,729,059 6.5% 20,922,293 16.3% 

$ 133,574,652  100.0%   $128,777,890  100.00% 

* Includes Government Mortgage-Backed Securities such as FNMA and FHLMC. These securities are
issued by Government Sponsored Enterprises (GSEs) and are not rated by the rating agencies. They
are implicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government.  Additionally there is $1M Corporate ABS, MBS &
CMOs included

** In the financial statements, Short-term U.S. Treasury Bills, which are rated N/A, are included with 
Long-Term N/A. These include U.S. government obligations (Treasury Bill, Treasury Notes, and 
GNMA) explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government which are not considered to have credit risk. 

Short-Term Investment Ratings 

2024 2023 

Investment Type 

S&P /
Moody’s/

Fitch Rating 
Fair 

Value 

S&P /
Moody’s/

Fitch Rating 
Fair 

Value 

Short-Term Investment Funds Not Rated $9,297,466 Not Rated $10,743,990 

U.S. Treasury Bills** N/A 4,007,406  N/A  3,576,597 

S&P / Moody’s Rating 
2024 

Fair Value 
2023 

Fair Value 

Not Rated $         42,204,854    $          41,016,208 

Securities Lending Collateral 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

39 

i) Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a failure of a depository financial 

institution or counterparty to a transaction, there will be an inability to recover the value 

of deposits, investments, or collateral securities in the possession of an outside party.  

The California Government Code requires that governmental securities or first trust deed 

mortgage notes be used as collateral for demand deposits and certificates of deposit at 

110 percent and 150 percent, respectively, of all deposits not covered by federal deposit 

insurance. As the City holds cash and certificates of deposit on behalf of the System, the 

collateral must be held by the pledging financial institution’s trust department and is 

considered held in the City’s name. For all other System deposits, the collateral must be 

held by the pledging financial institution’s trust department and is considered held in the 

System’s name.  

The City, on behalf of the System, does not have any funds or deposits that are not 

covered by depository insurance, which are either uncollateralized, collateralized with 

securities held by the pledging financial institution, or collateralized with securities held 

by the pledging financial institution’s trust department or agent, but not in the City’s 

name. The System does not have any investments that are not registered in the name of 

the System and are either held by the counterparty or the counterparty’s trust department 

or agent but not in the System’s name.  

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 



40 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

j) Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in foreign exchange rates will adversely 

affect the fair values of an investment or deposit. Currency hedging is allowed under the 

System’s investment policy for defensive purposes only. The investment policy limits 

currency hedging to a maximum of 25% of the portfolio value.  

The following summarizes the System’s investments denominated in foreign currencies as 

of June 30, 2023 and 2022: 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Investments Denominated in Foreign Currencies 
As of June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Fair Value 
Foreign Currency June 30, 2024  June 30, 2023 

Australian Dollar $        1,778,676 $ 1,460,100 
Brazilian Real 1,181,379 417,399 
British Pound 5,148,983 4,563,264 
Canadian Dollar 1,949,469 2,702,222 
Danish Krone 1,439,414 1,121,370 
Euro 9,835,250 10,062,579 
Hong Kong Dollar 2,716,319 4,011,826 
Hungarian Forint 299,875 - 
Indonesian Rupiah  896,575 701,715  
Japanese Yen 6,217,772 5,806,892 
Malaysian Ringgit - 83,557
Mexican Peso 844,544  1,059,658
New Israeli Shekel 208,891 398,428  
Norwegian Krone - 247,136
Singapore Dollar 1,048,452 169,966
South African Rand 554,416 743,005
Swedish Krona 666,200 319,868
Swiss Franc 1,585,412 1,659,827 
Thai Baht 264,835 553,667 

Total $      36,636,462 $ 36,082,479 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

41 

k) Securities Lending Transactions

The System’s investment policy authorizes participation in securities lending 

transactions, which are short-term collateralized loans of the System’s securities to 

broker-dealers with a simultaneous agreement allowing the System to invest and receive 

earnings on the collateral received. All securities loans can be terminated on demand by 

either the System or the borrower, although the average term of loans is one week.  

The administrator of the System’s securities lending activities is responsible for 

maintaining an adequate level of collateral in an amount equal to at least 102% of market 

value of loaned U.S. government securities, common stock and other equity securities, 

bonds, debentures, corporate debt securities, notes, and mortgages or other obligations 

held in U.S. Dollars. The minimum collateral level is 105% of market value of loaned 

securities for any securities held in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. Collateral 

received may include cash, letters of credit, or securities. The term to maturity of the 

loaned securities is generally not matched with the term to maturity of the investment of 

the said collateral. If securities collateral is received, the System cannot pledge or sell the 

collateral securities unless the borrower defaults.  

As of June 30, 2024, and 2023, management believes the System has minimized its credit 

risk exposure to borrowers because the amounts held by the System as collateral 

exceeded the securities loaned by the System. The System’s contract with the 

administrator requires it to indemnify the System if the borrowers fail to return the 

securities (and if the collateral is inadequate to replace the securities borrowed) or fails to 

pay the System for income distributions by the securities’ issuers while the securities are 

on loan.  

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 



42 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

The following summarizes investments in securities lending transactions and collateral 

received at June 30, 2024 and 2023: 

l) Derivative Instruments

The Retirement System reports its derivative instruments under the provisions of GASB 

Statement No. 53, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivatives Instruments. 

Pursuant to the requirements of this statement, the Retirement System has provided a 

summary of derivative instrument activities during the reporting periods presented and 

the related risks.  

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Securities Lending as of June 30, 2024 

Fair Value of Loaned Securities 

Investment Type 

For 
Cash 

Collateral 

For 
Non-Cash  
Collateral Total 

Securities on Loan for Cash Collateral 
U.S. Government and Agencies $  14,306,398   $   3,183,610     $ 17,490,008 
U.S. Corporate Bonds 7,722,426 - 7,722,426

Non-U.S. Equities 525,928  1,458,487  1,984,415  
Total investments in securities lending transactions  $  40,459,197   $ 12,273,393   $ 52,732,590   

Collateral Received $  41,496,609  $ 12,569,132  $54,065,741 

U.S. Equities 17,904,445 7,631,296  25,535,741

Securities Lending as of June 30, 2023 

Fair Value of Loaned Securities 

Investment Type 

For 
Cash 

Collateral 

For 
Non-Cash 
Collateral Total 

Securities on Loan for Cash Collateral 
U.S. Government and Agencies $17,566,171      $       - $17,566,171
U.S. Corporate Bonds 4,779,355  - 4,779,355
U.S. Equities 17,329,930  1,361,842  18,691,772

Total investments in securities lending transactions  $ 39,954,334   $    2,067,920   $ 42,022,254  

Collateral Received $40,693,027    $    2,110,707   $ 42,803,734  

Non-U.S. Equities 278,878  706,079  984,957  



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

43 

As of June 30, 2024, and 2023, the derivative instruments held by the Retirement 

System are considered investments and not hedges for accounting purposes. All 

investment derivatives are reported as investments at fair value in the statements of 

fiduciary net position. The gains and losses arising from this activity are recognized 

as incurred in the statement of changes in fiduciary net position. All investment 

derivatives discussed below are included within the investment risk schedules, which 

precede this subsection. Investment derivative instruments are disclosed separately 

to provide a comprehensive and distinct view of this activity and its impact on the 

overall investment portfolio valuation methods used by the System are described in 

more detail in Note 2.c). The fair value of the exchange traded derivative instruments, 

such as futures, options, rights, and warrants are based on quoted market prices. The 

fair values of forward foreign currency contracts are determined using a pricing 

service, which uses published foreign exchange rates as the primary source. The fair 

values of swaps are determined by the System’s investment managers based on 

quoted market prices of the underlying investment instruments.  

The tables below present the notional amounts, the fair values, and the related net 

appreciation (depreciation) in the fair value of derivative instruments that were 

outstanding at June 30, 2024 and 2023: 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Derivative Type / Contract 
Notional 
Amount Fair Value 

Net Appreciation 
(Depreciation) in 

Options 
Equity Contracts $           41   $      (367,358)  $           (96,989) 

Grand Total $           41  $      (367,358)  $           (96,989) 

As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Derivative Type / Contract 
Notional 
Amount Fair Value 

Net Appreciation 
(Depreciation) in 

Fair Value 
Options 

Equity Contracts $           45   $      (290,565) $         (74,660) 
Swaps 

Credit Contracts       1,455,000  43,921  51,559) 
Total $     1,455,045   $     (246,645 )  $           (23,101) 



44 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Counterparty Credit Risk 

The System is not exposed to credit risk on non-exchange traded derivative instruments 

that are in liability positions. As of June 30, 2024, and 2023, the System held no forward 

currency contracts in liability positions.  

Custodial Credit Risk 

The custodial credit risk disclosure for exchange traded derivative instruments is made in 

accordance with the custodial credit risk disclosure requirements of GASB Statement No. 

40. At June 30, 2024, and 2023, all of the System’s investments in derivative instruments

are held in the System’s name and are not exposed to custodial credit risk. 

Interest Rate Risk 

The tables below describe the maturity periods of the derivative instruments exposed to 

interest rate risk at June 30, 2024, and 2023.  

Foreign Currency Risk  

At June 30, 2024, the System had no foreign currency risk. At June 30, 2023 the System 

had no foreign risk.  

Contingent Features 

At June 30, 2024 and 2023, the System held no positions in derivatives containing 

contingent features. 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Derivative Interest Rate Risk as of June 30, 2024 
Maturities 

Derivative Type / Contract Fair Value Less than 1 Year 1-5 years
Options 

Equity Contracts $  (367,358) (367,358) -  
Total $  (367,358)  $         (367,358) - 

Derivative Interest Rate Risk as of June 30, 2023 
Maturities 

Derivative Type / Contract Fair Value Less than 1 Year 1-5 years
Options 

Equity Contracts $     (290,565)  $         (290,565)  $         - 
Swaps 

Credit Contracts 43,921 - 43,921
Total $     (246,644)  $         (290,565) $   43,921 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

45 

5. Net Pension Liability

The components of the net pension liability of the City at June 30, 2024 and 2023, are as 

follows: 

a) Actuarial Method and Assumptions

The total pension liability as of June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, was determined based 

on an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, respectively, using the 

entry age normal actuarial cost method and the following actuarial assumptions, applied 

to all periods included in the measurement.    

Measurements as of the June 30, 2024, are based on the fair value of assets as of June 30, 

2024, and the total pension liability as of the valuation date, June 30, 2023, updated to 

June 30, 2024. There were no significant events between the valuation date and the 

measurement date. The update only included the addition of interest cost, offset by 

actual benefit payments. There are no active members of the plan, and thus no service 

cost.  

Mortality rates for healthy annuitants are based on the sex distinct 2021 CalPERS Healthy 

Annuitant Mortality Tables, with generational mortality improvements projected from 

2017 using Projection Scale MP-2021. Mortality rates for Safety disabled annuitants are 

based on the sex distinct 2021 CalPERS Industrially Disabled Mortality Tables, with 

generational mortality improvements projected from 2017 using Projection of Scale MP-

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023 

Total pension liability  $        497,241,193   $        533,790,040 

Less: Plan fiduciary net position (450,007,769)  (416,130,444) 

City’s net pension liability  $          47,233,424   $        117,659,596 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 
of the total pension liability 90.5%  78.0% 

Net Pension Liability of the City 
At June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Investment Rate of Return 5.00% 

Inflation Rate, U.S. 2.75% 

Inflation Rate, Bay Area 2.85% 
Long-term Post-Retirement Benefit Increases 3.25% 

Actuarial  Assumptions          2024       2023 
5.09% 

2.75% 

2.85% 
3.25 



46 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

2021. The mortality tables are projected to improve with MP-2021 generational mortality 

improvement tables, projected from a base year of 2017 (the mid-point of the CalPERS 

mortality tables from their 2021 study).  

The total pension liability as of June 30, 2024, was determined based on an actuarial 

valuation as of June 30, 2023.  The assumptions and methods used in the actuarial 

valuation as of June 30, 2023, are based on an experience study covering the period 

through June 30, 2023 as presented to the Board at their meetings on December 6, 2023 

and February 28, 2024, using the entry age normal actuarial cost method and the actuarial 

assumptions as described above for June 30, 2024.   

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2022 and 2021 valuations were based on 

the results of actuarial experience studies for the period of July 1, 2014 through June 30, 

2017. 

Measurements as of the June 30, 2023, are based on the fair value of assets as of June 30, 

2023, and the total pension liability as of the valuation date, June 30, 2022, updated to 

June 30, 2023. There were no significant events between the valuation date and the 

measurement date. The update only included the addition of interest cost, offset by 

actual benefit payments. There are no active members of the plan, and thus no service 

cost.  

Mortality rates for healthy lives were based on the CalPERS Healthy Table from the 2012-

2015 Experience Study, excluding the 15-year projection using 90% of Scale MP-2016. 

Mortality rates for disabled lives were based on the CalPERS Industrial Disability Mortality 

Table from the 2012-2015 Experience Study, excluding the 15-year projection using 90% 

of Scale MP-2016. The mortality tables are projected to improve with MP-2017 

generational mortality improvement tables, with improvements projected from a base 

year of 2014 (the mid-point of the CalPERS base tables).  

The total pension liability as of June 30, 2023, was determined based on an actuarial 

valuation as of June 30, 2022.  The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2023, 

valuations were based on the results of actuarial experience studies for the period of July 

1, 2014, through June 30, 2017, using the entry age normal actuarial cost method and the 

actuarial assumptions as described for June 30, 2024 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

47 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using 

a building-block method in which best-estimates ranges of expected future real rates of 

return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are 

developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-

term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the 

target allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. 

Best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major class included in the 

pension plan’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 2024, and 2023 are summarized in 

the following table: 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return 

Asset Class June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023 

Fixed Income 2.0% 2.1%

Domestic Equity 5.7% 6.1%

International Equity 6.1% 7.2%

Covered Calls 4.2% 4.6%

Crisis Risk Offset 2.2% 2.5%

Cash -0.3% 0.3%

Credit / High Yield Bonds 4.0% 4.7%



48 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

b) Discount Rate

The discount rates used to measure the total pension liability were 5.00% and 5.09% as of 

June 30, 2024, and 2023, respectively. The projection of cash flows used to determine the 

discount rate assumed that the City would contribute to the Plan based on its July 1, 

2012, funding agreement with the System. This agreement suspended City contributions 

until the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2017, after which they would resume, based upon 

the recommendation of the actuary, with a City Charter requirement that the Plan’s 

liabilities be fully funded by July 1, 2026. A cash flow projection showed that the 

projected fiduciary net position would be greater than or equal to the benefit payments 

projected for each future period. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on Plan 

investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the 

total pension liability.  

c) Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the City, calculated using the discount 

rate, as well as what the Plan’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a 

discount rate of 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the discount 

rate. 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

1% Decrease 
(4.00%) 

Current Discount 
Rate (5.00%) 

1% increase 
(6.00%) 

City’s net pension liability $ 84,972,211 $ 47,233,424 $ 114,008,836  

City’s Net Pension Liability 
June 30, 2024 

1% Decrease 
(4.09%) 

Current Discount 
Rate (5.09%) 

1% increase 
(6.09%) 

City’s net pension liability $ 162,542,274 $ 117,659,596 $ 78,687,321 

City’s Net Pension Liability 
June 30, 2023 



49 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

6. Reserves

Retired Member Contribution Reserve represents the total accumulated transfers from 
active member contributions and investments, less payments to retired members and 
beneficiaries. 

Employer Reserve represents the total accumulated employer contributions for retirement 
payments. Additions include contributions from the employer, investment earnings and 
other income; deductions include payments to retired members and beneficiaries and 
administrative expenses. 

The aggregate total of the System’s major reserves as of June 30, 2024, and 2023 equals 
net position restricted for pensions and comprises the following: 

7. Administrative Expenses

The City provides the System with accounting and other administrative services. Staff 
salaries included in administrative expenses for the years ended June 30, 2024, and 2023 
were $1,696,205 and $1,626,390, respectively. 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

2024 2023 
Retired member contribution reserve $ 20,227,776  $ 22,350,106 

Employer reserve 429,779,993 393,780,338 
Total $ 450,007,769 $ 416,130,444 

Aggregate Total of the System’s Major Reserves  



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

50 

Required Supplementary Information 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Schedule of Changes in the Employer’s Net Pension Liability  
and Related Ratios (Unaudited) 

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 
Total Pension Liability 

Interest (includes interest on service cost  $     29,960,745   $ 31,458,384  $ 33,193,734   $ 34,680,418   $ 36,078,037  

Differences between expected and actual experience (6,649,579)   3,820,811  (7,035,509)  (7,375,711)  (5,699,459)  

Changes of assumptions   (9,758,371) 3,926,153  - -  - 

Benefit payments, including refunds 
of member contributions 

   (50,101,642)  (50,850,416)  (51,450,001)  (52,697,378)  (54,619,079) 

Net change in total pension liability (36,548,847) (19,497,374) (25,291,776)  (25,392,671)  (24,240,501) 

Total pension liability – beginning 533,790,040  553,287,414  578,579,190  603,971,861 628,212,362  

Total pension liability – ending (a)  $   497,241,193   $533,790,040   $553,287,414   $578,579,190  $603,971,861  

Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Contributions - employer  $     40,763,000   $ 32,712,000  $  43,820,000  $  43,648,000   $ 43,409,000  

Net investment income   44,912,172  34,407,789  (47,954,760) 90,191,309  6,996,833  

Benefit payments, including refunds 
of member contributions 

   (50,101,642)  (50,850,416)  (51,450,001) (52,697,378)  (54,619,079)  

Administrative expense   (1,696,205) (1,626,390)  (1,460,653) (1,584,654)  (1,522,910)  
Claims and settlements     -   -  - 908 132 

Net change in plan fiduciary 
net position   33,877,325  14,642,983  (57,045,414)  79,558,185 (5,736,024) 

Plan fiduciary net position – 
beginning  416,130,444 401,487,461 458,532,875  378,974,690  384,710,714 

Plan fiduciary net position – 
ending (b)  $   450,007,769 $416,130,444  $401,487,461 $458,532,875  $378,974,690  

City’s net pension liability – 
ending (a) – (b)  $    7,233,424  $117,659,596  $151,799,953  $120,046,315  $224,997,171  

Plan fiduciary net position 
as a percentage of the 
total pension liability 

90.5% 78.0% 72.6% 79.3% 62.7%  

Covered payroll  $    - $ - $ -  $ -  $   -  

Net pension liability as a 
percentage of covered payroll N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A



51 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Required Supplementary Information 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Schedule of Changes in the Employer’s Net Pension Liability  
and Related Ratios (Unaudited) 

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 
Total Pension Liability 

Interest (includes interest on service cost  $ 37,621,301  $ 44,320,094  $ 44,931,829  $ 42,480,394   $ 41,262,826  

Differences between expected and actual 
experience  (7,915,210)  (10,656,139)  3,027,944  6,977,470 (21,208,627)  

Changes of assumptions  (1,475,030)  17,858,013   - 43,480,232 34,219,433   

Benefit payments, including refunds 
of member contributions 

(56,212,013)  (55,998,595) (57,375,815) (58,441,353) (59,007,536) 

Net change in total pension liability (27,980,952)  (4,476,627)  (9,416,042)  34,496,743  (4,733,904) 

Total pension liability – beginning 656,193,314  660,669,941  670,085,983  635,589,240  640,323,144  

Total pension liability – ending (a)  $628,212,362 $656,193,314 $660,669,941  $670,085,983  $635,589,240 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Contributions - employer  $ 44,821,000  $ 44,860,000  $   -  $                 -  $   - 

Net investment income  21,557,961 35,446,275 50,158,795 (1,418,645) 15,438,586 

Benefit payments, including refunds 
of member contributions  (56,212,013) (55,998,595) (57,375,815) (58,441,353) (59,007,536) 

Administrative expense (1,446,361) (1,543,412) (1,261,641) (1,375,749) (985,227) 

Claims and settlements 13,856 9,145 70,282 3,593,096 - 

Net change in plan fiduciary 
net position 8,734,443 22,773,413 (8,408,379) (57,642,651) (44,554,177) 

Plan fiduciary net position – 
beginning  375,976,271 353,202,858 361,611,237 419,253,888 463,808,065  

Plan fiduciary net position – 
ending (b)  $384,710,714 $375,976,271  $353,202,858  $361,611,237  $419,253,888 

City’s net pension liability – 
ending (a) – (b)  $243,501,648   $280,217,043    $307,467,083   $308,474,746  $216,335,352  

Plan fiduciary net position 
as a percentage of the 
total pension liability 

 61.2%   57.3% 53.5% 54.0% 66.0% 

Covered payroll  $   -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $   -  

Net pension liability as a 
percentage of covered payroll  N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

52 

* Actuarially determined contributions are calculated based on the actuarial valuation one year prior to the
beginning of the fiscal year. Although actuarial valuations were performed as of June 30, 2014, June 30, 2015,
and June 30, 2016, the System did not determine an actuarially determined contribution for FY 2015‑2017,
based on the City’s funding policy.

Required Supplementary Information 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Schedule of Employer Contributions (Unaudited) 
(dollars in millions) 

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017* 2016* 2015* 

Actuarially determined  
   contribution $        40.8  $        32.7   $     43.8    $     43.6    $     43.4   $     44.8    $     44.9  N/A   N/A  N/A  

Contributions in  
   relation to the  
   actuarially determined  
   contribution  $       40.8   $       32.7    $     43.8    $     43.6    $     43.4   $     44.8    $     44.9   $     -  $ -  $   -  

Contribution  
   deficiency/(excess)  $     -  $ - $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  N/A      N/A      N/A 

Covered payroll   $     -  $   -  
 $     
-  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $   -  

Contributions as a  
   percentage of covered  
   payroll 

N/A  N/A  N/A N/A  N/A  N/A N/A  N/A N/A N/A 

Schedule of Investment Returns (Unaudited)  

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018  2017  2016 2015 

Annual money-weighted 
rate of return net of 
investment expense 

10.77% 8.84% -10.25%  24.43%  2.04% 6.10% 10.57%  15.57%  -0.75% 3.90% 



53 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Financial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Note to Required Supplementary Information 
For Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note to Schedule of Employer Contributions 

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated based on the actuarial valuation 
one year prior to the beginning of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported. 
Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates are: 

A complete description of the methods and assumptions used to determine contribution 
rates can be found in the corresponding actuarial valuation reports. 

Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates  

Fiscal 
Year 

Valuation 
Date 

Discount 
Rate 

Cost-of-Living 
Adjustments Mortality 

Other Significant 
Assumption Changes from 

Prior Year 

2024 6/30/2023 5.00% 3.25% 

Mortality rates are based on the 
sex distinct 2021 CalPERS 

Healthy Annuitant and Industri-
ally Disabled Annuitant Mortali-

ty Tables, with generational 
mortality improvements project-
ed from 2017 using Projection 

Scale MP-2021  None 

2023 6/30/2022 5.09% 3.25% 

CalPERS Mortality Table 
from the 2012-2015         

experience study, excluding 
the 15-year projection using 

90% of Scale MP-2016 

None 

2022 6/30/2022 5.19% 3.25% None 

2021 6/30/2021 5.50% 3.25% None 

2020 6/30/2020 5.50% 3.25% Longevity Pay assumption for 
Fire Members was added 

2019 6/30/20119 5.50% 3.25% None 

2018 6/30/2016 6.44% 3.25% None 

2017 6/30/2015 6.50% 3.25% 
CalPERS Mortality Table 

from the 2006-2011         
experience study, excluding 
the 20-year projection using 

Scale BB 

None 

2016 6/30/2014 6.54% 3.25% None 

2015 6/30/2013 6.75% 3.975% RP-2000 Mortality Table 
from the 1997-2007         

experience study, projected 
with Scale AA 

None 

2014 6/30/2012 6.75% 3.975% None 



this page intentionally left blank 



 

Section 3 
Investment: 

Officer James Lenzen Jr. 
Served with Oakland Police Department 

January 1970 to January 1991 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Investment
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

this page intentionally left blank 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Investment
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

57 

Investment Consultant’s Report 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Investment
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 58 

List of Investment Professionals 

Domestic Equity Managers Fixed Income Managers 
Brown Advisory Polen Capital Credit 
Earnest Partners Ramirez Asset Management  
Northern Trust Investments Reams Asset Management 
Rice Hall James and Associates    Wellington Management 
Wellington Management 

International Equity Managers Investment Consultant 
Strategic Global Advisors Meketa Investment Group 

Covered Calls Custodian 

Parametric Portfolio Associates Northern Trust  

Crisis Risk Offset Security Lending 
Kepos Capital Northern Trust 
Versor Investments 

Investment Manager Fees 
and 

Other Investment Expenses 

Years Ended June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023 

2024 2023 

Investment Manager Fees 

Domestic Equity Managers  $   553,737     $     534,225.30 

International Equity Managers   273,144    240,883 

Domestic Fixed Income Managers    279,589    279,305 

Covered Calls   82,606    84,510 

Total Investment Manager Fees  $    1,189,076 $    1,138,923 

Other Investment Fees 

Investment Consulting  $     100,000 $     100,000 

Custodian Fees 124,500  122,500 

Total Other Investment Fees  $     264,500  $     222,500 

Total Investment Fees $    1,453,576 $    1,361,423 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Investment
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 

59 

Largest Stock Holdings (by Market Value) 
As of June 30, 2024 

Stock 
Market 
Value  

1. Microsoft     1,765,006 

2. Nvidia   1,615,780 

3. Apple   1,614,192 

4. Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing   1,396,042 

5. Republic Services   1,361,740 

6. ASML Holding   1,126,386 

7. Entegris   1,115,696 

8. Progressive   1,042,704 

9. Reinsurance Group of America 986,117  

10. Novo Nordisk   984,327  

Note:  The above schedules do not reflect holdings in index funds.  A complete list is available upon request.  

Largest Bond Holdings (by Market Value) 
As of June 30, 2024 

Description 
Interest 

Rate  
Maturity 

Date 
Market 
Value  

1. US Treasury 3.00% 7/31/2029   5,731,389.83 

2. US Treasury 2.25%  05/15/2051   3,415,467.19 

3. US Treasury 5.50% 8/25/2054   2,751,310.54 

4. US Treasury 3.63% 5/15/2026   2,723,314.08 

5. US Treasury 2.38% 5/15/2027   2,348,841.42 

6. US Treasury 4.25% 8/31/2030   2,339,819.52 

7. FNMA 5.00% 7/25/2054   2,068,109.38 

8. US Treasury 4.00% 2/15/2034   1,806,333.13 

9. US Treasury 2.25% 5/15/2041   1,602,587.10 

10. North Shore Long Island Jewish Health Care 5.50% 7/1/2053   1,442,099.68 

Note:  The above schedules do not reflect holdings in index funds.  A complete list is available upon request. 

$ 

 

$ 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report— Investment
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 60 

Investments by Manager/Exchange-Traded Funds (ETF) 

Investment Firm Portfolio Type Amount 
Fixed Income Managers 
Reams Asset Management Core Plus  36,379,566 
Ramirez Asset Management Core 72,346,026 
Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index Fund ETF Long Duration 9,845,505 
Wellington Management Core 7,006,702 
Polen Capital Credit, LLC High Yield/Bank Loans 10,084,882 

Total Fixed Income  135,662,681 

Domestic Equity Managers 
Northern Trust Investments  Large Cap Core  100,797,630 
EARNEST Partners Mid Cap Core 39,357,165 
Rice Hall James and Associates  Small Cap Growth 15,935,753 
Brown Advisory  Small Cap Value 13,258,047 
Wellington Management  Defensive Equity 25,563,443 

Transition Account Short-Term 746,354 
Total Domestic Equity   195,658,753 

International Equity Managers 
Strategic Global Advisors International  $43,627,117  

Vanguard Developed Markets Index Fund ETF International 18,980,980 
Total International Equity  62,608,097  

Alternative Managers 
Parametric Portfolio Associates Covered Calls  29,127,584  
Kepos Capital  Crisis Risk Offset 12,120,231  

Versor Investments  Crisis Risk Offset  15,340,589  

Total Alternative Investments   53,880,103  

Total Investments $450,517,935 

The amounts presented above may vary from the amounts presented in the financial statements due to the 
investments by manager summary including cash and cash equivalents and presenting amounts at the manager 
level and the financial statements presenting amounts at the security level. 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

MSCI USA Minimum Volatility (USD) Index Fund 
ETF 

 Crisis Risk Offset 
361 

Asset Allocation 
As of June 30, 2024 



Assistant Chief Donald “Don” Parker 

Served with Oakland Fire Department 

October 1966 to September 1999 

Section 4: 

Actuarial 



62 Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Actuarial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

this page intentionally left blank 



63 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Actuarial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Actuary’s Certification Letter 



64 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Actuarial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Actuary’s Certification Letter 



65 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Actuarial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Actuary’s Certification Letter 



66 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Actuarial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

PURPOSE OF ACTUARIAL VALUATION 

The Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) is a closed defined benefit pension 

plan. It was closed to new members on June 30, 1976. As of June 30, 2024, there are no 

active members.  All members are retirees and beneficiaries. 

The actual costs of a defined benefit plan are determined entirely by the amount of the 

benefit promise, the actual salaries and service of the plan participants, and how long 

they and their beneficiaries live to receive payments. In addition, the actuarial 

methodology provides a reasonable plan, or method, towards funding the expected costs 

of the plan. This information assists the plan trustees so they can make informed 

decisions regarding plan investments and how much in contributions will be required 

from the employer to eventually fully pay for the plan’s costs. 

The most recent actuarial valuation was as of June 30, 2023.  The key results of  the 

actuarial valuation are as follows: 

• The actuarially determined employer contribution amount for Fiscal Year 2024-2025 is

$34.8 million, based on projecting the Actuarial Liabilities and the Actuarial Value of

Assets to the end of the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year. This represents a decrease of $9.2

million from the estimated amount in the prior valuation for the same Fiscal Year. The

contribution is assumed to be paid in equal installments throughout the year, or on

average at approximately January 1, 2025.

• During the year ended June 30, 2023, the return on Plan assets was 8.79% on a market

value basis net of investment expenses, as compared to the 6.00% assumption for the

2022-2023 Plan year. This resulted in a market value gain on investments of $10.9

million. The Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) is calculated as the expected AVA plus

20% of the difference between the market value and the expected AVA, which is

restricted to be between 90% and 110% of the MVA. This smoothed value of assets

returned 5.44%, for an actuarial asset loss of $2.3 million.

• The Plan experienced a gain on the Actuarial Liability of $1.6 million, the net result of

changes in the population and changes in benefits. The primary factor was an excess

of deaths above the number expected. Combining the liability gain and asset loss, the

Plan experienced a total loss of $0.8 million.

Summary of Actuarial Value, 
Assumptions and Funding Methods 



67 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Actuarial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

• Assumption changes proposed as part of the experience study reduced the Actuarial

Liability by $9.8 million. The changes to the base mortality rates and the mortality

improvement assumptions reduced the liability by $14.5 million. This was partially

offset by a $4.7 million increase in the liability resulting from the change in the

discount rate from a selected and ultimate assumption (equivalent to a 5.09% single

rate) to a flat rate of 5.00%.

• The Plan’s smoothed funded ratio, the ratio of Actuarial Value of Assets over Actuarial

Liability, increased from 76.5% last year to 81.4% as of June 30, 2023. The Plan’s

funded ratio increased from 72.6% to 79.6% on a Market Value of Assets (MVA) basis.

• The Unfunded Actuarial Liability (UAL) is the excess of the Plan’s Actuarial Liability

over the Actuarial Value of Assets. The Plan experienced a decrease in the UAL from

$130.2 million to $97.0 million as of July 1, 2023.

• Overall participant membership decreased compared to last year, as is expected for a

closed plan. 25 members died, 10 of whom had their benefits continue to a surviving

spouse. In addition, 18 surviving beneficiaries died. There are no active members of

the Plan.

• If the contribution were determined using a projected asset value based on the current

market (i.e., non-smoothed) value of assets, the contribution for FY 2023-2024 would

be $47.1 million. The contribution is larger than that determined using the projected

AVA, because the current market value reflects the full amount of prior investment

losses, while under the AVA projection a portion of those losses are deferred until

years after FY 2023-2024.



68 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Actuarial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

VALUATION SUMMARY 

Table I-1 summarizes all the key results of the valuation with respect to membership, 

assets and liabilities, and contributions. The results are presented and compared for both 

the current and prior plan year. 

Table I-1 
Summary of Principal Plan Results 

($ in Thousands) 

July 1, 2022 July 1, 2023 % Change 
Participant Counts 
Active Participants 0 0 

Participants Receiving a Benefit 686 653 -4.8%

Total 686 653 -4.8%

Total Annual Benefits $     52,076 $      51,217 

Assets and Liabilities 
Actuarial Liability (AL) $   552,966 $    522,457 -5.5%

Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA)   422,762  425,449 0.6%

Unfunded Actuarial Liability (UAL) $   130,204 $    97,008 -25.5%

Funded Ratio (AVA) 76.5% 81.4% 5.0%

Market Value of Assets (MVA) $   401,487  $   416,130 

Funded Ratio (MVA) 72.6% 79.6% 7.0% 

Contributions 
Employer Contribution (FY2023-24) $     40,763 N/A 

Employer Contribution (FY2024-25) $     44,025  $      34,845 -20.9%



69 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Actuarial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

ACTUARIAL DEFINITIONS 

The Present Value of Future Benefits (PVFB) is used for measuring all future Plan 

obligations, the obligations of the Plan earned as of the valuation date and those to be 

earned in the future by current plan participants under the current Plan provisions, if all 

assumptions are met.   

The Actuarial Liability (AL) is used for funding calculations, this liability is calculated 

taking the Present Value of Future Benefits and subtracting the Present Value of Future 

Normal Costs under an acceptable actuarial funding method. Because the Plan has no 

active members, the Actuarial Liability is equal to the Present Value of Future Benefits 

(i.e., all benefits are fully accrued).  

The Unfunded Actuarial Liability (UAL) is the excess of the Actuarial Liability over the 

Actuarial Value of Assets. 

The Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) is the value of cash, investments, and other 

property belonging to a pension plan as used by the actuary for the purpose of an 

actuarial valuation. The purpose of an Actuarial Value of Assets is to smooth out 

fluctuations in market values. 

ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

ACTUARIAL METHODS 

The actuarial funding method used to determine the normal cost and the Unfunded 

Actuarial Liability is the Entry Age Normal Cost Method.  

The normal cost rate is determined with the normal cost percentage equal to the total 

Projected Value of Benefits at Entry Age, divided by Present Value of Future Salary at 

Entry Age. Since there are no longer any active employees, the normal cost for this plan is 

$0. 

The excess of the Plan’s Actuarial Liability (AL) over the Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) is 

the Unfunded Actuarial Liability (UAL). In accordance with the Plan’s funding agreement 

with the City of Oakland, the UAL must be amortized by July 1, 2026, with contributions 

resuming in the 2017-2018 fiscal year. The projected fiscal year 2024-2025 contribution 

has been calculated using level percent of pay amortization, based on total projected City 

payroll for all Safety employees. 



70 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Actuarial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

ACTUARIAL VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS 

In determining the recommended employer contribution to the PFRS, we use a smoothed 

Actuarial Value of Assets. The asset smoothing method dampens the volatility in asset 

values that could occur because of the fluctuations in market conditions. Use of an asset 

smoothing method is consistent with the long-term nature of the actuarial valuation 

process. Assets are assumed to be used exclusively for the provision of retirement 

benefits and expenses. 

Rate of Return 

The expected annual rate of return, net of investment expenses, on all Plan assets is 5.0%. 

Cost-of-Living Adjustments and Long-Term Salary Increases 
Cost–of-living adjustments are based on salary increases for a retiree’s rank at retirement. 

The long-term rate of salary increase is assumed to be 3.25% (2.85% inflation plus 0.4% 

productivity). This rate is used to project cost of living increases after the expiration of  

the current contracts, as well as representing the expected level of overall Safety payroll 

growth used to calculate the unfunded liability amortization payment. The following 

schedule shows salary increases based on the current Police and Fire contracts that expire 

on June 30, 2026. All increases shown after that date are assumptions. 

Post-Retirement Benefit Increases 
(Based on Salary Increases for Rank at Retirement) 

Date of Increase Police Fire 
July 1, 2023 3.50% 3.50% 

July 1, 2024 3.00% 3.50% 

July 1, 2025 3.00% 3.00% 

Annual Increases Starting July 1, 2026 3.25% 3.25% 



71 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Actuarial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Inflation 

The assumed rate of general inflation is 2.75% (entire US) and local inflation is 2.85% (Bay 

Area). The general inflation rate is used in the determination of the investment return 

assumptions. The local inflation rate is used in the determination of the growth in 

expenses and salaries (which determine the COLA increases). 

Administrative Expenses 

Administrative expenses for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024 are assumed to be 
$1,790,347, growing at 2.85% per year.  

Rates of Termination, Disability and Retirement 

None 

Rates of Mortality for Healthy Lives 

(for service retirees and beneficiaries) 

Mortality rates for healthy annuitants are based on the sex distinct 2021 CalPERS Healthy 

Annuitant Mortality Table, with generational mortality improvements projected from 

2017 using Projection Scale MP-2021.  

Rates of Mortality for Disabled Retirees 

Mortality rates for Safety disabled annuitants are based on the sex distinct 2021 CalPERS 

Industrially Disabled Mortality Table, with generational mortality improvements projected 

from 2017 using Projection of Scale MP-2021.  

Mortality Improvement 

The mortality tables are projected to improve with the MP-2021 generational mortality 

improvement tables, with improvements projected from a base year of 2017 (the  

mid-point of the CalPERS base tables from their 2021 study). 

Survivor Continuance 

All retirees with a Benefit Form of “J&S” in the raw data are assumed to receive a 66-2/3% 

continuance. 

Changes in Assumptions since the Last Valuation 

The expected annual rate of return was updated from a select and ultimate discount rate 

(6.0% per year until 2027, then trending down to an annual return of 3.25% over 10 years) 

to a single discount rate of 5.0%.  



72 Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Actuarial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Service Retired Participants 

Disability Retired Participants 

Police Fire Total 

 Age 
Number 

Total 
Annual 
Benefit 

Number 
Total 

Annual 
Benefit 

Number 
Total 

Annual 
Benefit 

< 50 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

50–54 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

55–59 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

60–64 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

65–69 2 $201,908 0 $0 2 $201,908 

70–74 39 $3,574,157 5 $350,678 44 $3,924,834 

75–79 82 $6,802,822 28 $2,467,004 110 $9,269,826 

80–84 55 $4,593,520 22 $2,048,336 77 $6,641,856 

85–89 11 $1,207,043 11 $1,105,956 22 $2,312,999 

90–94 6 $522,056 6 $542,092 12 $1,064,148 

95–99 0 $0 3 $281,125 3 $281,125 

100+ 1 $106,641 0 $0 1 $106,641 

Total 196 $17,008,147 75 $6,795,190 271 $23,803,337 

Police Fire Total 

 Age 
Number 

Total 
Annual 
Benefit 

Number 
Total 

Annual 
Benefit 

Number 
Total 

Annual 
Benefit 

< 50 0 $0 0 $0 0         $0 

50–54 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

55–59 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

60–64 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

65–69 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

70–74 15 $1,324,027 17 $1,321,454 32 $2,645,480 

75–79 41 $3,325,838 36 $3,012,872 77 $6,338,710 

80–84 17 $1,416,677 21 $1,835,982 38 $3,252,660 

85–89 7 $570,862 7 $717,580 14 $1,288,441 

90–94 1 $126,275 3 $246,469 4 $372,743 

95–99 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

100+ 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

Total 81 $6,763,678 84 $7,134,357 165 $13,898,034 

Membership Information 



73 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Actuarial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Beneficiaries 

Police Fire Total 

 Age 
Number 

Total 
Annual 
Benefit 

Number 
Total 

Annual 
Benefit 

Number 
Total 

Annual 
Benefit 

< 50 0 $0 0 $0 0         $0 

50–54 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

55–59 0 $0 0 $0 0 $0 

60–64 4 $257,282 1 $96,102 5 $353,384 

65–69 5 $365,083 5 $302,120 10 $667,203 

70–74 21 $1,190,804 13 $869,455 34 $2,060,259 

75–79 36 $2,124,226 13 $890,187 49 $3,014,412 

80–84 26 $1,508,179 17 $1,028,555 43 $2,536,734 

85–89 13 $827,922 18 $1,119,931 31 $1,947,853 

90–94 11 $841,133 17 $1,059,910 28 $1,901,043 

95–99 7 $401,482 6 $408,257 13 $809,739 

100+ 3 $161,739 1 $62,971 4 $224,710 

Total 126 $7,677,852 91 $5,837,487 217 $13,515,339 

Membership Information 



74 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—Actuarial 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Data pertaining to active and inactive Members and their beneficiaries as of the valuation 

date was supplied by the Plan Administrator. 

July 1, 2022 July 1, 2023 
Police Fire Total Police Fire Total 

Active Participants 

Number 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Number Vested 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Average Age 00.0 00.0 00.0 00.0 00.0 00.0 

Average Service 00.0 00.0 00.0 00.0 00.0 00.0 

Average Pay $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Service Retirees 

Number 209 81 290 196 75 271 

Average Age 78.2 82.0 79.2 78.2 82.0 79.2 

Average Annual Benefit $83,999 $87,236 $84,903 $86,776 $90,603 $87,835 

Disabled Retirees 
Number 85 86 171 81 84 165 

Average Age 77.6 78.5 78.1 78.4 79.3 78.9 

Average Annual Benefit $80,234 $82,135 $81,190 $83,502 $84,933 $84,231 

Beneficiaries 

Number 128 97 225 126 91 217 

Average Age 80.8 82.9 81.7 80.8 83.5 81.9 

Average Annual Benefit $58,518 $62,679 $60,312 $60,935 $64,148 $62,283 

All Inactive 

Number 422 264 686 403 250 653 

Average Age 78.8 81.2 79.8 79.4 81.7 80.3 

Average Annual Benefit $75,512 $76,552 $75,912 $78,039 $79,068 $78,433 

Membership Information 

Participant Data Summary 



In Memoriam: 



this page intentionally left blank 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Annual Report—In Memoriam 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 

77 

Oakland Police and Fire Department 

Retiree & Beneficiary Deaths 

Fiscal Year 
2023—2024 

Fire Members Police Members 
Winifred Silva Beneficiary  Karabeth Gunar Beneficiary 

Dorothy Morse Beneficiary  Richard Bowser Retiree 

Jimmie Thompson Retiree  Philip Hickman Retiree 

John Baker Retiree  Garrett Kunath Retiree 

Richard Cecil Retiree  Richard Mahanay Retiree 

Margaret Mockel Beneficiary  Geraldine LeStrange Beneficiary 

Judith Askew Beneficiary  James Parr Retiree 

Wayne Schuette Retiree  Robert Dutton Retiree 

Shirely Arnerich Beneficiary  Richard Randall Retiree 

George Drennon Retiree  Alfred Piggee Retiree 

Thomas O’Brien Jr. Retiree  John Haubner Retiree 

Virginia Wolfe Beneficiary  Violet Chancey Beneficiary 

Wanda Brown Beneficiary  Jewel Kivett Beneficiary 

Joe Amos Retiree  Lurea Yale Beneficiary 

Floyd Temple Retiree  Marjorie Bischofberger Beneficiary 

Kent Settles Retiree  Joye Waters Beneficiary 

Ronald Flashberger Retiree  Fred Butler Retiree 

James Colussi Retiree  Dorothy Ridgeway Beneficiary 

 Dennes Nakano Retiree 

 Franklin Elam Retiree 

James Weldon Retiree 

William Lewis Retiree 



this page intentionally left blank 



David F. Jones 
Plan Administrator & Secretary 
Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System 

Attachments: 
(1) Resolution 8128
(2) Conference Agenda

PFRS Board of Administration 
April 30, 2025 

Agenda Item: B3 

AGENDA REPORT 

TO: Oakland Police & Fire Retirement 
System (PFRS) 

FROM: David F. Jones 
PFRS Plan Administrator & 

Board of Administration Secretary 

SUBJECT: Authorization and Reimbursement 
of Board Member Wilkinson for 
Travel & Education Expenses 

DATE: April 30, 2025 

R. Steven Wilkinson, Board Member of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board,
requests authorization for reimbursement of travel and/or board education-related funds for the event
detailed below.

PFRS staff has verified that budgeted funds are available for this Board Member to be reimbursed 
and recommends the reimbursement of travel/education funds for the event below be approved by 
board motion. 

Travel/Education Event: Milken Institute Global Conference 2025 

Event Location: The Beverly Hilton in Los Angeles, CA 

Event Date: May 4, 2025 – May 7, 2025 

Estimated Event Expense: $2,900.00 

Notes: 

* If enrollment, registration, or admission expenses are required, the fund will process a check in advance and pay the
vendor directly; all other board-approved reimbursements will be made upon delivery of receipts to staff by the traveling
party. Cancellation of event attendance requires the return of all reimbursed funds paid to the attendee to the fund.

For questions regarding this report, please contact Jessica Lloyd, Administrative Analyst I, at (510) 
238-7608.

Respectfully submitted, 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

RESOLUTION No. 8128 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

RESOLUTION NO. 8128 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER SECONDED BY MEMBER

RESOLUTION APPROVING REQUEST OF OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE 
RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD MEMBER R. STEVEN WILKINSON TO 
TRAVEL AND ATTEND THE MILKEN INSTITUTE GLOBAL CONFRENCE 
2025 IN BEVERLY HILLS, CA, FROM MAY 4, 2025, THROUGH MAY 7, 
2025, AND AUTHORIZING THE REIMBURSEMENT OF FEES AND TRAVEL-
RELATED EXPENSES IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED TWO-THOUSAND 
NINE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,900.00) 

WHEREAS, the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) Education and Travel 
Policy (“Travel Policy”) requires that PFRS Board members and staff obtain prior Board 
approval of all education and travel-related expenses that will be reimbursed by PFRS; 
and; 

WHEREAS, PFRS Board Member Wilkinson would like to attend the Milken Institute 
Global Conference 2025 in Beverly Hills, CA, from May 4, 2025, through May 7, 2025; 
and 

WHEREAS, in compliance with Section IV (13)(c) of the Travel Policy, Member Wilkinson 
has submitted documentation showing the estimated travel-related expenses to attend 
the Conference will be approximately Two Thousand Nine Hundred Dollars ($2,900.00); 
now, therefore, be it 

RESOLVED:  That PFRS Board Member R. Steven Wilkinson’s request to attend the Milken 
Institute Global Conference 2025 in Beverly Hills, CA, from May 4, 2025, through May 7, 
2025, at an estimated cost of Two Thousand Nine Hundred Dollars ($2,900.00) is 
approved; and be it 

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board authorizes member reimbursement of the 
travel-related expenses in an amount not to exceed Two Thousand Nine Hundred Dollars 
($2,900.00) for Member Wilkinson’s attendance at the Milken Institute Global Conference 
2025. 

IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA  APRIL 30, 2025

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  

AYES:  GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON 
NOES: 
ABSTAIN:  WILKINSON 
ABSENT:   

ATTEST: 
PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 
SECRETARY 

Approved to 
Form 

and Legality 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 2 

Milken Institute Global Conference 2025 







� �������	
��	��	�������	��	���	�������	����� ��!�	�"�!#$%�& 	'())	*+	,	'())	-+	-./0��1� 2	3�	4�!"����56	7%�839�	���6:& 	;)())	,	;;(<)	*+	-.//=>?	@AAB@C	D@E=FG>AD	HI	CF@JFG?	@E	E=F	KCHL@C	MHAIFGFANF	O>CC	LG>AD	EHDFE=FG	J>PFG?F	QFG?QFNE>PF?	HA	E=F	C@EF?E	EGFAJ?	@AJ	NBGGFAE	L@C@ANF	HI	>AAHP@E>HARNHSQFE>E>HAR	@AJ	?FNBG>ET	>A	E=F	@JP@ANFJ	EFN=AHCHDT	?Q@NFU	V>E=	@A	>ANGF@?>AD	FSQ=@?>?	HA	E=F	CF@J>AD	DCHL@C	JFPFCHQSFAE	@AJ	>SQCFSFAE@E>HA	HI	NBEE>AD,FJDFEFN=AHCHD>F?R	JFN>?>HA,S@WFG?	>A	E=F	QBLC>N	@AJ	QG>P@EF	?FNEHG?	@C>WF	@GF	NHAIGHAE>AD	@	?FG>F?	HI	EG@JFHII?R	>ANCBJ>AD	=HO	EH	QG>HG>E>XF	E=F	@CCHN@E>HA	HI	C>S>EFJGF?HBGNF?	@AJ	O=FGF	EH	?EGFADE=FA	FAD@DFSFAE	O>E=	?EG@EFD>N	Q@GEAFG?U	/=>?	HII,E=F,GFNHGJ	?F??>HA	O>CC	IHNB?	HA	E=F	FNHAHS>N	LFAFYE?	HI	@GE>YN>@C	>AEFCC>DFANFRJ>D>E@C	@??FE?R	>APF?ESFAE?	>A	J>D>E@C	>AIG@?EGBNEBGFR	@AJ	E=F	@??HN>@EFJ	QHC>NT	QG>HG>E>F?	E=@E	FA?BGF	>AAHP@E>HA	FNH?T?EFS?	GFS@>A	GHLB?E	@AJ	NHSQFE>E>PFU	Z[\]̂ _̀ [̂ a� ��	a� ���b"cdefgh	ijkflghm	nodhpfep	qdrsegtgpum	vftwde	xelyfyzyd4{|�a} ~zlfedll	�	xejzlyhumqdrsegtgpu	�	xeegk�yfge�3�#��	%�2939b9�	����9"	���!���	� ��#��29	7%�839�	���6:& 	;)())	*+	,	;�())	-+	-./

���	}�223��2�{��{|�	�%��������	�������� �����



����������	�
�	����������������������������	�����������������	����������������������������������������������	��������������������	������������	�����	������������	�������������������������� !"#$%&�'(#$!)*(+,-%&�!).�/01!2%3�4)�5)*#"!*0�6,)70+8!*#,)�,)�9#7#)1�42+,88�90)0+!*#,)8�:5)7#*0,)$%;< �=>?@>�A����=B?>>�C��CD�������������������������������������C��	������������������E������F�����������G��B>BH��
�		��I�	���������	������������������	�����	����������I��������
�����������	��������������������J�����K(!*�L!**0+8�M,N�:5)7#*0�,)$%;< �=B?>>���H?>>�C��CD��������������	����������O��������������P�C������Q������������������������������������
�	�R��	�������������
��������������������������O��������������������	�����������S�������������	�����'(#$!)*(+,-#2�5)708*,+8� ,+T"�:5)7#*0�,)$%;< �=B?>>���H?@>�C��CD�'(#$!)*(+,-#2�5)708*,+8� ,+T"�U�V0%,).�9#7#)13�L!--#)1�*(0�'(#$!)*(+,-#2�W,T+)0%�:5)7#*0,)$%;< �=B?@>���=?@>�C��CD��������������������������
����	����������	�����������
�		���������C��	������������������E������������������������O���������������	��������O�����������������
�		�����������		����������������'(#$!)*(+,-#2�5)708*,+8� ,+T"�U�X,TY$0�X,N)�,+�Z2!$0�V!2[3�M!7#1!*#)1�\,T+�'(#$!)*(+,-#2'+!2*#20�#)�]T+YT$0)*�]#"08�:5)7#*0�,)$%;< �=?GH���B?GH�C��CD�^�����	�����	��	���_���������	�����	���J�����������������������	�����	������������������������������̀������	������������	���	�����������������������
�������������������������	����������'(#$!)*(+,-#2�5)708*,+8� ,+T"�U�a)$,2[#)1�6!-#*!$�b,+�9,,.3�5)),7!*#70� T).#)1�L02(!)#8"8b,+�'(#$!)*(+,-%�:5)7#*0�,)$%;< �=?GH���B?GH�C��CD�����������
��������������	������������������������	��������O���������������
��������	����		����������	��������������_�����������������������������������������������������	������������������'(#$!)*(+,-#2�5)708*,+8� ,+T"�U� T).#)1�*(0� T*T+03�V,$.�'(#$!)*(+,-%�b,+�!�ZT8*!#)!Y$0�'$!)0*:5)7#*0�,)$%;< �@?=H���G?=H�C��CD�A�������	�������������������������		������������������������
�����������	����������������	��������������̀��	����������������������������������������E�����������������������������������	������



���������	�
�������	������	���� ���������������������� !�"##$"%�&"'�() #&�"'�*%+,"%�-+#.()(#/(�,) #&!�'+&('�()�%("0()!� #��("%'��'+�(12%+)(�3"4!�'+�"00)(!!�/) ' /"%��("%'��/�"%%(#&(!�3� %(�/+#' #$ #&�'+�2)+5+'( ##+6"' +#7�"//(!!7�"#0�6"%$(8�9#�'� !�+.888:�����;�<�=���	���	������	���� ��������>������������(�� %?(#�9#!' '$'(��(0 "�@(%"' +#!�'("5� !� #6 ' #&�)(& !'()(0�5(0 "�5(5,()!�'+�"''(#0�"�2) 6"'(�)(/(2' +#�'+�/+##(/'�3 '��!(%(/'�'("5�(12()'!�.+)�(#&"& #&/+#6()!"' +#�"#0�(#A+4�% &�'�)(.)(!�5(#'!�888B��C����	�������D�E��FG��	������	������	���� ��������>����������H!�+#(�+.�'�(�."!'(!'�&)+3 #&�5"A+)�(/+#+5 (!� #�'�(�3+)%07�9#0 "��"!�/"2'$)(0�'�(�"''(#' +#�+.�&%+,"%� #6(!'+)!�3 '�� '!�(12"#0 #&�5 00%(�/%"!!7�)+,$!'�0 & '"%(/+!4!'(57�"#0�"5, ' +$!�)(.+)5!�" 5(0�888I����	J�K�	J��LM��	����K�M	<���:����	J���	������	���� ��������>������������ !�!(!! +#�/+#6(#(!�5(5,()!�+.�'�(�N((0 #&�-�"#&(�O$! #(!!�-+$#/ %�'+�0 !/$!!�' 5(%4�'+2 /!�)(%"'(0�'+�.++0�!4!'(5!8�I�����KM����P��������K�M	<����:����	J���	������	���� ��������>������������ !�5((' #&�,) #&!�'+&('�()�'�(�N"!'()-$)(!�H06 !+)4�*)+$2!Q #/%$0 #&�'�(�O+")07�O$! #(!!�-+$#/ %7�"#0�-�"#&(5"?()!�#+#2)+R'�"06 !+)4�/+$#/ %Q'+�0 !/$!!' 5(%4�'+2 /!�"/)+!!�'�(�, +5(0 /"%�)(!(")/��888���������	�I�	�	<����	������	���� ��������>������������ !�"##$"%�&"'�() #&�+.�%("0()!�"'�'�(�*%+,"%�-+#.()(#/(�3 %%�.+/$!�+#�2+% /4�2) +) ' (!7� #6(!'5(#'!7�"#0�"22)+"/�(!�'+�)(&$%"' +#�'�"'�/"#�0) 6(�(/+#+5 /&)+3'�7�!')"'(& /�/+52(' ' 6(#(!!7�"#0�R#"888S�������T��<�U��;�<�=���	�S����	����C��K�������V�<M���������	������	���

S���	���=�<��	��������I��MU�W�;�<�=���	���	������	���� �>������X����������



� �������������	
�	������������������� �������������	
�	������������� !�"� ���������������������#$�%�������&'� �������������	
�	��( )*+,-./�)-.�0/�12103456�78�789�:; ���������"��!!� �������������<
�	��<=>?@�A>B@�CD�@�E=@FDG>=?@ECHI�J=@KECKI�EL@E�K>?MCFID�BIFENI�O>B@P�M=I@ELQ>=RP�@FS�IFI=BO�EIKLFCTUID�QCEL�IDDIFEC@N�>CND�E>�DUJJ>=E�JLODCK@NP�I?>EC>F@NP�@FSDJC=CEU@N�QINN�MICFBV��LI�KN@DD�QCNN�IFL@FKVVVW��X���"��Y� �����"Z��[\$�� ������<
���]����	
�	��;!!������!�̂ ��[Y�!�_�;�"��%� !������̀��Z�"���Y� ���a!�"$b!�#$�%�������&'� ��������]����<
�	��c>CF�UD�G>=�@F�CF�SIJEL�K>FHI=D@EC>F�QCEL�dEIJLIF�eCN?>=IP�fLCIG�gFHIDE?IFE�hGiKI=�>G�f@N	jkdP�@FS�dK>EE�fL@FP�fLCIG�gFHIDE?IFE�hGiKI=�>G�f@Nd�kdV�
>SI=@EISMO�j=CF�lUMCEmP��C=IKE>=P�nUDCFIDD�@FS�	=VVV"�����������̂ ��[Y�!�� ��������o����<
�	��pZ��q������Y��Z��W��X���r�����&� �]������o����<
�	��s� ��t_�;�"��%� !������̀��Z�uq�q�� ��� &��Y��Z��p ��!� &�q�����̂�!!���



��������	��
��������������
�
��
�� �������������������� !�"#$#%!�&"� !'($ �)'%!�*+�,&*+!-�"&%�.%&#/-0%!'1*/.�) '/.!2�-%*3!/�04�'-3'/)!+�*/�,!%+&/'(*5!-�)'%!�'/-�$!) /&(&.4�'/-�'�,%&')$*3!�',,%&') �$&�,%!3!/$*&/6��$$ !�+'7!2�7'/4�*((/!++!+�%!7'*/�8*$ &#$666�����9������9�:
��;�����<=�:
�>
�����?��������
>@A��
	����:�>����A���B�C�<�����	�� �������������������D *(!�7'/4�')$*3*$*!+� '3!�7&3!-�&/(*/!2�E#'(*$4�&"�(*"!�*+�+$*((�-!$!%7*/!-�('%.!(4�04�8 !%!�,!&,(!�(*3!�'/-�8&%12�$ !*%�)&//!)$*&/+�8*$ �$ !*%�"'7*(*!+�'/-/!*. 0&%+2�'/-�$ !*%�+!/+!�&"�0!(&/.*/.6��666?
�����9�����F;�;��� �������������������
���;�	�<��G�H�
I���:�>�����J��K��<� �������������������L
;I���M
��
��N���=�L�����9���>�	����B�?�
O��P�������
��@Q� ���������������������1!4�$!/!$�&"�7&-!%/�!)&/&7*)+�*+�$ '$�!R,'/-*/.�&,,&%$#/*$4�0!/!S$+�$ !�!)&/&74�'/-�+&)*!$4�'+�'�8 &(!6�T/3!+$&%+�'%!�*/�'�#/*E#!�,&+*$*&/�$&�+#,,&%$�$ *+$!/!$�04� &/*/.�S/'/)*'(�7&-!(+�$ '$�-%*3666

� �������������������?����U=�H�
I���:�>�����J��K��<� �������������������� !�.(&0'(�S/'/)*'(�('/-+)',!�*+�#/-!%.&*/.�+*./*S)'/$�$%'/+"&%7'$*&/2�,#$$*/.�7'%1!$�%!+*(*!/)!�$&�$ !�$!+$6�V7!%.*/.�%*+1+2�+#) �'+�)40!%+!)#%*$4�$ %!'$+'/-�)(*7'$!�%!('$!-�S/'/)*'(�%*+1+2�'%!�%666

?����W=�X���9@�����<���
���
�X���9@�YBB���
�� ��������������������%!�$ !�"&++*(�"#!(�.*'/$+�0!)&7*/.�Z#+$�$ '$["&++*(+\��(&/.�8*$ �$ %!'$+�&"�$ !�'-3!%+!�*7,')$�&"�"&++*(�"#!(+�&/�)(*7'$!2�$ !�,')!�&"�-!3!(&,7!/$�&"�)(!'/!/!%.4�*+�'))!(!%'$*/.�.(&0'((46��'/4�)&#/$666?����U=�Y�:
����<���
�������?��<�B����
��?���9;�@�]X]�������9
�?�̂�� �������������������



��������	
���������
��	�����	
�������
�		����
������	
������ 
����
�
����
� 
!"#$%&'()
%&
&'(
 *+,(-
.-/&*&0&(
12)
%
3*42&%+
5((&*-6
21
&'(
.-7+0/*4(
8%3*&%+*/5
9:(70&*4(
820-7*+;
9/&((5(<
*-<0/&)=
+(%<()/
>*++
72-4()6(
&2
<)*4(
&)%-/12)5%&*4(72-4()/%&*2-/
2-
12/&()*-6
%
52)(
*-;;;?��@��
���	���A�B
C�	DE
��A�	
������	
������ 
����
�
����
� 
!"##'*/
3)*4%&(
/(//*2-
>*++
1(%&0)(
+(%<*-6
3)*4%&(
*-4(/&2)/F
3()/3(7&*4(
2-
90)23(F/
70))(-&
*-4(/&5(-&
+%-</7%3(;
"*/70//*2-/
>*++
1270/
2-
&'(
2332)&0-*&*(/
%-<7'%++(-6(/
/'%3*-6
*-4(/&5(-&
/&)%&(6;;;���������	
G	�	���	���
��
��A��
H	���IJK���L���
������	
������ 
����
�
����
� 
!"#M2*-
20)
(:3()&
3%-(+
&2
72-/*<()
(%)+=
>(%+&'�N0*+<*-6
52<(+/
%-<
*--24%&*4(
3)26)%5/
&'%&
62
&2
&'(
'(%)&
21
(-/0)*-6
20)
7'*+<)(-
%-<
=20&'
7%-
+*4(
O-%-7*%++=/(70)(;
#'(
O-%-7*%+
*-<0/&)=
*/
52;;;H	���	��
?�AL	�
P	�����
Q	������� 
����
� 
�
R���
! 
!"##'(
S(++-(//
$%)<(-
*/
%
/%-7&0%)=T
211()*-6
%&&(-<((/
%
/3%7(
&2
3%0/(
%-<
)(7'%)6(
N(&>((-
/(//*2-/;
.&
N+(-</
&)%<*&*2-%+
'(%+*-6
3)%7&*7(/
>*&'
*--24%&*4(>(++-(//
(:3()*(-7(/T
*-7+0<*-6
=26%T
5(<;;;QI����
�I	
U���A	
�V
U�����	� 
W����
�
WW���
� 
!"#
X�A������	�
��
?��@��
Y	��
�����	� 
W����
�
WW���
� 
!"#�/
&'(
7255()7*%+
)(%+
(/&%&(
+%-</7%3(
(42+4(/T
*-4(/&2)/
50/&
-%4*6%&(
%
)%3*<+=
/'*1&*-6
(-4*)2-5(-&
/'%3(<
N=
(72-25*7
<*/+27%&*2-
%-<
%+&()-%&*4(
O-%-7*-6/&)%&(6*(/;
#'*/
3%-(+
>*++
(:3+2)(
'2>;;;

Z�A�
[E
\
����	A������
D��I
��U
��������
G�A	���A
]A��������
?	�A��	��� 
W����
�
W��̂�
� 
!"#Z�A�
_E
̀	�L	A�
��
\��	�
�����	�	��� 
W��̂�
�
WW���
� 
!"#�/
7%3*&%+
5%),(&/
(42+4(T
/2
&22
<2(/
&'(
-%&0)(
21
(-&)(3)(-(0)*%+
O-%-7(;
#'*/
/(//*2-
(:3+2)(/
'2>
/23'*/&*7%&(<
*-4(/&2)/
%)(
N%7,*-6
N2+<
*<(%/T/7%+*-6
&)%-/12)5%&*4(
N0/*-(//(/T
%-<
7)(%&*-6
;;;



��������	
��������������������	��� ���������������������
��	 ��!�"�!�	������� ��	��#�$����!%&#�����'	���!��!��'!(��	����)����	�%�)��*!�� ����������������������+,-./0�1.+20/3�.+0�4+56,74�+.8,9:;�.3�,7-03/5+3�3002�9,-0+3,<=./,57�.79�3/+5740+�+0/>+73?��@,3�0A8.73,57�,3�9+,-,74�901.79�B5+�:574�/0+1�=.8,/.:�.79�:,C>,9,/;35:>/,573D�+03@.8,74�,7-03/107/�3/+./04???"��E����!�F������	����!�'	%	�����%!��� !����G!����������� ���������������������H5+85+./0�I5.+93�/59.;�45�I0;579�5-0+300,74�80+B5+1.7=0�.79�580+./,573J/@0;�1>3/�7.-,4./0�9./.�8+,-.=;�+,323D�4070+./,-0��KD�3@.+0@5:90+�.=/,-,31D�.79�.70-5:-,74�65+2B5+=0?��3�I>3,703303�:0-0+.40�9,3???)��!&#��GG!��#�����$G��!��L�!�M ����	����N�O	���G	���L!G�����%&� ���������������������P,7�0=@�3@5609�/@0�65+:9�/@./�,/�=5>:9�1.20�1570;�15I,:0D�9,4,/,Q0�=.8,/.:D�.79�0:,1,7./0�/@0�I.++,0+3�5B�/,10�.79�8:.=0�,7�<7.7=,.:�30+-,=03?�P,7�0=@�+08+0307/3R>3/���80+=07/�5B�/@0�ST��/+,::,57�4:???�� !��	�%�	��U*��	�!���O����!� ���������������������K7�/@0�6.20�5B�0=5751,=�.79�8@;3,=.:�90-.3/./,57D�+0I>,:9,74�I5/@�,7B+.3/+>=/>+0�.79�/@0�35=,.:�B.I+,=�.B/0+�V>33,.W3�,7-.3,57�5B�X2+.,70�,3�.�157>107/.:�=@.::0740?�@,3�3033,57�6,::�+0-,06�:033573�B+???���� ��	 !�$����	����N���"�YE�!Z�"�	�!���"����(����	 !�[!�E���!�����O��G!��)	%���	������'	�E��G!Y!��

�����\����"�� !����	����	���]�	�!�����!�̂N_G!��N�$G	!�G!�����L!G�����%&����	G&�'	�!G���)	G��!��̀����	��� ������������a�������������b��L�!����[��������[! ����	��#�[!%����	��#�����[!E!�G���	���� ����a����������������c,/@�/@0�2756:0940�/@./�1.,7/.,7,74�0BB0=/,-0D�+0:,.I:0D�.79�0/@,=.:��K�,3�.�I.:.7=,74�.=/D�@56�.+0�90-0:580+3�.79�I>3,7033�:0.90+3�8+,5+,/,Q,74�,775-./,576@,:0�.:35�073>+,74�/@./�/@0�70=033.+;�4>.+9???



� ������������������	
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����������������������������������������������������������������!���!���"���������������"�����#�$������������������###%&'()*)+,�*-&�./0+01)/2�03�45&2)*6�)+�*-&�789:;�.(<� ������������������	
�������"��������������������=��!�������������!������������������������>���?��������������!��������"�����������"���������������������!���"������������������������������#�@�����������������"���###A()*)/<B�C)+&(<B2D�A()*)/<B�%)2E2F�G&/H()+,�GHIIB6�A-<)+2� ������������������	
��������!���������"������������"��������J������K�������������!��=��������������������������������������L�������������������������������?���������"���=��?����������������!"������������������������###MH*-0(�N<BEF�O0+<*-<+�P<)Q*D�RN-&�M+S)0H2�7&+&(<*)0+R� ������������������	
�7&0:./0+01)/2�8&<Q&(2-)I�T&*'0(E�C&&*)+,�UV+W)*&�0+B6X� ������������������	
����������������������������>���@�����"��Y��Z���[���������\���������]��?��>�?�������!�����"����������!���������������!���������=��������������=�����"�������������������JK������������������������###N-&�̂H*H(&�03�_<BH&�A(&<*)0+F�A<I)*<B)̀)+,�0+�.1&(,)+,�7(0'*-�a01<)+2�30(�bH2)+&22�<+Q�G0/)&*6UV+W)*&�0+B6X� ������������������	
�Z�����������������������?�������>��=�������������"�����"�����������������!����������"�������������������>����!������������?�!��"������������������������#c"�����������������������������=�����!��###7B05<B�V+W&2*0(2d�_)&'F�b(<̀)B�UV+W)*&�0+B6X� ������������������	
����\������������Y����������������=���������������?����Y�����������"�����������������e��f���������"������������������������������������!������#���������"��!���������?��������������������������!���###N-&�V+*&(2&/*)0+�b&*'&&+�MB*&(+<*)W&2�<+Q�9()W<*&�g&<B*-�UV+W)*&�0+B6X



� ������������������	
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����!�����"#���������������� ������$"����������������������������������###%&'()&�*+,-./'0.1�23-45�6)7)+�8*+,3/-�'+&9:� ������������������	
�;��������������������� �������������� ����������������������#�<��=�=>������?@;��� � ��������������������"����������������������������������������������������=�����������A������� �������###BC-�D-4�EF&-.�'G�H-)&/C�)+I�J0'IFK/3,3/9� ������������L�����	
�M��������������������#�M����������� �����������������#�<�������$�� �� �������������N��"�������������������� ����������� �������"O������������"�����������"������������"�������������������###P--/�/C-�QF/C'05�R-(0)�S--�T*�QU�R-(0)�S--T� ������������L�����	
�Q�V'+,-0.)/3'+�43/C�WWE�V'XY'F+I-0.�H-+09�W0),3.�)+I�%-'0Z-�E'(-0/.� ����L��������=����	��	
�V0-I3/�P)0[-/.�)U3I�R3.0F7/3'+� ����L��������=�L��	��	
�
Q/�/C-�\IZ-�'G�Y3+)+K-�)+I�B-KC+'&'Z9� ����L��������=�L��	��	
�
J)0/�]5�Q�V'+,-0.)/3'+�43/C�%'&I-+B0--�Q..-/�P)+)Z-U-+/�Y'F+I-0�̂/-,-+�B)+)+()FU� ����L�������_�����	
�J)0/�̀5�V0-I3/�P)0[-/.�3+�B0)+.3/3'+� ����_��������=�L��	��	
�a��������������$������������� ������b����� ������������$��������� ��������� ������������ �����N������������ ����������� ������������������������������������������������� �����N�������###



���������	�
��������
���
�������
����	�������	� 
�����
��
�
�����
��
� !�"#$%�&''($
'$)&$(*%('
&)(
%+,)(&'%+*#-
(./#0-(1
$0
'2%(#1
/0)$30#%0'
3)0.
%+4&$%0+&)-
/)(''")('5
6%$2
&
*)06%+*
(./2&'%'
0+
/)%7&$(
.&)8($'
&+1
%+4&$%0+�#%+8(1'(,")%$%('9
!&,$%,&#
&''($
&##0,&$%0+999��::�	
���;	�
<��=��	
>?���@A
BC	
�����
��	@D�
E	F�
��=	� 
�����
��
�
�����
��
� !!2(
.%11#(
.&)8($
,0+$%+"('
$0
G(
&
8(-
&)(&
03
30,"'
30)
/)%7&$(
(H"%$-
I).'
#008%+*
$0
*(+()&$(
'"'$&%+&G#(
*)06$2
$2)0"*2
'$)&$(*%,
%+7('$.(+$'
&+10/()&$%0+&#
(+2&+,(.(+$'9
!2%'
/&+(#
6%##
(J/#0)999B��������K
���:
���
�
L	���C�	�
�����	� 
�����
��
�
�����
��
� !M+%$%&$%7('
&,)0''
$2(
3001
&+1
2(&#$2�,&)(
%+1"'$)%('
&)(
,2&+*%+*
$2(
N0")+(-
03
30019
O2%#(
)($&%#()'
&+1
3001
,0./&+%('
&)(
%+7('$%+*
%+
/)01",$%0+
/)&,$%,('$2&$
/)0.0$(
&
.0)(
)('%#%(+$
3001
7&#999����
>F�	��	�	
��
>F�	��	�	A
P��	
Q	:	R�K
S���	��
�:
�������
P	��	��� 
�����
��
�
�����
��
� !O0.(+
&)(
)&/%1#-
(.()*%+*
&'
0+(
03
$2(
3&'$('$�*)06%+*
(+$)(/)(+(")%&#
'(*.(+$'5
,&/%$&#%T%+*
0+
1(,&1('
03
(J/()%(+,(5
1((/
(J/()$%'(5
&+1
(J$(+'%7(+($60)8'9
O0.(+U'
%./&,$
%'
3")$2()
&./#%I(1
G-999V��;���
S����	A
BC	
Q��	
��
Q	W��	
��	����D�
P��;����	� 
�����
��
�
�����
��
� !�M
%'
&#)(&1-
1%'/#&,%+*
(+$%)(
'(,$0)'
03
�.()%,&+
60)8()'5
3)0.
'03$6&)(
(+*%+(()'
$0
."'%,
/)01",()'9
X"$
(7(+
%+
&+
&*(
03
.&,2%+('5
6(
6%##
'$%##
+((1$(&,2()'5
,0+'$)",$%0+
60)8()'5
&%)#%+(
/%#0999���	K�C	�K
�C	
<������
��
���Y����@A
�::�	���K
>������
���������@Z
�	���
�:
<C@�����P	��	��Z
�:
[������@
���
�������@
�	�=��	
�	�Y	��
�:
������	�

<���
\A
�
[�=	������
W��C
�	��:�
L�::�:Z
�����	�
��
����	
��
S��]��� 
�����
�
���̂�
��
� !<���
_A
E	F�
B	�C
�����	�A
L�W
̀���
��	����
a�	�
b�
S	��� 
���̂�
��
�
�����
��
� ! ('/%$(
%$'
"/'
&+1
106+'5
30"+1()'
&+1
%+7('$0)'
)(.&%+
1((/#-
,0..%$$(1
$0
c&$%+
�.()%,&9
!2(
)(*%0+d'
%+$(+'(#-
1%*%$&#
/0/"#&$%0+
#(&1'
$2(
6&-
%+&10/$%+*
&+1
"$%#%T%+*
'0,%&#
/#&$30).'5
1)%7%+*
999



� ����������	��
������������������������������������������������������������������� !�"��������������#$%�����&��������������������%����������&�����'��#�&&������&�����������(������)$�����$�������%������$�������#���������(���!!!*+,-./�01234�567-1/8�91:82;/<�=>6,:;??�,.�1�@/.?;7+,6.:<�,-;�AB,-�.C�A67-1;2�A623;:=� ����������	��
���������9,/1,;D6;?�C./�1�E/1F;�G;H�>./284�I:F;?,J;:,�KLL./,+:6,6;?�E;B.:8�,-;�A1D�M�NI:F6,;�.:2BO� ����������	��
���������P����%���������(�����Q�����R%����SQ������T��������%������������&��������������&�����(�#������������R%�������$���!�U�V����(�V����%�����������'���#�����%�(���������������������V����'����������$������!!!E/;136:D�E1//6;/?4�*8F1:76:D�I:72+?6F6,B�1:8�*77;??6W626,B�6:�1�X-1:D6:D�>./28�NI:F6,;�.:2BO� ����������	��
������������������Y�����������������%����������%������#�T$����������������(��ZP�������������%��&�������V���Y��#����������&�������&������$T��%����%���������������������������%����#����%��%�������!�������������!!!9,1B6:D�*[.1,�1?�\;W,�E+/8;:?�56?;4�>-1,�*/;�9.2+,6.:?�C./�]J;/D6:D�A1/3;,?̂�NI:F6,;�.:2BO� ����������	��
���������_����&��#���%$������������������%����������������&�%������������$��(���#(��������%�����&��&��%�(�T����������$����������#�(�������������'��������&�%�����������	��������$�T����&�$������%������������)$��!!!:̀6,6:D�C./�@/.D/;??4�X.221W./1,6F;�a+:86:D�1:8�I::.F1,6.:�6:�51/;�\6?;1?;�5;?;1/7-�NI:F6,;�.:2BO� ����������	��
��������������������������������S(���������#���������������������������&&�%��R������%�����&�����V���#V�#�����$������b����������������(���������)$�����������������$��������&����������#� �����!�"����&�V������!!!c2.W12�I:F;?,./?d�e6;H4�9.+,-�f./;1�NI:F6,;�.:2BO� ����������	��
��������� �$���g�������������T������#����������%��#$%����(��$��������(���%�������(���#�������%����%�����#$������������#����������������V���#V�#�!�P���#�����%��%�����%����������������������������������������$�!!!G1F6D1,6:D�\6?1?,;/d?�]J.,6.:12�IJL17,4�0..2?�C./�h;126:D�1:8�9,/;:D,-� ��
����	��
���������



��������	�
��������	�����	�������������
������	���	����������������	�	���������������������������������	�����������������	���	����������������������	���������������������������	�������	�������� !"#$�%&'()�*+(,&-. �/0123���/123�45�46�%&'()�*7!879:�;� &<+'#<<�9'$�=)#�>?!@9?�A(!'!:BC�D7+E+'8�>7!F=)�9'$�G''!E9=+!'. �/0123���0133�45�46�H	���������������������	����������	���������	��	�������	����������I������		������	��������	�������������	�����	�������������	���������J�	���	�	���������	��������������	�����	�������������������KAL�M!&'$=9@?#C� &+?$+'8�N!F97$�9�O?!&7+<)+'8�O&=&7#�PG'E+=#�!'?BQ. �/01RS���01/S�45�46�T��	����������	��������	������������	�����
���������	�����	������������U	�	�����	������	���
�������������	��������	���	��������	�����	����	������	��������	�������	����������030S��	����
�	�����N)#�NV�*979$+8:C�N7#9=+'8�N79&:9W�N!"+'<W�9'$�N)!&8)=<. �/133���/123�45�46�H	������������	��
����������	�����������������2�4���������������	�����I�	�������������������������
����������	���������������������I�
��������1�������������������	����������������X�	����������	���Y9(7!#(!'!:+(�L&=?!!,. �/133���0133�45�46�Z����	���������	������
��I������I������������	����������	������	������������	����������X��	����	��	�������������J����
�[\����I��������������	����	���������������	��������������	����
�����
���������>9:#�K)9'8#7<C�]'?!(,+'8�=)#�>?!@9?�̂-!7=<�A(!'!:B. �/133���0133�45�46�_X�������	���I����������I���I����������������I����H����I��������������	�����������	��̀H���	�̀��������������������������������������a��������������������������Z���	������	����������������������I���N7#'$<�9'$�G''!E9=+!'<�+'�Y+$$?#�Y97,#=�%#'$+'8. �/133���0133�45�46�6�������	��	�����������	����������	�U��	���������	�������������	�����������������
��	��������������I��������	������������������	�����	����������I����	��	������������	���	������������	���	������



������������	
������	������������
�������������������������� ������������� !� "#!$%&'(�)$'(&)�*)'(($%+$,�'-$�.$$/(0�*12/($3�'%.�4%56$%*$.�70�,1*4'(8�$*1%124*8�'%.�,0,&$24*�9'*&1-,�&)'&�$3&$%.�7$01%.�&-'.4&41%'(�)$'(&)�*'-$:�;..-$,,4%+&)$,$�*)'(($%+$,�-$<64-$,�4%%1='&4=$8�*-1,,�:::>����������?��
�@�����?�A����������BC� ������������� !� "#;9&$-�0$'-,�19�/-1,/$-4&08�+-1D&)8�)4+)�='(6'&41%,8�'%.�'76%.'%&�.-0�/1D.$-8�/-4='&$�2'-E$&,�*1%&4%6$�&1�9'*$�)$'.D4%.,�9-12�+$1/1(4&4*'(�6%*$-&'4%&08�4%5'&41%8'%.�$($='&$.�4%&$-$,&�-'&$,:�#)$�42/'*:::F�����G���F��H�IJ��BK��
�L����B���	�M����>����L��������NONP�A����������BC� ������������� !� "#Q'/4.�'.='%*$,�4%�$2$-+4%+�&$*)%1(1+4$,8�-4,4%+�+$1/1(4&4*'(�&$%,41%,8�'%.�4%*-$',4%+�+'/,�4%�.'&'�,$*6-4&0�/-1=4.$�&11�2'%0�1//1-&6%4&4$,�91-�*07$-*-424%'(,�&1$3/(14&�16-�21,&�/$-,1%'(�4%91-2'&41%:�:::R��L�����S�
�����T�����
�����A����������BC� ������������� !� "##)$�-$'(�$,&'&$�4%.6,&-0�4,�9'*4%+�'�&6-%4%+�/14%&��D)4($�&)$�+(17'(�/1/6('&41%�*1%&4%6$,�&1�+-1D8�.$=$(1/$-,�'%.�'-*)4&$*&,�'-$�7$4%+�',E$.�&1�,426(&'%$16,(0�/('%9'-�4%&1�&)$�96&6-$�'%.�'..-$,,�&)$�:::��L���
����U���L?�����>�I����V�����W��XS����������L����� ����������Y�� !� "#Z$'-%�&)$�$,,$%&4'(�%6&-4&41%'(8�(49$,&0($8�'%.�,6//($2$%&�,&-'&$+4$,�&1�6%($',)�&)$�/1D$-�19�&)$�+6&�7-'4%�*1%%$*&41%:�[&\,�%1&�]6,&�'716&�+6&�)$'(&)�̂�4&\,�'716&/-1.6*&4=4&08�211.8�(1%+$=4&08�)1-21:::���������G�������_����������
̀���a�bR����?Bc
�����d������d�

��
���������L�̀�������������
������	GL������������G����L���M����b� ����������Y�� !� "#������������������>����V���e������
���	��L�����L�@���������B�A����������BC� ����f���Y�gf� !� "##)4,�/-4='&$�,$,,41%�4,�91*6,$.�1%�.$&$-24%4%+�E$0�'*&41%,�'%.�%$3&�,&$/,�91-�&)$�h$&$-'%,�i*1%124*�!174(4&0� -1]$*&�'%.�,6//1-&4%+�4&,�+1'(�19�',,4,&4%+�=$&$-'%,'*)4$=$�j%'%*4'(�,&'74(4&0�'%.�4%.$/:::



�����������	
��
���
������������
���
�������
�	������
��������
������� ������ �!�"��#$�#%&'())�*+,�-(+(�./(0*12(3�*0(�*45+-�./(�453.�*,6*+7(,�.0(*.4(+.3�58�590�.24(:�&/(;�*0(�*)35�354(�58�./(�453.�7541)(<:�=(+(�./(0*1;�>=&3?�932+-�620*)�6(7.503�.50(1)*7(�50�0(10(33�*�8*9).;�-(+(�/*3�-0(*.:::@�AA���B
��
�CD�A�E���AA������
���D�� ���!F� �!�!F�#$�#%&&/(�89.90(�58�7*12.*)234�23�*.�*�702.27*)�G9+7.90(H�I2./�2+70(*32+-�85793�5+�2+7)9326(�-05I./�*+,�450(�(J92.*K)(�I(*)./�,23.02K9.25+:�L+M*.25+�/*3�(4(0-(,�*3�*32-+2N7*+.�75+7(0+H�241*7.2+-�75+394(0:::
�������	
�@	�D�
O�@PQ�������������RS���
����D���C�DA������ ���!F� �!�!F�#$�#%&T.�.24(3�)2U(�./(�10(3(+.H�I/(+�K932+(33(3�*0(�052)(,�K;�,2-2.*)�,23091.25+H�(75+5427�65)*.2)2.;H�*+,�./(�2+.(-0*.25+�58�TL�2+.5�./(�I50U8507(H�./(�'VWX3�05)(�23�450(1(0.2+(+.�./*+�(6(0�2+�3.0262+-�8:::�	
��S�SD
��C�Y
��SD
�@������O���Z��[Q�Z������
�	����
��A
��� ���!F� �!�!F�#$�#%&\232+-�2+.(0(3.�0*.(3�*0(�0(3/*12+-�6(+.90(�7*12.*)�*+,�L#W�3.0*.(-2(3H�193/2+-�3.*0.913�.5�0(./2+U�./(20�89+,2+-�*1105*7/(3:�L+6(3.503�+5I�102502.2](�393.*2+*K)(-05I./�56(0�0*12,�(<1*+325+H�3/28.2+-:::EB�P����A���@�A�
�����
�
��������@	�������̂�D��� ���!F� �!�!F�#$�#%&&/(�_+2.(,�̀.*.(3�/*3�(+.(0(,��F���I2./�*�0(+(I(,�85793�5+�,(8.);�+(-5.2*.2+-�U(;�102502.;�*0(*3H�2+7)9,2+-�(+(0-;�2+,(1(+,(+7(H�3.0*.(-27�.0*,(�1*0.+(03/213H.*0288�*,G93.4(+.3H�*+,�3911);�7/*2+�0(32:::PSD��
�a
�A����
�O����
��A
��Z�����������Z�����@�A�
�������C�D���Db
����C��	
��S�SD
� ���!F� �!�!F�#$�#%&V9051(�3.*+,3�*.�*�702.27*)�7053305*,3H�7/*0.2+-�7541)(<�-(515)2.27*)�.0(+,3�K5./�I2./2+�*+,�K(;5+,�2.3�K50,(03:�#*+()23.3�I2))�(<1)50(�V9051(X3�(65)62+-�3.*+7(�2+./(�-)5K*)�15I(0�3.097.90(H�*,,0(332:::���	���D�	��
����C�D��S���c���
��B�D��
��� ���!F� �!�!F�#$�#%&



���������	�
�����	��	�
��	
�����
�����	�	
��
��	�����
�		�
���	���������
��
	���	�
�����������	�
�	�����
�����
�������
���
���	�����	
��	���	����
�������
���
�	�	�����
	��	����	
����������� 
!�
�"#�$"%&'
()*�*!"%
+%" �%"�,"**
�,�
-���.,)!&
�"*)/)",#"0 
1234
�
3234
5�
5677�	
8��
9�	�	�
:�����	�
���������	�
��	
���	�
		�
���
���:����������;
�������<�	
��������
��
�������	
��	
������
��
������
������	��
��
�������
�����	���	���	�=�
>?�	���
�
������	�
�	�������@A"
B/�C�/
D�,�*#� "
�,�
E  �%!.,)!)"*
F�%
G"�)#�/
H%"�I!A%�.JA*0 
1234
�
3234
5�
567K	
��	
�
�
����	
��	
��
<���	�����
��������
L��	����
�����	�
��	
��	����
��������
	:
������
���
��	������=
���	���<�	
��������M
��	���������������
:���
���	�	�	�	�
�������=
��	
��	���N,$"*!),J
),
�
OA)F!),J
P#�,��)#
-/)��!"'
@A"
Q*)�R+�#)S#
E.!/��I0 
1234
�
3234
5�
5677�	
9���
5�����
�	���
�����	�
��
<	
�
�	=
������
���
���<��
��	�����
��
������
����	��;
	�	
����
��	
����	�
���<��
	������
��:����
6		�
�����
�������������
�������
��
�
���	��	
���	���+�T"%
�F
+�%!,"%*A) *'
N,$"*!),J
),
N,F%�*!%.#!.%"
F�%
!A"
U�%/�V*
W�*!"*!RB%�T),J
-�,!),",!0 
1234
�
3234
5�
567X���
��������
������������
	�:����
��
�		:�<�	
		��=
�����;
9�����
	�����	�
���	
�
������������	
�����
���
	?�		���
YZ[4
<�����
�����=�\�����������	
��	���	�
		��
��
�������������Q.!A�%
@�/I'
O.*�,
P)*",A�T"%]
̂_�T
NI"
D"�̂0 
1234
�
3234
5�
567UA�!V*
!A"
("�/
T)!A
+%)$�!"
P̀.)!&a
bN,$)!"
�,/&c0 
1234
�
3234
5�
567\
�
	��
����	�
<=
�������
�����	������
��������;
�	����������
��	�����=;
��
���	��	�
�	�������=
������=;
������	
	d���=
����
����
���=
����	
��
�	�������	�����	�
9�
��	����
��������	�
	���e,/�#I),J
+%�* "%)!&
�,�
-�� "!)!)$","**
),
!A"
Q�"%)#�*
bN,$)!"
�,/&c0 
1234
�
3234
5�
5679�
��	
���<��
	����=
	����	�;
��	
9�	�����
��	
����	�
��
��������f	
�
	�	����
����������	�
���
���:���
7���
������<�	
:���
	?����	
�������	
�����	��	�
����<���f	
��	���	�;
������=
�����=
������



����������	��
�����	�����������������������������������	��������� ��� !�"� � !�#$�#%&'(�')�*+,-.(�./012.23,45�6+1738�,2�*434�0+19.((,26:�*434�9.23.+(;�*.<42*�=1+�017.+�42*�743.+�84(�>.91<.�4�0+.((,26�,2=+4(3+?93?+.�98455.26.@�$..3,26�38.(.�-4(3+.(1?+9.�2..*(�,(�9+,3,945�=1+�(?(34,2.*@@@A��B�����������C���D���������	�����������E�B���A�F� � �!!�"�G� !�#$�#%&H1<.�(0.2*�(1<.�3,<.�7,38�1?+�4*1+4>5.�=?++I�=+,.2*(�42*�*,(91-.+�38.�J1I�38.I�>+,26@�K8.38.+�I1?L+.�511M,26�=1+�4�054I=?5�91<042,12�1+�(,<05I�7423�31�<4M.�42.7�9122.93,12:�I1?�<4I�N2*�38.�0.+=.93�0@@@����O�����������	�����PQD	��� �G�!!�"�R�!!�#$�#%&#+,-43.�.S?,3I�,(�.-15-,26�4(�N+<(�24-,643.�(8,=3,26�,2-.(3<.23�(3+43.6,.(:�.9121<,9�?29.+34,23I:�42*�,29+.4(,26�*.<42*(�=1+�3+42(04+.29I@�T,(,26�,23.+.(3�+43.(:98426,26�+.6?5431+I�542*(940.(:�42*�6@@@����UD�D������V������F���������
�F���	����DB�	C���E���	�����F��W���X������	��� �G�!!�"�R�!!�#$�#%&&8.�=?3?+.�1=�7.4538�<4246.<.23�,(�>.,26�+.(840.*�>I�4�6+17,26�(8,=3�,2�940,345�4551943,12�>.37..2�0?>5,9�42*�0+,-43.�<4+M.3(@�)2(3,3?3,1245�42*�+.34,5�,2-.(31+(45,M.�4+.�*,-.+(,=I,26�>.I12*�3+4*,3,1@@@Y��D���	���Y�D�ED�
�����������Z��E����[D	�E	�����D��� �G�!!�"�R�!!�#$�#%&)2�42�.-15-,26�>?(,2.((�542*(940.:�91+01+43.�5.4*.+(�<?(3�24-,643.�+.0?343,12�<4246.<.23�78,5.�=1(3.+,26�3+?(3�7,38,2�38.,+�1+642,\43,12(@�'(�./0.9343,12(�=+1<.<051I..(:�9?(31<.+(:�42*�,2-.(31+(�(8,=@@@[����C��X����
�����]X�A����������[DE������E�O��	�������B�� �G�!!�"�R�!!�#$�#%&&8.�243,1245�*.>3�9123,2?.(�31�+,(.�31�?20+.9.*.23.*�5.-.5(:�(?+04((,26�̂ !�3+,55,12�=1+�38.�N+(3�3,<.�,2��!���42*�M..0,26�(3.4*,5I�12�38.�+,(.�(,29.�38.2@�&8,(,29.((423�>455112,26�01(.(�(,62,N9423@@@����UD�D������������F���������� �G�!!�"�R�!!�#$�#%&



������������	�
���	���	��������������������������	���������������
��������	���������	��������	
�����������	�����	��������	
��	�����������������	��������������	����������	������	��������
������������������� !�"� # !�$%�"&%'(��)�*%+#�%,-�."��/0(# �((�*%(��1)��2 3,0(#4��5�)&�"6 �7899�:�;899�<=�<>����
������?	�	�������������	���
�����������	���������	�����������������������@	������	���	������������������������������	������	
���������	��������	���������	����	��������
��������������	�
���	���A ,)3B# !�C�%,�"�D%�%�1)��%�$%�#� �E*� ��#3�F)�,G6 �7899�:�;899�<=�<>�>���������	
��������	���������	��������������������������	���	�?����H������������������	��	
���	�����������	�������
�	�����	
������������	�������������@�����	�����������������������

��
��������	����I�&�C)�#J) (-�F"%�K(�I�L��1)��M3�% (N6 �7899�:�;899�<=�<>�O����������	
���	�����	�����������������	�����	��	����	��	����	������������	����H������	����������	�������	����	������	����������������������������������������	������������	���	����	���@��������	���*�'+�)K(�F#,G�P#G�-�."��5��%��D�Q%��6 �7899�:�;899�<=�<>�H�����	���������RS99�999��	�>��������;�����	���������������	��������	���������������������������
����	����
���������	�����	���������������������������������@����
���������
��������������T�����	
�����5��� �)��5�%'-�F"%�K(�I�L��1)��.�% (+)��%�#) N6 �7899�:�;899�<=�<>����������������	����������	���������������	��		������	���	�����	����>����	�����������?�����	�����	��������������������	����
�������		���������������	�@�������U����@���:��?	�����������U������������V0�")��.%,B-��0(% �W)��#() X�YZ)� �-�."��W% �F")�2 4� ��G��%�0�G%'�I#!"��Z#4�Y6 �7899�:�;899�<=�<>�*�#�#3%,�W# ��%,(-�2 4�(�# !�# ��"��[0�0���\3) )]'�̂2 4#���) ,'_6 �7899�:�;899�<=�<>���������	����	����������:��	
��������������=����	�̀	���������	�����������������������	������@���	�����������
��	�����	��������������������	�@������������		���������	��������:�������	������	���������



�����������	
���
��������������	��
����� �������������������� !�"#$#%!�&"�'(&)*(�$%*+!�,-�*$�,$-�.&-$�#/0!%$*,/�.&.!/$�,/�1��2!*%-3��!0,-,&/.*4!%-�"*0!�*�%*/'!�&"�0#%%!/$�*/+�5&$!/$,*(�%,-4-��*�- ,"$,/'�'!&�5&(,$,0*(!/6,%&/.!/$7�!-0*(*$,/'�$ %!*$-�&"�$*%,""-73338
9���:
;����<���
;	=>�?���
���@�
9�AB�
���	=��8
���������	��
����� �������������������C-$,.*$!-�"%&.�$ !�D&%(+�E*/4�-#''!-$�$ *$�*0 ,!6,/'�'!/+!%�5*%,$2�,/�!.5(&2.!/$�0&#(+�,/0%!*-!�,/0&.!�5!%�0*5,$*�)2�*)&#$�F��5!%0!/$�&/�*6!%*'!�*0%&--�*((0&#/$%,!-7�G ,(!�*(-&�%!-#($,/'�,/�-&0,*(�'*333H�I���A�����J��K�L�	���M����	�>�N��
B���<���
;	=�������
����OLL
�	I��	���������	��
����� �������������������P*#+,�Q%*),*R-�0*5,$*(�.*%4!$-� *6!�%*5,+(2�!6&(6!+�,/$&�*�'(&)*(�5&G!% &#-!7�+%,6!/�)2�*.),$,&#-�%!"&%.-�#/+!%�S,-,&/�F�T�3�� ,-�-!--,&/�G,((�)%,/'�$&'!$ !%�4!2-$*4! &(+!%-�"%&.�$ !�5#)(,0�*/+�5%,6*333M���������	�	I	��8
9��J��U���	=�V�	;
��>�K�	���W��<�K=��<��=�
I<=�H	��	�<�B�K
����
��	�
������XI����<�@
���9L�B	������	��
����� ����������T��������Q+6*/0,/'�G&.!/R-� !*($ �%!Y#,%!-�*�$%*/-"&%.*$,6!7�0%&--�-!0$&%�*55%&*0 �$ *$�)%,+'!-�5#)(,0�*/+�5%,6*$!�5*%$/!%- ,5-�$&�+%,6!�-#-$*,/*)(!�%!-!*%0 7,//&6*$,&/7�*/+�"#/+,/'3��&�*00!(!%*$!�*/+�)#,(+�&333X����B����H�BI��	��������	���9��	����
��	�
����B�L	�
�������	��
����� ��������Z����������[&,/�$ !�\,/*/0!��!*.R-�],"!$,.!�\,/*/0,*(�P!0#%,$2��%&'%*.�"&%�*�5%,6*$!�%!0!5$,&/�$&�.!!$�G,$ �!̂5!%$-�,/�_/*/0,*(�-!0#%,$27�_/*/0,*(�!+#0*$,&/7�%!$,%!.!/$5(*//,/'�*/+�,//&6*$,&/3��*%$,0,5*/$-�G,333�̀�K���	���K�����H
I���̀�	=������I�����M���	�	�
�� ����������T��������Q�P&#/+�E*$ �,-�*�+!!5(2�%!(*̂,/'� !*(,/'�!̂5!%,!/0!�G !%!�G!�#-!�-5!0,_0*((2�$#/!+�6,)%*$,&/*(�,/-$%#.!/$-3�� !-!�-&#/+-�0%!*$!�+,""!%!/$�$&/!-�*/+"%!Y#!/0,!-�$ *$�%!)*(*/0!�2&#%�5 2-,0*(�)&+27�0(!333��B�L	�
��@
��HL�����������HL
��
��������	��
����� ���T����Z�T��������



���������	
��	��������	��	���������	������	������ 	����	�	����	��	�� !�	"#�����#����$�	%�&&�����	'�����	������	������ 	(���	�	)���	��	�� *+	,-+./+,01-+	2103	034	5603	7++/89	:9-;89	<-+=4>4+,4?	�19@4+	*+A010/04	B0>804C1,	�3198+03>-DE	2199	3-A0	0341>	8++/89	<-FF/+10E	�1++4>G	 31A	4H4+1+C	1A	8+-DD->0/+10E	0-	,-+H4+4	03-/C30	948I4>A?	D3198GGGJ���	K�L#�� 	)���	�	M��M�	��	�� N OPQRSTUV	WTU	XV	YZY[\]̂ _	̀a	̀ab	c%�����	��d	���d�	e�L�	%����� 	(���	�	(�f�	7�	�� g-1+	8	F->+1+C	C>-/+I1+C	8+I	891C+F4+0	A4AA1-+	0-	,4+04>	E-/>A49=	=->	034	;/AE	,-+=4>4+,4	I8E	8348IG	 31A	A4AA1-+	2199	C/1I4	E-/	03>-/C3	C4+094	A0>40,34A	8+IF1+I=/9	;>48031+C	A-	0380	E-/	,8+	A40	E-/>GGGh��i��	%��
������	%#��jk��� 	(���	7�	�	(���	��	�� %����������	l���j
���� 	����	�	)���	7�	�� h��i��	%������	!��j���	�d�����	%������	����d��i��	������	������ 	����	�	)���	7�	��  34	:9-;89	<8D1089	�8>@40A	7IH1A->E	<-/+,19?	>4D>4A4+01+C	F->4	038+	m56	0>1991-+	1+	7n�?	2199	C8034>	=->	10A	8++/89	F4401+C	I/>1+C	034	�19@4+	*+A010/04	:4+4>89<-+=4>4+,4G	 31A	1A	8+	-DD->0/+10E	0-	4oGGG



��������	�
��� ������������������������������ !�"  #���$���%�&�� '("�)�"&*�%�&(�� +� (( ��!*����%�&*����&""�*,�%-�%�&(���./��� * '��-�,� ( "����&"�&*������* " ,��&"�+ ���%0���%(����!*����&�*���%-�������'&�#��%��&1��%� 2*���%�"��*��-00034�56��7�8��5
�9�56:;��<5���6=:�4<>5?���6�46@�:��68 �����������������������* " ,/��%���&*%+ �'�*,�&%%���'&*&,�'�*�-��*&."�*,�' ���% (��%���&����&*���+A���*���*1�%�'�*��%��&��,��%�&*�����&��*,�*�2� (( ��!*����%�+ ��&"(�&,�*��&�� *�&*����%#�'���,&�� *0�B�&"&."��( ��+ "� 000C��@5���D5����:�E��<58�6�� ��������������������������'&,�*�*,� +�(��1&���'&�#��%��%�!%����*,��*�&�*�2���&� +�* 1�"��*1�%�'�*��1����"�%-�%!���&%��1��,���*�+!*�%�&*���** 1&��1���/.����%��!��!��%-���&��."!�����"�*�%�.��2��*���&���� *&"�(��1&���&*��00046@�:��68�56����

5F��5��68�G�H�;����I��J	�	����;�K�<�6=:�L�5
�I ��������������������2&��*�%%��&%��*���&%���&� !*������*����+ ���** 1&�� *�&*��� ""&. �&��1��(&��*��%��(%�� �&�1&*���2 '�*M%���&"��0�N���OP��+!*��*,�+ ��(� �!��%-�%��1���%-�&*��*+�&%��!��!���� �%!(( ���2 '�*M%�2�""�.��*000��	6���H6Q�4<>��@�68�D�
��5�R�E�5��6�::�;����I��ST:����6�	�R ��������������������%���������*��U ''�%%� *� *�����V&�� *&"���+�*%��B��&��,/�%!''&��W����X����YB�"&%��+ !,���&�," .&"�� *$�����!��*,�Z �"��Z&��[[\�����*&�� *�2&%�"&%��(��(&���+ ��%!���&�A,����!��*,�����U "��Z&�0�[���000G5@�85��68�]
�F5
�46@�:�<�6��̂��5��8��:��6�_6��8R̀�46;�5:��	?�	��̀�56��46�	:��R �������������������[*+�&%��!��!����%�&��������*���� +�," .&"��� * '���,� 2��-�%�&(�*,�����+!�!��� +��*��,/-���&*%( ��&�� *-�&*����,��&"�� **����1��/0��%�����* " ,/�&�1&*��%�&*�%!%�&�*&.�"��/�.�� '�%�&�(�� ���/-��*1�%� 000C��6����68�C��8��::Q�466�@5���6:�̂��<<�68�;��<��I��D���
��_5:� ����������������������%�(&*�"�� *1�*�%�1�%� *&�/�"�&���%�� ��)&'�*��� 2���������"��a&%���%�"�1��&,�*,��** 1&�� *�� �&����%%�!�.&*�W&�� *-���% !����%!%�&�*&.�"��/-�&*���� * '����1��%�A�&�� *0�������%�!%%� *�2�""�%( �"�000



����������	
������������������������������������������� �������� ����!"�#$%&'()*+,-.�)'�,�/0)1)/,2�1**2�)+�1*3,45'�-2*6,2�(*7.0�'108--2.'9�':,()+-�+,1)*+,2�'./80)14�,+3�)+;8.+/)+-�-.*(*2)1)/,2�'10,1.-).'<�=+�1:)'�(,+.29�.>(.01'�?0*@�1:.�A.239,81:*0'9�,+3�,/,3.@)/'�7)22�':<<<BC���
����D��E�
D�F����G�HI�C���J�
K
H� �������� ����!"�#$%L
�K����MC��������L��������
��B�N������O���������B���P��K�������Q� �������� ����!"�#$%R+�1:.�.S*2S)+-�:.,21:�/,0.�2,+3'/,(.9�1:.�)+1.0'./1)*+�*?�(0)S,1.�.T8)14�)+S.'1@.+1�,+3�(,1).+1�/,0.�3.@,+3'�,�+8,+/.3�,((0*,/:�1:,1�6,2,+/.'�(862)/�6.+.A17)1:�1:.�(0*A1�)+1.0.'1'�*?�)+S.'1*0'<�!'<<<��������I�
������U��
�����K������P��K�������Q� �������� ����!"�#$%V(*01'�)+S.'1)+-�:,'�.@.0-.3�,'�*+.�*?�1:.�?,'1.'1�-0*7)+-�@,0W.1'�)+�(0)S,1.�.T8)14X,�+.7�(2,4)+-�A.23�?*0�)+S.'1*0'9�,1:2.1.'9�,+3�*7+.0'<�V)@821,+.*8'249�YRZ0)-:1'�?*0�/*22.-.�,1:2.1.'�,+3�':)?1'<<<UC�������������U�������L�
��
������	�
�[�O�\]�L
��
���P��K�������Q� �������� ����!"�#$%%:.�+..3�?*0�@.,+)+-?82�.+-,-.@.+1�,+3�'8((*01�?*0�Ẑ_%̀ a�/*@@8+)1).'�:,'�+.S.0�6..+�-0.,1.0<�Y*+(0*A19�,3S*/,/49�,+3�'*/),2�)@(,/1�*0-,+)b,1)*+'�(2,4�,/0)1)/,2�0*2.�)+�)3.+1)?4)+-�/*@@8+)14�+..3'9�<<<���c�����K���
���d�e��BU�Bf�P��K�������Q� �������� ����!"�#$%%:.�!V&!Y�+,1)*+'�:,S.�.@.0-.3�,'�(0)@.�3.'1)+,1)*+'�?*0�-2*6,2�)+S.'1@.+19�1:,+W'�1*�1:.)0�34+,@)/�./*+*@).'9�4*81:?82�(*(82,1)*+'9�,+3�'10,1.-)/�(*')1)*+�)+-2*6,2�'8((24�/:,)+'<�g)1:�",2,4'),�,'�!V<<<���fh�������
��	�F���
���C������� �������� �ij�!"�#$%L�
��k��FC
��������F�������B�
�����F���
���C������



�����������	
������������������� ������������������������������ �!!�"#$%� �&!�#�!# '()#$*+�,--�$& .�#((� %��!�#�!/#'��(,�/#)!��# %�$�'�#$.��0�(1�� �!�!!&, !2�3(�0�� %!�($#%&(&, #����#�& .�/$#'(&'�!�1&(��&  ,4#(&4�1��� �!!��5/�$&� '�!+�& '�)%& .�*,.#+�6�%2227�8�	��8�9������:����	���;�<=�8�>7���8�<����?��8� �@�������@@������������(�$ #(&4��#!!�(!�#$��/�#*& .�# �& '$�#!& .�*�&6/,$(# (�$,���& �6)�(&�#!!�(�6# #.�6� (�!($#(�.&�!2�����& '�)!&, �,-�#�(�$ #(&4��#!!�(!�&!�� �# '& .�%&4�$!&A'#(&, # %�$&!B�6&(&.#(&, �& �6)�(&�#!!�(�222:=C��D�<�	E�8�:�	�
�?F��8	�8����������G���8����H�9��8?��8�I��
�D�J�� �@�������@@����������3 4�!(6� (�A$6!�/�#*�#�'$&(&'#��$,���& �/)0�&'�6#$B�(!+�%�/�,*& .�%&4�$!��!($#(�.&�!�(,�.� �$#(��#�/�#+�6# #.��$&!B+�# %� #4&.#(��) '�$(#& (*2��!�6#$B�(!��4,�4�+A$6!�#$��#%#/(& .�(�$,).��#�6&5�,-�62227H�I��
�	�K�JF�L=�������7�J�	�8�������
�G��=��:	�J���8����� �@�������@@��������������& ($,%)'(,$*��$#�,-��3��#!�0$,).�(�#0,)(�!�&-(!�& �/$,%)'(&4&(*�#'$,!!�!,'&�(*+�0)!& �!!+�# %�.,4�$ 6� (M#�, .�1&(��6,6� (,)!�,//,$() &(&�!�# %'�#��� .�!2�N$,6�/$�%&'(&4��# #�*(&'!�(,�#)(,6#(&, �222O��8�JJ�C����	�O�8���C��P�O�;��
���H�
��Q���	�R8K�S=8���E� �@�������@@����������3 %&#�&!�, �(���0$& B�,-�# ��', ,6&'�$� #&!!# '�+�1&(��/$,T�'(&, !�& %&'#(& .�#�$�6#$B#0���.$,1(��$#(��,-�U2V�/�$'� (�-,$�(���)/',6& .�A!'#��*�#$2���&!�6,6� ()6&!�-)���%�0*�#�$,0)!(�%,6�!(&'�6#$B�(+222:	�9�8��WX=�8Y�Z	���;�	?�
F�7DD���[��8	�8�Y[���
�H���9�8���� �@�������@@��������������.$,1& .�#''�!!&0&�&(*�,-�/$&4#(���\)&(*�&!�$�!�#/& .�(���& 4�!(6� (��# %!'#/�+�'$�#(& .� �1�,//,$() &(&�!�# %�%$&4& .�(��� ��%�-,$�%&4�$!&A�%�!($#(�.&�!2�N&$6!#$��& '$�#!& .�*�!/�'&#�&]& .�& �) 222

� �̂��������V_�������3 �#�$#/&%�*�'�# .& .�1,$�%�$�!�#/�%�0*��3�# %�'�#��� .�%�0*��&!(,$&'#��*��,1�($)!(�& ��&.��$��%)'#(&, +�',���.�!�# %�) &4�$!&(&�!�#$��) %�$�6,) (& ./$�!!)$��(,�/$&,$&(&]��# %�/)0�&'&]��(��&$�4#�)�+�222:�	8�̀F�7�a��9�	��8����R�8K�:�	�K����X=�	��b�=�
�	���
�aWS�L����7DE?��� ���V_������_�������



����������	
����������	
���������������������������������������� ������������������ !"�#�$%&�'()*'+,&�+-�$%&��.&/0)(,�&)+,+.12�#.(33�&,$&/4/0#&#�(/&�-()0,5�(�)+.43&6�3(,7#)(4&�+-�$&)%,+3+50)(3�)%(,5&2�&8+380,5�)+,#9.&/�7&.(,7#2�(,7�#%0-$0,5/&593($+/1�-/(.&:+/*#;�<+:�(/&�&,$/&4/&,&9/#�;;;=>��?��@�������A�������B� ������������������ !"�#�30-&#4(,#�0,)/&(#&2�#+�7+&#�$%&�-+)9#�+,�&,#9/0,5�$%+#&�&6$/(�1&(/#�(/&�308&7�0,�5++7�%&(3$%;�<05%�&,7�3+,5&80$1�)30,0)#�(0.0,5�$+�#3+:�7+:,�(50,5�(/&�#4/+9$0,594�(/+9,7�$%&�53+'&;�CD ���7/95#�(/&;;;E��@��=>���E��F��GHGI�J@������ ������������������ !"K&8&/�0,�/&)&,$�.&.+/1�%(#�3(,59(5&2�.&##(50,5�(,7�.(/*&$0,5�.($$&/&7�(#�.9)%�(#�0$�7+&#�/05%$�,+:;� 9'30)�$/9#$�(,7�)+,L7&,)&�(/&�($�(,�(33�$0.&�3+:;�"&/.#30*&�M708&/#0$1NM�(,7�&O90$1M�4+30$0)0P&�(;;;�����������Q���JR���@����SQQ��@�T���U������� ������������������ !""%&�,&&7�$+�&64(,7�())&##�$+�(--+/7('3&�%+9#0,5�0#�(�9,0-10,5�)+,)&/,�()/+##�$%&�VW;�X,�(�Y�YZ�#9/8&12�[\�4&/)&,$�+-�/&#4+,7&,$#�#$($&7�$%($�%+9#0,5�(--+/7('030$1:(#�(�4/+'3&.�$%($�:(#�5&$$0,5�:+/#&�;;;S��>���=��F����>�����]�����Q̂�_̀>������U�����S�?�������a��A�Q�_� ������������������ !"���������@����������������������>������b�������>�������c����S�@�������@�b����������@���d����������Be� ������������������ !"�#�#)0&,)&�-()&#�0,)/&(#0,5�)%(33&,5&#f-/+.�-9,70,5�9,)&/$(0,$0&#�$+�5&+4+30$0)(3�4/&##9/&#f)+33('+/($0+,�'&$:&&,�()(7&.0)�0,#$0$9$0+,#�(,7�4%03(,$%/+40#$#%(#�,&8&/�'&&,�.+/&�)/9)0(3;�"%0#�/+9,7$('3&;;;��c����������S��������Q���̀�������̀�������g����B�����d����������Be� ������������������ !"h0$%�0,$&/,($0+,(3�&)+,+.0)�(,7�4+30$0)(3�70#/94$0+,#�(--&)$0,5�i9/0#70)$0+,(3�3&7�)(40$(3�7&43+1.&,$�#$/($&50&#2�($$&,$0+,�0#�,+:�-+)9#&7�+,�'90370,5�,&:)+..9,0$1�3&7�(,7�0,8&#$+/�7/08&,�&--+/$#�$+�;;;



�����������	
��		����
���
��������������
	�����������
������������������������
�����������
�������� �!"#""�$�!!#""�%&�'()*+,�-./01,21�2/343�451�67�12/,/89�:,�134.8:41;�<==>�?.00./,�1-1@9�91:@A�0:@B109�C@/8�@13D/,31�1CC/@43A�0/34�D@/;+24.-.49�:,;�;.8.,.351;�E+:0.49�/C�0.C1�45:4@1:2513�C:@�?19/,;�;.@124�-.24.8.F:4./,G�H:GGGI����
���J�����K���L�M���
����	
��		�N
	O�����
�������� �!"#""�$�!!#""�%&�'()%3�P:41@�32:@2.49�?12/813�:�D@133.,B�B0/?:0�.33+1A�?+3.,13313�:2@/33�.,;+34@.13�:@1�B@:DD0.,B�P.45�451�@.3Q3�D/31;�?9�;P.,;0.,B�C@135P:41@�@13/+@213G�R@/8�3+DD0925:.,�;.3@+D4./,3�4/�/D1@:4./,:0�-+0,1GGGK������
��S�
��������
��������
����
������T�M
���U�����K���	�����N������� �!!#""�$�!!#V"�%&�'()%3�34+;.13�:@1�D@/-.,B�8/@1�:,;�8/@1�45:4�25@/,.2�D:.,A�.00,133A�:,;�:,W.149�:@1�451�@13+04�/C�:�;93@1B+0:41;�,1@-/+3�393418A�D1/D01�,11;�@1:0�3/0+4./,3�4/�8/-1C@/8�XB54�/@�Y.B54�4/�@134�:,;�@1D:.@GGG����Z�����
���T����������O	�
���[����\��� �!!#V"�%&�$�!]#""�'&�'()���
����I��O��	�̂_̂ ̀�S���
�������S���
�������a����� �!!#V"�%&�$�!]#V"�'&�'())51�B0/?:0�2:D.4:0�8:@Q143�:@1�.,�:�34:41�/C�4@:,3C/@8:4./,�;@.-1,�?9�D1@3.341,4�.,Y:4./,A�@12133./,�C1:@3A�:,;�B1/D/0.4.2:0�41,3./,3G�b.45�4@:;.4./,:0�D/0.29�4//032/,34@:.,1;�:,;�D+?0.2�8:@Q14�:24.GGGK���a�����������a�������		�K��	�U�K����U�������������� �!!#V"�%&�$�!]#V"�'&�'()%3�81;.:�0:,;32:D13�35.C4�:,;�2/,3/0.;:4./,�B@/P3A�451�C+4+@1�/C�:�C@11�D@133�5:,B3�.,�451�?:0:,21G�)5.3�D:,10�P.00�1WD0/@1�451�1-/0-.,B�@/01�/C�2/@D/@:41�81;.:A�451@.31�/C�.,;1D1,;1,4�c/+@,:0.38A�:,GGGd��
��T���
���T�L�\�e������f�������
�� �!!#V"�%&�$�!]#V"�'&�'()H:4.,�%81@.2:g3�+,4:DD1;�12/,/8.2�D/41,4.:0�.3�-:34A�@:,B.,B�C@/8�1,1@B9�2:D:?.0.4.13�:,;�2@.4.2:0�8.,1@:0�@131@-13�4/�.43�?+@B1/,.,B�;.B.4:0�12/,/89G�%3�451�@1B./,0//Q3�4/�2:D.4:0.F1�/,�45131A�.4�8+GGG



���������	
���
���������������������	

���
�������	�	������������ ����� �!"�#��$�� �%"�%&'!(()*#+,()-�./,/0)�1(�)23)41)/01/5�4,31-�5467*8�71*81/�04)-1*�9,4:)*(�,/-�*8)�341;,*)�04)-1*�()0*64<�)23,/-1/5�+)=6/-�*4,-1*16/,>�91-->)�9,4:)*�+?=6?*(@�'81((?45)�1(�>,45)>=�-41;)/�+=�1//6;,*1;)�A1/@@@�����	
�����	�B��������C�D��	�
��E���F���	�
�����������D��������G���F	�	�HG�
��I��J��� ����� �!"�#��$�� �%"�%&'K/�,/�)4,�1/�78108�./,/01,>�,/-�)06/6910�4)(1>1)/0)<�36>1*10,>�(*,+1>1*=<�,/-�()0?41*=�,4)�1/04),(1/5>=�1/*)406//)0*)-<�*81(�()((16/�)23>64)(�*8)�1/*)4()0*16/�6L./,/0)<�56;)4/,/0)<�,/-�-)L)/()�1/�!@@@M����
������	�
���������
�	
��
��N��O��	�����
��� ����� �!"�#��$�� �%"�%&''81(�3,/)>�)23>64)(�867�)9+4,01/5�764:#>1L)�36>101)(�0,/�8)>3�3,4)/*(�+)�964)�34)()/*�,/-�)/5,5)-@�%,/)>1(*(�71>>�-1(0?((�867�+4),:1/5�*4,-1*16/,>�5)/-)4�46>)(,/-�L6(*)41/5�63)/�0699?/10,*16/�0,/�04)@@@PN����	���M�
�����M�P� ����� �!"�#��$�� �%"�%&'K/�,�764>-�461>)-�+=�())91/5>=�?/34)0)-)/*)-�-1;1(16/�,/-�-6?+*<�*8)�>6/51/5�L64�(3141*?,>�9),/1/5�,/-�L64�,�>1L)�466*)-�1/�L,1*8�,33),4(�*6�+)�54671/5�);)4(*46/5)4@�K/�*81(�()((16/<�(3),:)4(�(8,4)�*@@@���O	
��Q�J�I���
��	
������	������	
���E
���� ����� �!"�#��$�� �%"�%&'R,/0)4�06/*1/?)(�*6�+)�6/)�6L�*8)�>),-1/5�0,?()(�6L�-),*8�764>-71-)@�S=�$ T <�*8)�/?9+)4�6L�/)7�0,/0)4�0,()(�1(�)23)0*)-�*6�4),08�/),4>=�� �91>>16/@�U1*8�4,31-,-;,/0)(�1/�(01)/0)�,/-�*)08/6>65=<�1/;,@@@��������C�V
����	
��	
��E��
����
�WH� ����� �!"�#��$�� �%"�%&'!�0>),/�)06/69=�1(�964)�*8,/�,/�)/;146/9)/*,>�341641*=��1*X(�,�9,Y64�-41;)4�6L�+?(1/)((�5467*8<�1/;)(*9)/*<�,/-�9,4:)*�*4,/(L649,*16/@�R693,/1)(�*8,*�)9+4,0)(?(*,1/,+1>1*=<�4)(6?40)�)L.01)/0=<�,/-�4@@@���������OC�Q	����������
G�PZ	��	
���P� ����� �!"�#��$�� �%"�%&'



���������	
���������
������������
��
���
���
������
�������
������ 
�����
 !
"
�#���
$!
$%&'()*+),-
./0)+/1
.23+3
/,4
5/6)273
+6/48"683+6).+)58
021).)83
/627,4
+(8
92614
/68
(/5),-
/,
):0/.+
2,
),583+:8,+
;293
+(627-(27+
+(8
 3)/
$/.)<.
68-)2,=
>,
+()306)5/+8
3833)2,?
),583+263
8@/:),8
+===���
A���	�����B
C���	����	
D�EF
D��������F
��G
D�����
�������
������ 
�����
 !
"
�#���
$!
$%&&(8
/338+
:/,/-8:8,+
),473+6H
(/3
8@086)8,.84
/
521/+)18
3+/6+
+2
+(8
H8/6?
:/6I84
JH
(8)-(+8,84
-82021)+)./1
+8,3)2,3?
+(8
+(68/+
/,4
):018:8,+/+)2,
2*
,89+/6)**3?
/,4
-629),-
:/6I8+
),3+/J)1)+H=
!/===A���	��	
K��	�
���
����
L��
M������
��G
����������
�������
������ 
�����
 !
"
�#���
$!
$%&&(868
/68
/,
83+):/+84
��?���
3),-18"*/:)1H
2*<.83
-12J/11H
:/,/-),-
/,
83+):/+84
N��
+6)11)2,
),
/338+3=
O'
8,429:8,+3
/,4
.(/6)+/J18
*27,4/+)2,3
6806838,+/,2+(86
N#
+6)11)2,=
PH
:23+
/..27,+3?
+(8===Q��R��
�������S
T��UB
A�V���
�������
������ 
�����
 !
"
�#���
$!
$%& 3
!8@).2
.2,+),783
+2
3+68,-+(8,
)+3
023)+)2,
/3
/
5)+/1
01/H86
),
+(8
-12J/1
8.2,2:H?
+()3
),5)+8"2,1H
3833)2,
9)11
.2,58,8
18/4),-
),+86,/+)2,/1
),583+263
+2
3(/68+(8)6
086308.+)583
2,
+(8
.27,+6H===W����E
�������
X�G��
��G
A�G���
Y������
L��
�
T�R����
K�L�� 
�#���
"
�#���
$!
$%&%6=
Z7:/6
'),-(
9)11
3(/68
),3)-(+3
*62:
(86
,89
J22I?
&(8
[2,-85)+H
\26:71/
?
6858/1),-
(29
+(8
+):81833
06),.)0183
2*
 H76584/
/1)-,
9)+(
+24/H]3
06258,3.)8,.8
+2
370026+
/
12,-86?
(8/1+()86
1)*8=
===�̂V�G
K����
���E��� 
�#���
"
����
$!
$%&K����
���	���
_
Q��R��
���
A���	�����
��G
������������ 
�#���
"
#���
$!
$%&&(8
/338+
:/,/-8:8,+
1/,43./08
)3
7,486-2),-
/
062*27,4
+6/,3*26:/+)2,?
46)58,
JH
3()*+),-
:/6I8+
4H,/:).3
/,4
85215),-
),583+26
068*868,.83=
 1+86,/+)58/338+3
(/58
376-84
),
02071/6)+H
/3
),3+)+7+)2===



��������	
���������	����	�������������
���������������������
������� �� !"#�$� !�#�%&�%'()*+,�&+-./,�0,12+232/�456�7+89:;<�'+2+=+*�:,<�49:+;>:,�&+89:/-�&+-./,�?*;�:�8*,@/;1:2+*,�A/2B//,�+,<312;C�-/:</;1�8/,2/;/<�:;*3,<�29/�8*>D-/E+2+/1�*?�2*<:CF1/8*,*>+8�-:,<18:D/G�(9+1�<+18311+*,�B+--�/GGG����H����
���I��	����J���K������L�����M���
��
���M���	����N���	�O�
���� ��!PP�$��!QP�%&�%'(R;/:2�-/:</;19+D�+1,S2�T312�:A*32�/E/832+*,U+2S1�:A*32�/,/;VCW�+,23+2+*,W�:,<�:-+V,>/,2G�0,�29+1�+,2/;:82+@/�QP$>+,32/�1/11+*,W�2;:,1?*;>:2+*,:-�8*:89�:,<�1D/:./;':,:�XG�&C/;1�B+--�+,2;*<38/�/E/832+@GGGO����
����
����
�������O�Y����N��
����Z������� ��!PP�$� !PP�%&�%'([1�:;2+\8+:-�+,2/--+V/,8/�;/19:D/1�+,<312;+/1�B*;-<B+</W�+21�+,]3/,8/�*,�\,:,8/�+1�D;*?*3,<�:,<�;:D+<-C�/@*-@+,VG�̂;*>�:11/2�>:,:V/>/,2�2*�D;+@:2/�8;/<+2�:,<B/:-29�>:,:V/>/,2W�[0�+1�2;:,1?*;>+,V�<GGG���_
����
���Z�
���������
���
�M�������
���M���	�I�̀������������������a��	� ��!PP�$� !PP�%&�%'(0,�:�B*;-<�B9/;/�8*,13>/;�@:-3/1�:;/�;:D+<-C�89:,V+,VW�29/�-3E3;C�+,<312;C�12:,<1�:2�29/�/D+8/,2/;�*?�+,,*@:2+*,G�(9/�D+*,//;1�*?�-3E3;C�9:@/�2;:<+2+*,:--C�A//,:;2+121W�</1+V,/;1W�:;89+2/821W�:,<�@+1GGG��N�
��b���������������
���������c��������d�����_�e��
�������
�� ��!PP�$� !PP�%&�%'(&:+,2:+,+,V�A+*<+@/;1+2C�:,<�9/:-29C�/8*1C12/>1�8:,�9/-D�1312:+,�/8*,*>+/1�:,<�/@/,�*??/;�1+V,+\8:,2�/8*,*>+8�;/23;,1W�?;*>�D;*@+<+,V�,:23;:-�;/1*3;8/1�?*;�29/8;/:2+*,�*?�,/B�A31+,/11/1�2*�>+2+V:2+,GGG����N�������	����������������
�������� ��!PP�$� !PP�%&�%'(Z����Hdf�
��H������������gH����g�h����������I�����M�I��	�����N���	�IOY��Z�
���� ��!PP�$��!QP�%&�%'(i388/11�+1,S2�29/�\,+19�-+,/U+2S1�:�-:3,89D:<G�)*+,�X-**>A/;V�(9/�'/:-S1�[-/E�7*<;+V3/=�:,<�):1*,�j/--C�?*;�:�<C,:>+8�8*,@/;1:2+*,�B+29�5:;@+,�k&:V+8l)*9,1*,�/ED-*;+,V�9*B�9/�+1�/ED:,<+,V�9+1�-/V:8CGGG����O��������O
��
���Z��	����
���Je����N���f�N����



��������	
���������	���������	������������� ������������� !� "#$�������%�����&���������'�	
���%����	������(%��������
)*� ������������� !� "#+,-./0�1-2,�0-3�.456�7,,5�-5�-//2-1/89,�3,1/42�:42�859,3/423;�7</�1-=8/-.�835>/�?4@856�,9,5.AB�C08.,�.-/,�3/-6,�D2<6�D,9,.4=E,5/�-5D�,3/-7.830,D�/2,-/E,5/3�<3<-..A.-5D�/0,�7866,3/�10,1F3;�,-2.A�D8-6BBBG�������H��I�����G����J	�	��&����(%��������
)*� ������������� !� "##0,�283,�4:�=-3389,�859,3/856�-/�/0,�,K=,53,�4:�-1/89,�0-3�7,,5�-�E-L42�/0,E,�85�:<5D�E-5-6,E,5/�:42�A,-23B�+4@,9,2;�@8/0�=,2383/,5/�6,4=4.8/81-.�<51,2/-85/A;85?-/845-2A�=2,33<2,3;�-5D�4564856�85/,2BBBMI���&�I�$������NI	�����	&���O��PMI���&�I�Q�	

�������R��	�������H���R�	S�
��)�(%��������
)*� ������������� !� "##0,�,K=,2/3�45�/083�=-5,.�@8..�,K-E85,�3/2-/,68,3�:42�5-986-/856�/0,�,1454E81�/2-53:42E-/8453�54@�0-==,5856�85�/0,�!8DD.,�T-3/B�U2,-3�4:�3=,18-.�:41<3�@8..851.<D,�04@�14<5/28,3�1-5�-D-=/�/4�6.47-.�E-BBBO����	����	
�$��������%������������	�V���Q����&���(%��������
)*� ������������� !� "##0,�1453<E,2�2,-.8/A�145/85<,3�/4�10-56,;�@8/0�W,5�XY3�3=,5D856�=4@,2�,K=,1/,D�/4�624@�/4�Z���/28..845�7A���[�B�C8/0�/083�6,5,2-/845-.�/2-53:,2�4:�@,-./0�14E,3-�5,@�3,/�4:�D,E462-=0813�-5D�E-2F,/�DA5BBB%����������	
�\��
	�����])���	������]�Q�

�I�����(%��������
)*� ������������� !� "#\��]	������Q	��(����*� ����������[�� !� "# 2,=-2,�/4�̂-2,_689,̀�=2498D,3�,33,5/8-.�/44.3;�3/2-/,68,3;�-5D�,E4/845-.�3<==42/�:42�5-986-/856�1-2,689856�@8/0�145aD,51,B�#083�@42F304=�4::,23�853860/3�45<5D,23/-5D856�A4<2�24.,;�/-F856�/0,�.,-D�8BBB

� ���[��������� !� "#U/�/0,����b� -283�c.AE=813;��d��/0,5�1<22,5/�-5D�8514E856�ê UU�3/<D,5/�-/0.,/,3�@45�-�14E785,D�[[��E,D-.3�2,=2,3,5/856��f�14<5/28,3B�̂4..,6,�3=42/3=2462-E3�.8F,�94..,A7-..;�@2,3/.856;�/2-1F�-5D�a,.DBBB



���������	�
���
��
�����������
������������������ ������������� !� "#$%&'�()&�*+,(�-%&�.&+',/�01'21'+(&�2)3*+4()'12.�)+,�5&016&�61'&�,('+(&730�+48�61'&�34(&7'+(&8�93()�()&�1%&'+**�63,,314�1:�6+4.�0162+43&,;�<1'21'+(&2)3*+4()'12.�*&+8&',�+'&�6+4+7347�)37)&'�&=2&0(+(31;;;����>����>�?��@���A�
B�CD�E���
�F����CG�H�CBCG���I�J�
��>�C� ����K������K� !� "# '3%+(&�6+'L&(,�+'&�M48&'71347�+�('+4,:1'6+(3%&�2)+,&�6+'L&8�5.�014,1*38+(314/�2*+(:1'6�&=2+4,314/�+48�340'&+,&8�0162&(3(314�:1'�8&+*�N19;� '3%+(&�&OM3(.�3,2*+.347�+�23%1(+*�'1*&�34�()3,�&%1*M(314/�;;;����������C����PJ�H���QC���� ����K������K� !� "#R3743-0+4(�,)3:(,�34�()&�SR�'&+*�&,(+(&�6+'L&(�+'&�34NM&40&8�5.�6+0'1&0141630�('&48,/�&%1*%347�0+23(+*�,('M0(M'&,/�+48�(&0)41*1730+*�+8%+40&6&4(,;�T3()(37)(&4347�0'&83(�01483(314,�+48�'&7314+*�5+4L;;;U����I����QV���W�D�X
��C	�
W��������I�Y�C
F������ ����K������K� !� "#Z'(3-03+*�34(&**37&40&�3,�'+238*.�'&,)+2347�&014163&,/�348M,('3&,/�+48�,103&(./�0)+**&47347�M,�(1�'&()34L�)19�9&�91'L/�*3%&/�+48�3441%+(&;�$2(363,(,�&4%3,314�Z[�+,�+('+4,:1'6+(3%&�:1'0&�:1'�&0141630;;;\�I��>����YW�V
���V���
�����������]F�F
� ����K������K� !� "##)&�"&610'+(30�2+'(.�3,�+(�+4�34N&0(314�2134(;�#)&'&�+22&+',�(1�5&�+�83,0144&0(�5&(9&&4�()&�2+'(.�+48�()&�5+,&/�%1(&',�+'&�(M'4347�&*,&9)&'&̂ 1'�419)&'&�+(�+**̂+48�"&610'+(30�6&,,+7347/�34�+�N118&8�6;;;H��I����_
�̀��D��
��
��>�	�
��E�ab� ����K������K� !� "##)&�Z6+c14�3,�()&�91'*8d,�*+'7&,(�34(+0(�'+34:1'&,(�+48�()&�*M47,�1:�1M'�2*+4&(;�Z,�()3,�%3(+*�'&,1M'0&�014:'14(,�+4�36634&4(�(322347�2134(/�()&�4&&8�:1'�+0(314�)+,4&%&'�5&&4�61'&�M'7&4(;�<$ �K�34�e&;;;]�
>��>�?��@���U�����VCD��������������I�J�
�>������A�I
��Y����W�V�� ����K������K� !� "#



���������	
�����������������������������
	��������������������	��	�
�
�����	�	��������
�����	���	������	���������	�����������������������	�����������	���������	��������������	������	������������������  ! "�#$%�&$'%�()*���+*,!%*-* ,. �/012�3�1012�45�467
89! �:;�( <*;,-* ,�=',�$$>��-!)���?*@��$�!AB�C <!%$ -* ,. �/012�3�1012�45�467D�����
������������	��������E��	�������/2/1�����/2/F���������������G�	�����
�����������������H���I��3����I�������	���������H�
�����������J2��	��	�������K�����	�������LDMJ�F��	��	��N��7�	����(  $<�,!$ �O*B$ )�O$%)*%;P�?*@�QRR%$�A9*;�S%� ;#$%-! "�T*��,9. �/012�3�1012�45�4674����������	������������	��������	�
���������������������	����U����	�	�������������������
�����������������������	�������	������	��������	������	�������	�������	�������������������������������Q',9$%�S��>P�V�W�O$$,X�Y+*�"� P�T!;�Z!#*�� )�Z*"* )Y. �/012�3�1012�45�467Q#%!A��Z*�)*%;�O';! *;;�8$' A!��[( <!,*�$ �B\. �/012�3�1012�45�4677�	����	���]������̂��	�����G����	��_�����������	�
�	����������������3������	����	����	�����������
�����������������������7�������	�
�������������������������	���]������̂��	�����G����	�����à;,�8* ,'%B�Z*;;$ ;�! �Z*�)*%;9!R�[( <!,*�$ �B\. �/012�3�1012�45�467

��%,�aP��%*R�%! "�#$%�,9*�b*A$ )�T��#P�+*)*c ! "�+*,!%*-* ,�d�Q�8$ <*%;�,!$ �@!,9��*B,$ V�  ! ". �/012�3�/0e2�45�467��%,�̀P�Z*;;$ ;�#$%�+*,!%*-* ,�b'AA*;;. �/0e2�3�1012�45�467f��	������������������	������	�������	�����������	�����������	�
������
	����]����������H�����������������������������H�������������������I����	�������������	�������g�	��������������	�
���



����������	
�����	�
����	�������	�
����	��
�	�������	����
��
��
����
���
�������	�
���
��
��
��
���������������������	��	��������������	��
���������	���������������������	�
���	��
��
����
����	����� !!"�#$%%&'�()*+,�-./+&+.,0.1�2$3,+,4�#)!05/�+,6!�#.0$3+6'�78,9+6.�!,&':; ��<=>�?�=<=>�@A�@BCD
����
��
����	�
�E���E��
����������	��
��������	
������������	��

	�	�
����������
����������������E�
�������	��	���������������
��

	���������
��
�����������������������
�	��������
��E���	�
���
�
����F&!G*&�(!,H.3.,0.�I$%%'�I&*'6+J.�I3./.,6."�G'�IF8K; �=<>>�?�L<=>�@A�@BCM��
���
������
�	��
���	�����������E�
���������
��������������
��	�
�N��	�
�E������O�
	�
����P�
��������������������������������������������	�	�����
���
������
�	�����������Q���	�
��
��
�	�����R.,"+,4�6).�($39.1�8,,!9*6+!,�+,�S//.6�K*,*4.J.,6; �L<>>�?�T<>>�@A�@BCC�������
��������
��
���	��	�
�
����������������
�������
	������
�
�	��������������	�
���	
���	����������	����������	������
	���C�
�����������������
�����
�	�
����
���UCV���������
������
	������
�
����KWS�K.6*J!3%)!/+/1�X!Y�I3+9*6.�(*%+6*&�*,"�2.0)�S3.�-./)*%+,4�KWS; �L<>>�?�T<>>�@A�@BCC�
���������
�����
��
��������������	�����������
������������Q���	�	���������	���������
��E��
����	�������	���	
������������������
�������
������������
	���������M����?E���
���
��?������������������2).�Z!36)�SJ.3+0*,�[0!,!J'1�2+./�2)*6�R+,"\�]./%+6.�86�S&&; �L<>>�?�T<>>�@A�@BC������E���
��������������������	�����	����
������	������	�������	������
�	�	���
�
���
��	������
�	��
��	�
��	����A����
��������	�
���̂���������������_�	���������E�������
	�����	��	��	
����������������2).�̀.&&,.//�-.9!&$6+!,1�R$+&"+,4�R$/+,.//./�H!3�8J%*06�*,"�I$3%!/.; �L<>>�?�T<>>�@A�@BCC�
��
��	�������	�����E����������	��E����
��
������
����������������
�����������
���
�������	��
���	�	�
����
����	�
����������
���C�������
��E������	��
	�
��
������
�	�
��
�
�������	�
��
���
����
����(*3G!,�(3."+6/1�a,&!05+,4�(&+J*6.� +,*,0.�*,"�Z*6$3*&�(*%+6*&�b*&$*6+!,



� ��������������	��
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����������������������������!������ "���#�$%������������� ��������������������������������������###&'()*+,+,-*�./0*1�23-*4+,30�,3�5'678'69*�:*4,;,*39<�=3/�:,47�>,+,0=+,'3� ��������������	��
�$����"�������� �? ��"�������������� ���� ������������������������������@���������A���������������������A������B����@�����B��������� ��"�������#C�������"��%�����B����������������������###DE+F'6�G=;71�H6=39,4�&';;,34I�JGF*�:'=/�+'�5,4/'(J� ��������������	��
�D�K6=9+,+,'3*6L4�ME,/*�+'�D2�,3�+F*�23-*4+(*3+�N8O9*�P23-,+*�'3;<Q� ��������������	��
�R���������������������������������������������������RSB��������������? �������������"��������������������RS���������������!��������������#�T�"������������������@������������B�RS������###M;'U=;�23-*4+'64L�V,*W1�&F,3=�P23-,+*�'3;<Q� ��������������	��
�T��������������������������"������������������"��������������������������������������������������������!�����#�X�� � �����@����B��������������� ��B����������������� �����������������������###Y=-,0=+,30�+F*�.-';-,30�Z=3/49=)*�'8�K6,-=+*�=3/�KEU;,9�&6*/,+�>=67*+4�P23-,+*�'3;<Q� ��������������	��
�R�������������!������������������������������������� ������������B������������������ �������������@�������������������������� �������������������#������������� �������������������������###Z*=63,30�&E6-*41�:*,(=0,3,30�+F*�[+=+*�'8�D(*6,9=3�./E9=+,'3� ����������\���	��
�K=6+�]1�2+�[+=6+4�W,+F�=�G*=9F*61�D�&'3-*64=+,'3�W,+F�D6(=3/'�&F6,4+,=3�K̂6*_�PK,+UE;;Q� ����������̀���	��
�K=6+�a1�H6'(�5F,+*U'=6/4�+'�+F*�5'678'69*1�bc]a�./E9=+,'3�,3�D(*6,9=� ���̀����������	��
�



����������	
��	����������	����� �������������������� �!"#�$  "$%�&! '( ) *�!+�,-(�./)0) *�1%%!&$,!#023�4(5%%�6#) *�,!*(,-(#�!"#�7�7��&!-!#,�!+�8!" *�) '(0,9( ,�:#!+(00)! $%0�+#!9�:( 0)! �:%$ 02�( ;!49( ,0�$ ;+!" ;$,)! 02�0!'(#()* �4($%,-�+" ;02�) 0"#<<<=>�>��	?��������@���	��A	�@�B�������C�=�D����E������������D�����@F�G����H�
�	I�G���H	�>��	����������	����� ��������������������-(��)%J( �� 0,),",(�K","#(�!+�1*) *�1;')0!#8�L!$#;�6#) *0�,!*(,-(#�) M"( ,)$%�%($;(#0�) �$�:#(9)(#�+!#"9�,!�$&&(%(#$,(�)  !'$,)! 0�) �$*) *N�0&$%(�:#!9)0) *0!%",)! 0N�$ ;�&-$9:)! �) ;)');"$%2�) 0,)<<<O���	����@@����P��������>���EQ��D���B�
Q����B��R��F�S��A��
	���	��Q��T	�@F��@���
�����Q��D��
���U��DS� �������������������A��E������E����H	>�@�A��Q���@�V>�@�@�B�@�����	�� �������������������1�W!" ;�L$,-�)0�$�;((:%8�#(%$X) *�-($%) *�(X:(#)( &(�4-(#(�4(�"0(�0:(&)Y&$%%8�," (;�')6#$,)! $%�) 0,#"9( ,0<��-(0(�0!" ;0�&#($,(�;)++(#( ,�,! (0�$ ;+#(Z"( &)(0�,-$,�#(6$%$ &(�8!"#�:-80)&$%�6!;82�&%(<<<E���P������[������D��
��E	
R�������
�\��	����������	����� ��������]������������
�\��	��?	�H\��R�����@�H\	��	����������	����� ��������̂����������_	>���[��@���E�
���̀	��D�H\	��	�@�P��E���D	��������D�����C�B	��aQ�����B�@��F��E	�������	��b��Q�c��D\������Q����Q�d	Q��	����������	����

19(#)&$50�-)*-(#�(;"&$,)! �080,(9�)0�!+,( �) '!J(;�$0�$�*%!6$%�6( &-9$#J2�6",�,-(�e�f7�080,(9�&! ,) "(0�,!�*#$::%(�4),-�0)* )Y&$ ,�&-$%%( *(02�9$ 8�!+4-)&-�-$'(�6(( �(X$&(#6$,(;�68�,-(�ghi���fj�:$ ;<<<�̀��kF���=����@��E	�������	��b��Q�lH�H�
�����	?�G@>
���	��[��@��B
B�Q	�� ����������f��������



� ��������������	��
������������������������������������������������������������������� ������!��"�#!��������!�����������������������������#����������������������$������%������������������&��������$��'�� ��&&&( )*+,*-+./0�1./�20�34356789�:;�:;<�=>?@A�BACD�EF@A�G?HI� ����������JK��	��
�������������!$������#��!���#���!L�!��� ���������L����������� ����������������������������!�������� ���L�����������������!�����!������������$������&�M�N��������������#������%�����������!�&&&O?PDFPAPDIQ�RSAITUICD� �V������������	��
�WQ?XIQ�O?PUASAPYA�OZAYT[\P� �V�����	���J�����	��
�OI]FDIQ�>ISTAD�WÎ A�OZIPHASC_�̀aDaSA�?U�̀FPIPYA�bFDYZ�O?̂ ]ADFDF?P�cFDZ�\̀O[>FQTAP�\PCDFDaDAdQâ PF�e\P@FDA�?PQfg� ��������h�i���	��
�"L������������������ ����!���������Mjk�	��%���M���������k�������	��%���������!���L��$����$������������������������������!��%��������������������L�����������!����������!���&�������#����������&&&lZFPHC�lZID�mFQQ�RQ?c�G?aS�>FPn� ���i����h�i���	��
���������������������������L�������L�����������#����������������������$����������L��������������������������������������#������������&��������������������������#����������!����������������&&&BFCA�IPn�oZFPA_�dcITAP�b?DAPDFIQp�q̂ XSIYA�BACDp�\PC]FSA�dYDF?P� ���i����h�i���	��
�M�����#N������������ ���%�������������������L�������#����r�������#��!�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$����������� ������� �����&&&



����������	�
��	�����������������������	� ����������������������� !"#�$%�" ��!&�'()*+ �,"-�'$+#,.�� $�-+.�/,$0�.1�+1�$�1�,'+"%�.���+"#�1./�".�*,"-1 ,'�2� $�,.+"%�"�3�!''!$.("+.+�1�&!$� ,'+.,*�-�'*!4/�".�,"-�$+10-+#�$1+5 ,.+!"6��1�.���*�#�$,%�-� $�-+.�/,$0�.1�666�7��8��������7��9:���;�	�<���:=��	���>��	���
7�>��	��?		�����	� �����������������������@!($"�4�.!� $�,.+"%�.$,"1&!$/,.+!",*�!$%,"+A,.+!"1�$�B(+$�1�/!$��.�,"�@(1.��,$-�3!$0C+.�-�/,"-1�,%+*+.42� $�,.+#+.42�,"-�$�*�".*�11�+""!#,.+!"6�D".$�'$�"�($1.!-,4�,$���,$"�11+"%�.��1��B(,*+.+�1�.6669��	;�	E����:����8�
����	;�=��7��F�G�F��������H?	�����	�IJ� �������������������K!.��+"�.���LM�,"-�,)$!,-2�-+1$('.+!"�,"-�-+1.$(1.�,)!(.�.���$!*��,"-��&5 , 4�!&�%!#�$"/�".�.�$�,.�"�.!�("-�$/+"��!"�.���%$!("-�'$!%$�11�.!�,-#," �� *+/,.�,"-��"�$%4�'$!@� .�-�'*!4/�".2�)(+*-�$�1+*+666N���	�

�O����	�P����	E�Q�

��	
� ��������������������������R�**"�11�S,$-�"�+1�,�1," .(,$42�!&&�$+"%�,..�"-��1�,�1', ��.!�',(1��,"-�$� �,$%��)�.3��"�1�11+!"16�T.�)*�"-1�.$,-+.+!",*���,*+"%�'$, .+ �1�3+.��+""!#,.+#�3�**"�11��U'�$+�" �12�+" *(-+"%�4!%,2�/�-666?	
�������	���?	�
���
=��7����	E��7������
�� �V�������VV����������

�����W=�X�������	�X��=�Q���>�Q:��������	�E7��G��7�<�Y�Z�;7����X���
��[���7��Q���>�<�;���� ����������\��������T"�.�+1�'$, .+ ,*�,"-��"%,%+"%�1�11+!"2�$�"!3"�-�1*��'��U'�$.��$6��+ �,�*�K$�(1�3+**�1�,$��.�$���'$!#�"�1.$,.�%+�1�.!���*'�4!(�+/'$!#��4!($�1*��'C1.,$.+"%.!"+%�.6�]!(̂**�*�,$"�3�4�4!(�/,4�)��3,0+"%�(666�����_=�N�[�	E�̀>�a���������9:b����	
�G��7�87��O����

� ���\������V���������/+-1.�.���"!+1��!&�)($"!(.2�1.$�112�,"-�&,.+%(��*+�1�,�'!3�$&(*�.$(.�C3�!�3��.$(*4�,$��,"-�3�,.�3��-��'*4�-�1+$�6�T"�.�+1�('*+&.+"%�,"-�.�!(%�.�'$!#!0+"%.,*02�c�,�S!--�11�+"#+.�1�(1�+".!�,�1', ��!&�666�����d=�̀	����	E�8�����I=�X�I�	���7��Z����e�G��7�<�Y�<��>�[��7�>��� ���V���������������f!+"�3!$*-�$�"!3"�-�,(.�!$�,"-�1'+$+.(,*�*�,-�$����',0�g�!'$,�&!$�,�.$,"1&!$/,.+#��@!($"�4�+".!�.���",.($��!&� !"1 +!(1"�112�'�$ �'.+!"2�,"-�.���&,)$+ �!&$�,*+.4�+.1�*&6�T"�.�+1��4��!'�"+"%�.,*02�g�!666



����������	
��	�
�����
�	�����	
�������������������������	���
���������	����	�	
�	��������	������������������������������	���
��	��������	
���
�����	
����	
	��
��	�����	
�	
��
�������	�����	���������� �!"#�$%&!�%'(�$)#&#'!�*+,,�-"%.#�/0&&+%1&�20!0)#3 �45655���44655�78�9:;;��
���<�	��	�
�����	
���	�	��������	�=������
��>�����?������	�������@�����������������	������������
���������@	�����
	���A
������
��	����������	�
�����	�	
�����	
��B	
��>�������������	���������	����-!�)C!#,,+'DE�-!)%!#DCE�%'(�F''�G%!+�'H�-"%.+'D�!"#�20!0)#��I�2+,J#(�K'!#)!%+'J#'!3 �45655���44655�78�9:;;�	�	��	
����	���������
��������	
��������
������
�����
��������
��	��@��	������������	��	��
	�	
	��	����	������������������	����������������@����	�����	���7����������	����@�����
	������
�	��������-+'L��)�- +JH�M�).�)%!#�-!)%!#D+#&�I�)�*%!#)�/#&+,+#'N#3 �45655���44655�78�9:;���	
�����	
�����������������	
�O�������	���
��	���������	P��?����@����	�����	
����	��7�������	������	��������������������������	������B��	
����
�������
��
�����������
	��������B���	������	��������Q(()#&&+'D�!"#�2+'%'N+%,��#%( +'(&�2%N#(�RC�S#'�T�%'(�U+,,#''+%,&3 �45655���44655�78�9:;V�����7	
���������������	�<�������������	��	�������	�����	������	�
��
	�	�	���
���8����W	��X�����8���	��������		���������	���������@��P�
�	�	��
	��P����	Y��	��
	����
������	�
���
	���?���	��B	�����Z"#�$� #)��I�M�''#N!+�'H�20#,+'D�QI)+N%1&�M)#%!+G#�%'(�F''�G%!+�'�KN�'�JC3 �45655���44655�78�9:;7�
���[���
	����	�������
�	��
	�
	�	����������<�����������������	������	��������
��	
���
������	�������	����;�	����	
�	��������������
	���
�	���	�	���	����������	��	����
	��	�������	�����
���������2%N!��)�2+N!+�'H�2�&!#)+'D�Z)0&!�+'�-N+#'N#3 �45655���44655�78�9:;\����������@�����
����������	��	������
���������	���
������	���	
����B	���@	���������	����@���������������;���������������������	��	�������������@�����	������
��	�����	��	��
	�	�����������
	��	�������Q0!"�)�Z%,LH�]�'%!"%'�K+DE�̂_+'DH�Q�̀+I#̂



� ������������������	
��������������������������������������������� � ������������������	
�!"##$%&'(�)%*�+,"%"#&,�*+-+."/#+%'�.+)*+01�)0+�"/+0)'&%2�&%�)�,"#/.+34�,5)%2&%24�)%*�61,)..(�,"%1'0)&%+*�+0)�75+0+�8$1&%+11�)1�$1$).�9"0�2"-+0%#+%'"/+0)'&"%1�)%*�/0"8.+#�1".-&%2�:$1'�7"%;'�*"<��5+��<<<=>����>���������?�@�A�������B��C���D��E�A��F�GE���F�AH�I��G���� ������������J�����	
��5&1�&%'+0),'&-+�1+11&"%�&1�8)1+*�"%�K5)�L"**+11M�1&3�90"%'&+0�90)#+7"0N4�)�'"".�/0"/"1+*�9"0�0+).&2%&%2�/+01"%).�)%*�/0"9+11&"%).�2").1�7&'5�,"0+�-).$+1<��50"$252$&*+*�0+O+,'&"%�)%*�*&1,$11&"%4�/)0<<<P���Q��R���SH�������T����������������� ����J��������U�J��	��	
��1�'5+�7"0.*�8+,"#+1�&%,0+)1&%2.(�*+-+."/+*�)%*�$08)%&V+*4�6%*&%2�7)(1�&%�75&,5�,&'&+1�,)%�8+,"#+�#"0+�.&-)8.+4�1$1')&%)8.+4�)%*�*&2&')..(�+%)8.+*�&1�)�20"7&%22."8).�,5)..+%2+<�W%�)**&'&"%4�2."8).�,<<<������������X�Y��F���Z�I�������������=����B�Q�G���� ����J��������U�J��	��	
��5+�2)#&%2�&%*$1'0(�&1�+3/+,'+*�'"�0+),5�[J�U�8&..&"%�8(�U�U\4�#)N&%2�&'�"%+�"9�'5+�.)02+1'�1+,'"01�&%�+%'+0')&%#+%'<��5&1�20"7'5�&1�*0&-+%�8(�'5+�&%*$1'0(M1�)8&.&'('"�)''0),'�)�7&*+�)$*&+%,+4�/)0'&,<<<������������T�����B�������F>����]>���G�� ����J��������U�J��	��	
�	"*,)1'1�)0+�0)/&*.(�'0)%19"0#&%2�'5+�*&2&').�#+*&)�.)%*1,)/+4�%"'�"%.(�,5)%2&%2�'5+�7)(�7+�,"%1$#+�,"%'+%'4�8$'�).1"�,0+)'&%2�%+7�)%*�.$,0)'&-+�0+-+%$+"//"0'$%&'&+1�9"0�8$1&%+11+1�)%*�,"%'+%'�,0+)'"<<<C��FBH���������C�F�>���X�=���������T�������>����F���������>�� ����J��������U�J��	��	
�
&1,"-+0�5"7�#&%*9$.%+11�9"1'+01�5+).&%24�0+1&.&+%,+4�)%*�:"(�&%�'5&1�$/.&9'&%2�/)%+.<�̂3/+0'1�7&..�15)0+�'5+&0�"7%�#&%*9$.%+11�/0),'&,+1�)%*�/0),'&,).�1'0)'+2&+1�'"+)1+�1'0+114�0+.+)1+�+#"'&"%).�8$0<<<=F���>���������������>������_����̀������ ����J��������U�J��	��	
�



���������	��	������
�����������������������	�����������	����������
��������	��������������������������������������	��	��
���	��	����	���	��	����	�	�����	���	���	�����	�����	���������	�
�	�����	������ !"�#$%&'()'*�+,*&(-.�/''0%&1)0'.�&'$�/23&(14 �55678�9:�;�5<678�=:�=>?=�������@	����	���������������	��	�����	��	�����������	����	����A����������������@�B���	�	������C���	�����	��DA�BC�E��������
�������������	��������������	���������������
	��9�������������������������#F1G0H�I&JK"�L&MM)�NG&H0'��H0F!.�OIG,�#2,'�PQQ,(1O4 �55678�9:�;�5<678�=:�=>?N(&J)'*��022F')1-�L,!)J),'(,�#(H0!!��0H$,H!"� !,��&!,!�Q0H�+0!�#'*,J,!�&'$��,-0'$�R/'%)1,�0'J-S4 �55678�9:�;�5<678�=:�=>?T��	���U������������	��	���	�	��	��	��������	�����	������������	�	��	����	�	������
�������
�����	������
�������
����	�
���	����������	����?	�����	6�A���������
����	��V�	;�����	�����������	������W)!!)0'�%!�W&'$&1,"��&J&'()'*�N1&K,G0J$,H�/'1,H,!1�&'$�X31)2)Y)'*�L,1FH'!�R/'%)1,�0'J-S4 �55678�9:�;�5<678�=:�=>?9�������������������	�����������	����������Z	��	��������	���������	�����	�����	���������@	�������������;����	���	���������T��������	���
���	�����	����������	���	������
��	�������	�������������	�������IG,�N10H-�0Q�[0F"�#�\0FH',-�)'10�1G,� '$,H(FHH,'1�0Q�[0FH�+)Q,4 �5<688�;�5<678�=:�=>?]�������	����������̂����	�����	����������
��	������������Z�����������	U	����	�������	������
���	�����������	���	����
�@	���	�	������������	6��	������;���	�����������	��	�������������	V������IG,�_&1G�10��,&J)'*�&'$�IHF,�+0%,4 �5<678�;�5688�=:�=>?>�����	���	��������������	������	�����	��������	��;������	���������������	�������������̀�����	�������	���	�����	�
	��	��	�����������;���	�������
������������������������������B���������	���
������0a,$�+F'(G�_)(KF34 �5<678�;�5678�=:�=>?



��������	
������������������	��
������� ������������������� !�"�#$%&'�#()%)�*)!�"%)�$+,)!�,"-.(,�,$�/,$-.(�0,�$-,1�"!'�2))3�)*$,0$!4�(0'')!5�,()�3%)44-%)4�$+�&0+)�6"!�+))&�04$&",0!.�"!'�$7)%#()&*0!.8�9,-'0)4�4($#�,(",���0!:�*)!�);3)%0)!6)�*)!,"&�()"&,(�6("&&888<����
�=����
��>���?�
�����@	������<���A��B� ��������C����������D-4,�'"E4�0!,$�C�C:5�F$4�G!.)&)4�#"4�4,%-62�HE�$!)�$+�,()�*$4,�')7"4,",0!.�I%)45�0!�0,4�(04,$%E5�#(06(�,%0..)%)'�6%0,06"&�6$!7)%4",0$!4�%)."%'0!.�,()�60,EJ4�%)40&0)!6)0!�,()�+"6)�$+�"!�0!6%)"40!.�%0888����K�L�����������M�������N��O�����P��@��Q�������������@�������	�R�S�	�R�@��Q������T��B� ��������C�����������(04�*-4,�4))�)7)!,�#0&&�4($#6"4)�,()�,%"!4+$%*",07)�3$#)%�$+�)!,%)3%)!)-%4(03�+$%�4$60"&�.$$'8�U0,(�"!�)&)6,%0+E0!.�",*$43()%)�$+�"!,0603",0$!�"!'�6)&)H%",0$!5E$-J&&�#0,!)44�,()�0!6%)'0H&)�V$-%!)E�$888?�����	���
�	���	������������������
��?W� ��������C�����������()�6$4,�"44$60",)'�#0,(�6(%$!06�'04)"4)�04�)4,0*",)'�,$�%)"6(�XYZ�,%0&&0$!�#$%&'#0')�HE�C���8��04)"4)4�&02)�'0"H),)45�()"%,�'04)"4)5�4,%$2)5�"!'�6"!6)%�6$!,0!-)�,$%"!2�"4�,()�*"V$%�6"-4)4�$+�')",(�"888?�������	N��[��P	N����P�	\�][�
��	�[�	�T	]� ��������C������������B̂ ��R�	�R�����S�_	�̀L�R����<�������
�=�	_���B������T�R�̀�����	��T��������	�a����	�	�R����b����R�=�	����cW�A������Bd� ��������C����������e$%�')6"')45�f$&&E#$$'�"!'�,()�)!,)%,"0!*)!,�0!'-4,%E�("7)�4)%7)'�"4�"�6$%)�6$*3$!)!,�$+�,()�g"&0+$%!0"�)6$!$*E5�"4�#)&&�"4�"�2)E�)6$!$*06�"!'�6-&,-%"&�);3$%,+$%�,()�h!0,)'�9,",)48�i-,�"4�6$4,4�("7)�888<�A��	�Q	�����K	������[�O<��N��
�W��	����@���O���j����<���A��B�cW�A������Bd� ��������C�����������(04�3"!)&�%)7040,4�$-%�4-66)44+-&�C�����Y�0!0,0",07)�,(",�H%$-.(,�,$.),()%� 4%")&0�%).-&",$%45�);6("!.)�&)"')%45�0!7)4,$%45�"!'�)6$!$*04,4�,$�)!("!6)� 4%")&k46"30,"&�*"%2),4�"!'�%)6)!,�C�CY�:�%).0$!888



��������	�
��������������������������������
� ������������������� �!��"��������������	�
��������������������������������
� ������������������������������"
�������#
"
$������
��������%��
�#���
���&����"� ���'(���(����������)*+,-.-/�012�3455233�+6�+4*����(�78+9:8�)+-62*2-52;�:88�+6�43�:0�012��.8<2-�=-30.0402�:*2�01*.882>�0+�,285+?2�7*:??@�:,:*>�,.--2*3�A.82�B+>/2*3�C�)1.5;�8+D2>:->�:>?.*2>�,+*8>,.>2�6+*�0.?28233�1.03;�.EEE



 

 

MEKETA.COM 

March 2025 Report 

 

Economic and Market Update 

 



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Commentary 

In the first quarter of 2025, investment flows rotated out of US stocks to non-US stocks while bond markets 
rallied on uncertainty related to tariffs and growth. 

→ Domestic equities sold off in the first quarter (Russell 3000: -4.7%) with growth underperforming value, small-cap 
trailing large-cap, and defensive sectors outperforming.  

→ Non-US developed market stocks (MSCI EAFE: +6.9%) outperformed US markets at the start of the year, 
supported by rate cuts from the ECB, EU planned increases in defense spending, and a weakening US dollar. 

→ Emerging market equities returned +2.9% in the first quarter, largely supported by a rally in Chinese stocks (they 
rose an impressive +15.0%) on DeepSeek AI enthusiasm. 

→ In February, the Federal Reserve held rates steady with inflation, while improving, remaining above target and with 
the unemployment rate at near historic lows. 

→ Most fixed income markets posted positive returns in the first quarter with the broad bond market (Bloomberg 
Aggregate) up 2.8%. Long Treasuries (+4.7%) were the best performer in the falling rate environment while high 
yield bonds (+1.0%) produced the smallest gains given the economic uncertainty in the US.  

→ Looking ahead, continued uncertainty related to the US administration’s tariff policies and their impact on the 
economy, inflation, and Fed policy will be key. The path of China’s economy and relations with the US, as well as 
concerns over elevated valuations and technology-driven concentration in the US equity market will also be 
important focuses of 2025.  

Page 2 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Index Returns1 

→ At the end of the first quarter, global investors rotated away from the US, with domestic equities in negative territory 
(particularly small cap), while other asset classes were positive.  

→ Commodities led the way during the quarter due to safe havens like gold, while non-US developed markets 
followed, driven by strong results in Europe. 

→ In March, ahead of tariff announcements in the US, riskier assets generally sold off.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2025. 

Q1 March 
 

3.9%

1.6%

1.0%

0.6%

0.6%

0.0%

-0.4%

-1.0%

-3.6%

-4.0%

-5.6%

-5.8%

-6.8%

Bloomberg Commodity Index

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified

Bloomberg Short-Term TIPS

Bloomberg US TIPS

MSCI Emerging Markets

Bloomberg Aggregate

MSCI EAFE

Bloomberg High Yield

FTSE NAREIT Equity

MSCI ACWI

S&P 500

Russell 3000

Russell 2000

8.9%

6.9%

4.3%

4.2%

3.0%

2.9%

2.8%

1.0%

0.9%

-1.3%

-4.3%

-4.7%

-9.5%

Bloomberg Commodity Index

MSCI EAFE

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified

Bloomberg US TIPS

Bloomberg Short-Term TIPS

MSCI Emerging Markets

Bloomberg Aggregate

Bloomberg High Yield

FTSE NAREIT Equity

MSCI ACWI

S&P 500

Russell 3000

Russell 2000

Page 3 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Domestic Equity Returns1 
 

Domestic Equity 

March 

(%) 
Q1 
(%) 

1 YR 
(%) 

3 YR 
(%) 

5 YR 
(%) 

10 YR 
(%) 

S&P 500 -5.6 -4.3 8.3 9.1 18.6 12.5 

Russell 3000 -5.8 -4.7 7.2 8.2 18.2 11.8 

Russell 1000 -5.8 -4.5 7.8 8.6 18.4 12.2 

Russell 1000 Growth -8.4 -10.0 7.8 10.1 20.1 15.1 

Russell 1000 Value -2.8 2.1 7.2 6.6 16.1 8.8 

Russell MidCap -4.6 -3.4 2.6 4.6 16.3 8.8 

Russell MidCap Growth -7.4 -7.1 3.6 6.2 14.8 10.1 

Russell MidCap Value -3.7 -2.1 2.3 3.8 16.7 7.6 

Russell 2000 -6.8 -9.5 -4.0 0.5 13.3 6.3 

Russell 2000 Growth -7.6 -11.1 -4.9 0.8 10.8 6.1 

Russell 2000 Value -6.0 -7.7 -3.1 0.0 15.3 6.1 

US Equities: In the first quarter the Russell 3000 fell -4.7%.  

→ After a strong start to the year, US equities ended the quarter lower. In late January China’s DeepSeek introduced 
an AI model comparable to market leaders but at a much lower cost. This took investors by surprise and heavily 
weighed on technology stocks, particularly the “Magnificent 7”. Renewed trade tensions between the US and its 
trading partners  also caused investors to lower expectations.  

→ Growth stocks were harder hit than value stocks across the market cap spectrum. In the large cap space, this 
dynamic was driven by technology stocks (NVIDIA, Broadcom, Microsoft, Apple), along with Tesla. In the small cap 
space, where the divergence was less pronounced, technology stocks were again the driver, mainly due to software 
and semiconductor stocks.  

→ Small cap stocks (Russell 2000) trailed large cap stocks (Russell 1000) over the quarter as recession fears grew. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2025. 

Page 4 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Russell 3000 Sector Returns1 

 

→ There was wide performance dispersion among sectors in the first quarter, from -13.0% (technology) to 
+8.5% (consumer staples). Overall, the defensive sectors performed better than growth-oriented sectors.   

→ The so-called “Magnificent 7” stocks came under pressure weighing on both the technology and consumer 
discretionary sectors. The announcement of DeepSeek out of China and weak results from Tesla and Amazon 
drove results.   

→ Consumer staples was a bright spot as more defensive, dividend-paying stocks, such as Coca-Cola and 
Philip Morris International, fared relatively well. Energy and utilities also performed well due to broader growth and 
inflation concerns.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2025. 

-2.3%

-8.8%

1.1%
3.1%

-4.6%
-2.7%

-5.1%

-9.6%

-1.4%

0.0%

-5.8%

3.8%

-10.5%

8.5%
6.6%

1.8%
3.5%

-3.0%

-13.0%

4.2% 5.2%

-4.7%

-20%

-10%

0%

10%

B
a

s
ic

 M
a
te

ri
a
ls

C
o

n
s
u

m
e

r 
D

is
c
re

ti
o

n
a
ry

C
o

n
s
u

m
e

r 
S

ta
p

le
s

E
n

e
rg

y

F
in

a
n

c
ia

ls

H
e

a
lt

h
 C

a
re

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
ls

T
e
c

h
n

o
lo

g
y

T
e
le

c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a
ti

o
n

s

U
ti

li
ti

e
s

R
u

s
s

e
ll
 3

0
0

0

March Q1

Page 5 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

 Foreign Equity Returns1 
 

Foreign Equity 

March 

(%) 

Q1 

(%) 
1 YR 
(%) 

3 YR 
(%) 

5 YR 
(%) 

10 YR 
(%) 

MSCI ACWI Ex US -0.2 5.2 6.1 4.5 10.9 5.0 

MSCI EAFE -0.4 6.9 4.9 6.0 11.8 5.4 

MSCI EAFE (Local Currency) -2.8 2.9 4.1 8.7 13.2 6.3 

MSCI EAFE Small Cap 0.5 3.7 3.1 0.9 9.9 5.3 

MSCI Emerging Markets 0.6 2.9 8.1 1.4 7.9 3.7 

MSCI Emerging Markets (Local Currency) 0.3 2.7 11.1 4.7 9.6 5.7 

MSCI EM ex China 0.0 -1.7 -2.1 0.7 12.0 4.5 

MSCI China 2.0 15.0 40.4 3.5 1.5 2.5 

Foreign Equity: Developed international equities (MSCI EAFE) returned 6.9% in the first quarter and emerging 
market equities (MSCI Emerging Markets) rose 2.9%.  

→ By contrast to the US, developed market equities rose in the first quarter benefiting from the rotation away from 
US technology companies. Eurozone stocks saw the highest returns, driven by plans in Germany to increase 
defense and infrastructure spending, strong gains in the financial sector (particularly banks), and continued rate 
cuts from the ECB. The UK followed closely behind, with gains led by returns in large cap energy and financials. 
Japan saw moderate losses, due to global trade uncertainties hurting exporters. 

→ Emerging markets saw modest gains in the first quarter, driven largely by China. China’s gains were a combination 
of improving sentiment towards tech following DeepSeek’s promising AI debut and the announcement of additional 
stimulus measures. Brazil was another strong performer in Q1, benefitting from strong commodity gains and a 
strengthening currency. India saw declines due to slowing growth and weakening demand for their exports. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2025. 

Page 6 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Equity Cyclically Adjusted P/E Ratios1 

 

→ Valuations in US stocks came down over the quarter but remained at a significant premium to non-US developed 
and emerging market stocks. 

→ US equities, priced at 35.6 times earnings, continued to trade well above their long-run P/E average of 28.3.  

→ Non-US developed market valuations (21.2 times) increased over the quarter due in part to strong results in Europe 
and are trading slightly above their long-term average. Emerging market valuations (15.1 times) also increased in 
Q1 but remain below their long-run average.   

 
1  US Equity Cyclically Adjusted P/E on S&P 500 Index. Source: Robert Shiller, Yale University, and Meketa Investment Group. Developed and Emerging Market Equity (MSCI EAFE and EM Index) Cyclically Adjusted P/E Source: Bloomberg. Earnings 

figures represent the average of monthly “as reported” earnings over the previous ten years. Data is as of March 2025. The average line is the long-term average of the US, EM, and EAFE PE values from April 1998 to the recent month-end, 
respectively. 

Page 7 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Fixed Income Returns1 

Fixed Income 
March 

(%) 

 

Q1 

(%) 
1 Yr 
(%) 

3 YR 
(%) 

5 YR 
(%) 

10 YR 
(%) 

Current 
Yield 
(%) 

Duration 
(Years) 

Bloomberg Universal 0.0 2.7 5.2 1.0 0.3 1.8 4.9 5.9 

Bloomberg Aggregate 0.0 2.8 4.9 0.5 -0.4 1.5 4.6 6.1 

Bloomberg US TIPS 0.6 4.2 6.2 0.1 2.4 2.5 4.2 6.8 

Bloomberg Short-term TIPS 1.0 3.0 7.0 3.2 4.1 2.8 4.1 2.4 

Bloomberg US Long Treasury -0.9 4.7 1.3 -7.2 -7.9 -0.6 4.6 14.9 

Bloomberg High Yield -1.0 1.0 7.7 5.0 7.3 5.0 7.7 3.5 

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified (USD) 1.6 4.3 4.0 2.7 2.3 1.3 -- -- 

Fixed Income: The Bloomberg Universal index rose 2.7% in the first quarter. 

→ Uncertainty related to tariffs and growing worries about economic growth drove investors to high quality bonds over 
the quarter.  

→ The broad US bond market (Bloomberg Aggregate) rose 2.8% with both short- (+3.0%) and longer-dated (+4.2%) 
TIPS outperforming as inflation risks rose modestly. Long-term Treasuries (+4.7%) particularly benefited in this 
environment of uncertainty and falling interest rates. 

→ High yield bonds (+1.0%) rose the least during the quarter as uncertainty and risk aversion grew ahead of the 
planned tariff announcement from the US in early April.   

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2025. The yield and duration data from Bloomberg is defined as the index’s yield to worst and modified duration, respectively. JPM GBI-EM data is from J.P. Morgan. Current yield and duration data is not 

available. 

Page 8 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

US Yield Curve1 

 

→ US Treasury yields declined significantly over the quarter, as investors expressed concerns about the potential 
policies of the new US administration, economic data related to consumers weakened, and overall growth 
expectations fell.  

→ The more policy sensitive 2-year Treasury yield fell from 4.24% to 3.89%, while the 10-year Treasury yield declined 
from 4.57% to 4.21%.  

→ After the Fed started reducing interest rates in September 2024, the yield curve stopped being inverted (short-term 
interest rates higher than long-term interest rates) given expectations for inflation to continue to decline and policy 
rates to continue lower.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2025. The August 2024 Treasury yields are shown as a reference before the first interest rate cut. 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

3M 6M 1Y 2Y 5Y 7Y 10Y 30Y

8/31/2024 3/31/2025

Page 9 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

 Stress is Building on US Consumers 

Total Balance by Delinquency Status1 Transition into Serious Delinquency for Credit Cards by Age2 

→ Some signs of stress on the US consumer have started to emerge given persistently higher prices and interest 
rates. 

→ After falling to historic lows during the pandemic, loan delinquencies recently started rising.  

→ While some segments of the credit market have started to show signs of stress, total delinquencies remain well 
below pre-pandemic levels.  

→ While total delinquency rates are below pre-pandemic levels, the credit card segment is showing more signs of 
distress where borrowers are subject to variable and higher borrowing costs. 

→ Credit card delinquencies are rising rapidly, especially for borrowers under the age of forty.   

 
1 Source: New York Federal Reserve, Quarterly Household Debt and Credit Report, February 2025. See also FRED. Data is as of February 28, 2025. 
2 Source: FRED. Data is as of February 28, 2025. 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

30 days late 60 days late 90 days late 120+ days late Severely Derogatory

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70+ All

Page 10 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Credit Spreads vs. US Treasury Bonds1 

 

→ Given all the uncertainty, spreads (the yield above a comparable maturity Treasury) widened in the first quarter.  

→ High yield spreads moved the most (2.9% to 3.5%) due to the concerns related to the US economy. 

→ All yield spreads remained below their respective long-run averages, particularly high yield (3.5% versus 4.9%).  

→ Although spreads are tight, absolute bond yields remain at above-average levels compared to the last two decades.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as March 31, 2025. Average lines denote the average of the investment grade, high yield, and emerging market spread values from September 2002 to the recent month-end, respectively. 

Page 11 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Equity and Fixed Income Volatility1 

 

→ Bond and equity volatility rose in the first quarter driven mainly by policy and trade uncertainty. 

→ Volatility levels (VIX) in the US stock market and bond market (MOVE) finished the quarter above their respective 
long-run averages.   

 
1 Equity Volatility – Source: FRED. Fixed Income Volatility – Source: Bloomberg. Implied volatility as measured using VIX Index for equity markets and the MOVE Index to measure interest rate volatility for fixed income markets. Data is as of 

March 31, 2025. The average line indicated is the average of the VIX and MOVE values between January 2000 and March 2025. 

Page 12 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

US Ten-Year Breakeven Inflation and CPI1 

 

→ While inflation has been slow to return to the Fed’s 2% average target, over the quarter the year-over-year rate fell 
from 2.9% to 2.4%. The month-over-month rate moved into negative territory at quarter-end (-0.1%). A slowing in 
the rate of increase in the services sector along with a drop in energy prices contributed to the recent decline.  

→ Core inflation year-over-year also declined over the quarter (3.2% to 2.8%) with the month-over-month rate slowing 
to 0.1%. A decline in the pace of shelter price increases drove results.  

→ Inflation expectations (breakevens) stayed relatively stable over the quarter as investors continued to evaluate the 
potential inflationary impacts of the new US administration’s policies.  
  

 
1 Source: FRED. Data is as of March 2025. The CPI and 10 Year Breakeven average lines denote the average values from February 1997 to the present month-end, respectively. Breakeven values represent month-end values for comparative 

purposes. 

Page 13 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Global Inflation (CPI Trailing Twelve Months)1 

 

→ Inflation in the eurozone fell over the quarter (2.4% to 2.2%), due largely to declines in energy costs and services. 
Levels remain slightly below the US.  

→ The latest reading of inflation in Japan dropped from 4.0% to 3.7% as energy subsidies were reintroduced.  

→ In China, despite record policy stimulus consumer prices moved back into negative territory over the quarter. In 
March, prices fell by 0.1% compared to a year prior, a lower decline than the February reading of -0.7%. Despite 
years of policy stimulus to counter the real estate crisis and economy, the Chinese consumer has remained weak. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as March 2025, except Japan which is as of February 2025.  

Page 14 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

US Unemployment1 

 

→ In March, the US added 228,000 jobs (above expectations of 140,000). The unemployment rate rose slightly to 
4.2% but remained in the tight range of 4.0% to 4.2% it has been in since May of last year. There were 7.1 million 
jobseekers (little changed from the prior reading) of which 1.5 million have been without work for more than 
27 weeks.  

→ A broader measure of total unemployed (U-6) that includes those marginally attached to the labor force and 
employed part-time for economic reasons, fell slightly to 7.9%. 

→ Health care (+54k), social assistance (+24k), retail (+24k), and transportation (+23k) added jobs in March while the 
Federal government lost 4,000 jobs adding to the 11,000 lost in February.    

→ The last reading of job opening fell slightly to 7.6 million, a level well below the pandemic highs (>12 million); the 
number of openings exceeded the number of unemployed workers looking for work (7.1 million).  

→ Separations (5.3 million) and hires (5.4 million) remained steady and average hourly wages continued to grow at 
approximately 4.0% annually.   

 
1 Source: FRED and BLS. Data is as of March 31, 2025. 

Page 15 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Policy Rates1 

 

→ The Fed kept US interest rates steady at their March meeting after reducing rates by 0.25% twice over the final 
quarter of 2024 to a range of 4.25% to 4.50%. Given growing concerns about growth, markets recently increased 
expectations for the number of rate cuts in 2025 to over three. 

→ In February, the Bank of England cut interest rates for the third time by 0.25% to 4.5%, while in March the 
European Central Bank cut rates by another 0.25% to 2.5%. In addition to cutting interest rates, the People’s Bank 
of China has also reduced reserve requirements, lowered mortgage rates, and supported the stock market. 

→ In contrast to many other central banks, the Bank of Japan increased interest rates in January to 0.5%, in the face 
of persistent inflation. Rate cutting by other major central banks are complicating prospects for further policy rate 
hikes in Japan.   

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2025. United States rate is the mid-point of the Federal Funds Target Rate range. Eurozone rate is the ECB Deposit Facility Announcement Rate. Japan rate is the Bank of Japan Unsecured Overnight 

Call Rate Expected. China rate is the China Central Bank 1-Year Medium Term Interest Rate. UK rate is the UK Bank of England Official Bank Rate. 

Page 16 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

US Dollar vs. Broad Currencies1 

 

→ After largely strengthening through 2024, the US dollar recently started to weaken. 

→ Concerns over changing US administration policies, slower growth, and corresponding lower yields have recently 
weighed on the value of the dollar.   

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data as of March 31, 2025. 

Page 17 of 19



 

Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Summary 

Key Trends: 

→ According to the International Monetary Fund’s (IMF) January report, global growth in 2025 is expected to be 
slightly higher than 2024 (3.3% versus 3.2%). Growth forecast in the US (+2.7%) and China (+4.6%) are lower for 
this year compared to last, while growth in the EU (+1.0%) is projected to be slightly higher in 2025. 

→ Elevated levels of uncertainty along with higher tariffs could weigh on growth while at the same time fan inflation. 
Inflation levels will likely lead to a slower pace of interest rate cuts by the Fed. Uncertainty in the US and the 
potential for slower growth could continue the rotation out of US assets and the pressure on the dollar. 

→ Signs of stress have started to emerge on the US consumer with sentiment weakening. Consumers are particularly 
concerned about losing their jobs and the potential for higher prices. Overall risk to economic growth and to inflation 
from tariffs, as well as elevated borrowing costs, could put further pressure on consumers and lead to a weaker job 
market. 

→ US equities have recently come under pressure. A focus going forward will be whether earnings can remain resilient 
if growth slows. Also, the future paths of the large technology companies that have driven market gains will continue 
to be important.  

→ Trade tensions between the US and China will remain a key focus. As tariffs have soared on both sides, China has 
allowed its currency to weaken against the dollar. Outside of tariffs, China continues to focus on supporting its 
economy/asset prices with a suite of fiscal and financial policy stimulus measures. Advances in AI technologies 
have also contributed to some optimism. Despite the policy support, consumer spending is still weak and issues 
remain in the real estate sector.  

Page 18 of 19



 
Disclaimer 

 

 

 

MEKETA.COM 
 

THIS REPORT (THE “REPORT”) HAS BEEN PREPARED FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”).  

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT, AND IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR 
RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT. THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN, INCLUDING ANY OPINIONS OR 
RECOMMENDATIONS, REPRESENTS OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY 
TIME. ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK, AND THERE CAN BE NO GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS 
DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

THE INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT MAY HAVE BEEN OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND 
OTHER EXTERNAL SOURCES. SOME OF THIS REPORT MAY HAVE BEEN PRODUCED WITH THE ASSISTANCE OF ARTIFICIAL 
INTELLIGENCE (“AI”) TECHNOLOGY. WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT 
GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY, ADEQUACY, VALIDITY, RELIABILITY, AVAILABILITY, OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY INFORMATION 
CONTAINED HEREIN, WHETHER OBTAINED EXTERNALLY OR PRODUCED BY THE AI. 

THE RECIPIENT SHOULD BE AWARE THAT THIS REPORT MAY INCLUDE AI-GENERATED CONTENT THAT MAY NOT HAVE CONSIDERED 
ALL RISK FACTORS. THE RECIPIENT IS ADVISED TO CONSULT WITH THEIR MEKETA ADVISOR OR ANOTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVISOR 
BEFORE MAKING ANY FINANCIAL DECISIONS OR TAKING ANY ACTION BASED ON THE CONTENT OF THIS REPORT. WE BELIEVE THE 
INFORMATION TO BE FACTUAL AND UP TO DATE BUT DO NOT ASSUME ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR ERRORS OR OMISSIONS IN THE 
CONTENT PRODUCED. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL WE BE LIABLE FOR ANY SPECIAL, DIRECT, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, 
OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES OR ANY DAMAGES WHATSOEVER, WHETHER IN AN ACTION OF CONTRACT, NEGLIGENCE, OR OTHER TORT, 
ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE USE OF THIS CONTENT. IT IS IMPORTANT FOR THE RECIPIENT TO CRITICALLY 
EVALUATE THE INFORMATION PROVIDED. 

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE 
IDENTIFIED BY THE USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM,” “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” 
“ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” “CONTINUE,” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE 
TERMINOLOGY. ANY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS REPORT ARE 
BASED UPON CURRENT ASSUMPTIONS. CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS. ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY 
DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS REPORT. 

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE. PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE 
RESULTS. 

 

Page 19 of 19



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

April 30, 2025

March Flash Report



Policy Current

0.0%

3.7%
9.0%

8.4%0.0%

4.3%
10.0%

1.3%

51.0%

24.7%

5.0%

14.1%

25.0% 43.6%

Allocation vs. Targets and Policy

Balance
($)

Current
(%)

Long-Term
Policy

(%)
Difference

(%)

Interim
Policy

(%)

Policy
Range

(%)

Within
Range?

Domestic Equity 200,126,910 43.6 25.0 18.6 34.0 15.0 - 35.0 No¢£

International Equity 64,519,979 14.1 5.0 9.1 12.0 2.0 - 22.0 Yes¢£

Fixed Income 113,106,700 24.7 51.0 -26.3 44.0 31.0 - 71.0 No¢£

Credit 5,962,886 1.3 10.0 -8.7 0.0 0.0 - 16.0 Yes¢£

Covered Calls 19,552,021 4.3 0.0 4.3 0.0 0.0 - 5.0 Yes¢£

Crisis Risk Offset 38,427,918 8.4 9.0 -0.6 10.0 4.0 - 14.0 Yes¢£

Cash 16,909,205 3.7 0.0 3.7 0.0 0.0 - 5.0 Yes¢£

Total 458,605,619 100.0 100.0 0.0 100.0

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

 As of March 31, 2025

The new asset allocation policy established after the completion of the 2023 Asset-Liability Study became effective in July 2024. The asset classes may be out of policy ranges due to pending transitions.

Page 2 of 16 



Asset Class Performance Summary

Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

1 Mo
(%)

QTD
(%)

FYTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

Inception
Date

OPFRS Total Plan 458,605,619 100.0 -2.4 -0.1 3.9 4.1 3.8 9.3 6.5 6.6 Dec-88

      OPFRS Policy Benchmark -2.0 0.4 4.3 5.8 5.0 9.5 6.9 7.9

            Excess Return -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -1.6 -1.2 -0.2 -0.4 -1.3

  Domestic Equity 200,126,910 43.6 -5.1 -3.8 3.8 4.2 6.0 16.3 10.4 9.0 Jun-97

      Russell 3000 (Blend) -5.8 -4.7 3.9 7.2 8.2 18.2 11.8 9.5

            Excess Return 0.8 0.9 -0.1 -3.1 -2.3 -1.9 -1.4 -0.5

  International Equity 64,519,979 14.1 0.8 6.9 7.8 7.9 6.5 11.9 6.2 5.6 Jan-98

      MSCI ACWI ex US (Blend) -0.2 5.2 5.1 6.1 4.5 10.9 5.0 5.3

            Excess Return 1.0 1.6 2.7 1.8 2.0 1.0 1.2 0.4

  Fixed Income 113,106,700 24.7 -0.1 2.9 4.8 5.0 0.9 0.9 1.9 4.5 Jan-94

      Fixed Income & Credit Benchmark 0.0 2.8 5.2 5.4 1.1 0.3 1.8 4.5

            Excess Return -0.1 0.1 -0.3 -0.4 -0.2 0.6 0.1 -0.1

  Credit 5,962,886 1.3 -1.0 0.5 4.3 5.3 4.4 9.3 5.0 5.1 Feb-15

      Blmbg. U.S. Corp: High Yield Index -1.0 1.0 6.5 7.7 5.0 7.3 5.0 5.1

            Excess Return 0.0 -0.5 -2.3 -2.4 -0.6 2.0 0.0 0.0

  Covered Calls 19,552,021 4.3 -5.0 -3.2 4.2 7.9 7.2 15.3 9.6 9.3 Apr-14

      Cboe S&P 500 Buy Write Index -4.6 -3.1 8.2 9.8 4.6 11.7 6.4 6.3

            Excess Return -0.3 -0.1 -4.0 -1.9 2.6 3.7 3.2 3.0

  Crisis Risk Offset 38,427,918 8.4 0.1 2.6 -2.8 -4.3 -2.3 -5.4 -- -6.4 Aug-18

      Crisis Risk Offset Benchmark -0.2 1.2 -0.6 -2.0 3.6 2.2 -- 0.5

            Excess Return 0.2 1.4 -2.2 -2.3 -6.0 -7.6 -- -6.9

  Cash 16,909,205 3.7 0.2 0.4 0.8 1.1 0.4 0.2 0.8 0.6 Mar-11

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Asset Class Performance Summary | As of March 31, 2025

Performance shown is net of fees, except for Total Plan, Domestic Equity, and International Equity composites which have a mix of gross and net of fees performance. Please see the Addendum for more details.
Since inception date and performance begin in the month following an investment's initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1. Please see Benchmark History section for custom benchmark compositions.

Page 3 of 16 



Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

1 Mo
(%)

QTD
(%)

FYTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

Inception
Date

OPFRS Total Plan 458,605,619 100.0 -2.4 -0.1 3.9 4.1 3.8 9.3 6.5 6.6 Dec-88

      OPFRS Policy Benchmark -2.0 0.4 4.3 5.8 5.0 9.5 6.9 7.9

            Excess Return -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -1.6 -1.2 -0.2 -0.4 -1.3

  Domestic Equity 200,126,910 43.6 -5.1 -3.8 3.8 4.2 6.0 16.3 10.4 9.0 Jun-97

      Russell 3000 (Blend) -5.8 -4.7 3.9 7.2 8.2 18.2 11.8 9.5

            Excess Return 0.8 0.9 -0.1 -3.1 -2.3 -1.9 -1.4 -0.5

    Northern Trust Russell 1000 104,907,537 22.9 -5.8 -4.5 4.1 7.8 8.5 18.3 12.1 13.6 Jun-10

      Russell 1000 Index -5.8 -4.5 4.1 7.8 8.7 18.5 12.2 13.7

            Excess Return 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1

    EARNEST Partners 40,136,600 8.8 -3.9 -3.5 1.1 -4.2 2.5 14.8 10.1 9.0 Apr-06

      Russell Midcap Index -4.6 -3.4 6.1 2.6 4.6 16.3 8.8 8.8

            Excess Return 0.7 -0.1 -5.0 -6.8 -2.1 -1.4 1.3 0.1

    Wellington Select Quality Equity 23,847,070 5.2 -3.1 -0.9 4.7 4.1 -- -- -- 6.9 May-22

      Russell 1000 Index -5.8 -4.5 4.1 7.8 -- -- -- 12.5

            Excess Return 2.6 3.6 0.6 -3.7 -- -- -- -5.5

    Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value 13,664,837 3.0 -4.3 -6.4 2.0 0.5 6.5 -- -- 5.9 Apr-21

      Russell 2000 Value Index -6.0 -7.7 0.5 -3.1 0.0 -- -- 0.9

            Excess Return 1.7 1.4 1.5 3.6 6.5 -- -- 5.1

    Rice Hall James 17,570,865 3.8 -6.6 -2.5 9.4 7.4 3.4 14.4 -- 7.3 Aug-17

      Russell 2000 Growth Index -7.6 -11.1 -2.0 -4.9 0.8 10.8 -- 6.2

            Excess Return 1.0 8.6 11.4 12.3 2.6 3.6 -- 1.0

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Asset Class & Manager Performance | As of March 31, 2025

Performance shown is net of fees, except for Total Plan and Domestic Equity which have a mix of gross and net of fees performance. Please see the Addendum for more details. Since inception date and performance begin in the month
following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1. Please see the Benchmark History for custom benchmark compositions.

Page 4 of 16 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Asset Class & Manager Performance | As of March 31, 2025
Market Value

($)
% of

Portfolio
1 Mo
(%)

QTD
(%)

FYTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

Inception
Date

  International Equity 64,519,979 14.1 0.8 6.9 7.8 7.9 6.5 11.9 6.2 5.6 Jan-98

      MSCI ACWI ex US (Blend) -0.2 5.2 5.1 6.1 4.5 10.9 5.0 5.3

            Excess Return 1.0 1.6 2.7 1.8 2.0 1.0 1.2 0.4

    Vanguard Developed Markets ETF 17,021,188 3.7 0.0 6.8 5.2 4.6 5.3 12.1 -- 7.6 Sep-19

      FTSE Developed All Cap ex-U.S. Index -0.3 5.9 5.0 4.4 5.1 12.2 -- 7.8

            Excess Return 0.3 0.9 0.1 0.2 0.2 -0.1 -- -0.2

    SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity 47,498,791 10.4 1.1 6.9 8.8 9.1 7.1 12.0 -- 6.4 Dec-19

      MSCI AC World ex USA (Net) -0.2 5.2 5.1 6.1 4.5 10.9 -- 5.7

            Excess Return 1.3 1.7 3.7 3.1 2.6 1.0 -- 0.7

  Fixed Income 113,106,700 24.7 -0.1 2.9 4.8 5.0 0.9 0.9 1.9 4.5 Jan-94

      Fixed Income & Credit Benchmark 0.0 2.8 5.2 5.4 1.1 0.3 1.8 4.5

            Excess Return -0.1 0.1 -0.3 -0.4 -0.2 0.6 0.1 -0.1

    Ramirez 76,582,558 16.7 -0.1 2.9 4.7 4.8 0.7 0.9 -- 1.9 Jan-17

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index 0.0 2.8 4.8 4.9 0.5 -0.4 -- 1.6

            Excess Return -0.1 0.1 -0.1 -0.1 0.2 1.3 -- 0.4

    Wellington Core Bond 7,357,994 1.6 -0.1 2.8 5.0 5.4 1.0 -- -- -0.5 Apr-21

      Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index 0.0 2.8 4.8 4.9 0.5 -- -- -0.7

            Excess Return -0.1 0.0 0.2 0.5 0.4 -- -- 0.2

    Reams 29,166,148 6.4 0.0 2.9 5.1 5.4 1.3 1.8 3.0 4.9 Feb-98

      Fixed Income & Credit Benchmark 0.0 2.8 5.2 5.4 1.1 0.3 1.8 4.2

            Excess Return -0.1 0.1 -0.1 0.0 0.2 1.4 1.1 0.7

Performance shown is net of fees, except for International Equity composite which has a mix of gross and net of fees performance. Please see the Addendum for more details. Since inception date and performance begin in the month
following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1. Please see the Benchmark History for custom benchmark compositions.

Page 5 of 16 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Asset Class & Manager Performance | As of March 31, 2025
Market Value

($)
% of

Portfolio
1 Mo
(%)

QTD
(%)

FYTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

Inception
Date

  Credit 5,962,886 1.3 -1.0 0.5 4.3 5.3 4.4 9.3 5.0 5.1 Feb-15

      Blmbg. U.S. Corp: High Yield Index -1.0 1.0 6.5 7.7 5.0 7.3 5.0 5.1

            Excess Return 0.0 -0.5 -2.3 -2.4 -0.6 2.0 0.0 0.0

    Polen Capital 5,962,886 1.3 -1.0 0.5 4.3 5.3 4.4 9.3 5.0 5.1 Feb-15

      ICE BofA U.S.  High Yield Index -1.1 0.9 6.4 7.6 4.8 7.2 4.9 5.0

            Excess Return 0.1 -0.4 -2.2 -2.3 -0.5 2.1 0.1 0.1

  Covered Calls 19,552,021 4.3 -5.0 -3.2 4.2 7.9 7.2 15.3 9.6 9.3 Apr-14

      Cboe S&P 500 Buy Write Index -4.6 -3.1 8.2 9.8 4.6 11.7 6.4 6.3

            Excess Return -0.3 -0.1 -4.0 -1.9 2.6 3.7 3.2 3.0

    Parametric BXM 9,387,805 2.0 -4.6 -2.7 4.7 7.5 6.5 12.7 7.8 7.5 Apr-14

      Cboe S&P 500 Buy Write Index -4.6 -3.1 8.2 9.8 4.6 11.7 6.4 6.3

            Excess Return 0.1 0.4 -3.5 -2.3 1.9 1.0 1.4 1.2

    Parametric DeltaShift 10,164,216 2.2 -5.4 -3.7 3.7 8.3 8.0 17.8 11.1 11.2 Apr-14

      Cboe S&P 500 Buy Write Index -4.6 -3.1 8.2 9.8 4.6 11.7 6.4 6.3

            Excess Return -0.7 -0.6 -4.5 -1.5 3.4 6.1 4.7 4.9

Performance shown is net of fees. Since inception date and performance begin in the month following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1. Please see the Benchmark History for custom benchmark compositions.

Page 6 of 16 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Asset Class & Manager Performance | As of March 31, 2025
Market Value

($)
% of

Portfolio
1 Mo
(%)

QTD
(%)

FYTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

Inception
Date

  Crisis Risk Offset 38,427,918 8.4 0.1 2.6 -2.8 -4.3 -2.3 -5.4 -- -6.4 Aug-18

      Crisis Risk Offset Benchmark -0.2 1.2 -0.6 -2.0 3.6 2.2 -- 0.5

            Excess Return 0.2 1.4 -2.2 -2.3 -6.0 -7.6 -- -6.9

    Kepos Alternative Risk Premia 13,950,501 3.0 4.0 11.4 15.1 15.5 12.6 -- -- 11.1 Feb-22

      SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index 2.1 3.8 5.1 5.7 8.3 -- -- 7.5

            Excess Return 2.0 7.6 10.0 9.8 4.2 -- -- 3.6

    Versor Trend Following 11,662,822 2.5 -3.3 -8.2 -22.2 -24.6 -8.0 -- -- -8.0 Apr-22

      SG Trend Index -1.7 -4.7 -10.0 -12.9 0.5 -- -- 0.5

            Excess Return -1.7 -3.6 -12.2 -11.7 -8.5 -- -- -8.5

    Vanguard Long-Term Treasury ETF 12,814,596 2.8 -0.9 4.8 3.1 1.4 -7.4 -8.0 -- -3.2 Jul-19

      Blmbg. U.S. Gov Long Index -0.9 4.7 3.1 1.3 -7.2 -7.8 -- -3.2

            Excess Return 0.0 0.1 -0.1 0.1 -0.2 -0.2 -- 0.0

  Cash 16,909,205 3.7 0.2 0.4 0.8 1.1 0.4 0.2 0.8 0.6 Mar-11

Performance shown is net of fees. Since inception date and performance begin in the month following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1. Please see the Benchmark History for custom benchmark compositions.

Page 7 of 16 



Cash Flow Summary
Month to Date

Beginning
Market Value

($)
Net Cash Flow

($)

Net Investment
Change

($)

Ending
Market Value

($)

Northern Trust Russell 1000 111,341,190 - -6,433,653 104,907,537

EARNEST Partners 41,754,921 - -1,618,321 40,136,600

Wellington Select Quality Equity 26,120,583 -1,500,000 -773,513 23,847,070

Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value 14,304,364 -30,486 -609,041 13,664,837

Rice Hall James 18,787,587 - -1,216,721 17,570,865

Vanguard Developed Markets ETF 17,101,556 -81,104 737 17,021,188

SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity 46,998,505 - 500,286 47,498,791

Ramirez 76,644,195 - -61,637 76,582,558

Wellington Core Bond 7,363,315 - -5,321 7,357,994

Reams 29,171,826 - -5,678 29,166,148

Polen Capital 6,022,488 - -59,602 5,962,886

Parametric BXM 9,836,826 - -449,022 9,387,805

Parametric DeltaShift 10,736,867 - -572,651 10,164,216

Kepos Alternative Risk Premia 13,411,153 - 539,348 13,950,501

Versor Trend Following 12,065,057 - -402,236 11,662,822

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury ETF 12,972,526 -42,107 -115,823 12,814,596

Cash - Money Market 6,655,878 183,812 36,515 6,876,205

Cash - Treasury 9,841,000 192,000 - 10,033,000

Securities Lending Northern Trust - -10,801 10,801 -

OPFRS Total Plan 471,129,837 -1,288,687 -11,235,532 458,605,619

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Financial Reconciliation | As of March 31, 2025

Page 8 of 16 



Benchmark History
From Date To Date Benchmark

OPFRS Total Plan

01/01/2025 Present 34.0% Russell 3000 Index, 12.0% MSCI AC World ex USA (Net), 44.0% Fixed Income & Credit Benchmark, 10.0% Crisis Risk
Offset Benchmark

07/01/2024 01/01/2025 34.0% Russell 3000 Index, 12.0% MSCI AC World ex USA (Net), 44.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 10.0% Crisis Risk Offset
Benchmark

06/01/2022 07/01/2024 40.0% Russell 3000 Index, 12.0% MSCI AC World ex USA (Net), 31.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 2.0% Blmbg. U.S. Corp:
High Yield Index, 5.0% Cboe S&P 500 Buy Write Index, 10.0% Crisis Risk Offset Benchmark

01/01/2019 06/01/2022 40.0% Russell 3000 Index, 12.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 31.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 5.0% Cboe S&P 500 Buy
Write Index, 2.0% Blmbg. U.S. Treasury: Long, 10.0% Crisis Risk Offset Benchmark

05/01/2016 01/01/2019 48.0% Russell 3000 Index, 12.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 20.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 20.0% CBOE BXM

10/01/2015 05/01/2016 43.0% Russell 3000 Index, 12.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 20.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 15.0% CBOE BXM,
10.0% CPI - All Urban Consumers (unadjusted) +3%

01/01/2014 10/01/2015 48.0% Russell 3000 Index, 12.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 20.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 10.0% CBOE BXM,
10.0% CPI - All Urban Consumers (unadjusted) +3%

03/01/2013 01/01/2014 40.0% Russell 3000 Index, 10.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 17.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 33.0% ICE BofA 3 Month
U.S. T-Bill

08/01/2012 03/01/2013 20.0% Russell 3000 Index, 7.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 18.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index, 55.0% ICE BofA 3 Month
U.S. T-Bill

10/01/2007 08/01/2012 53.0% Russell 3000 Index, 17.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 30.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index

04/01/2006 10/01/2007 35.0% Russell 3000 Index, 15.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index, 50.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index

01/01/2005 04/01/2006 35.0% Russell 3000 Index, 50.0% Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index, 15.0% MSCI AC World ex USA index

04/01/1998 01/01/2005 20.0% Russell 1000 Value Index, 10.0% Russell 1000 Index, 5.0% Russell Midcap Index, 50.0% Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index,
15.0% MSCI EAFE (Net)

01/01/1978 04/01/1998 40.0% S&P 500 Index, 55.0% Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index, 5.0% FTSE 3 Month T-Bill

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Benchmark History | As of March 31, 2025

Page 9 of 16 



Benchmark History
From Date To Date Benchmark

Domestic Equity

01/01/2005 Present 100.0% Russell 3000 Index

04/01/1998 01/01/2005 57.1% Russell 1000 Value Index, 28.6% Russell 1000 Index, 14.3% Russell Midcap Index

09/01/1988 04/01/1998 100.0% S&P 500 Index

International Equity

01/01/2005 Present 100.0% MSCI AC World ex USA (Net)

01/01/1998 01/01/2005 100.0% MSCI EAFE Index

Fixed Income & Credit

01/01/2025 Present 100.0% Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index

04/01/2006 01/01/2025 100.0% Blmbg. U.S. Universal Index

01/01/1976 04/01/2006 100.0% Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index

Covered Calls

04/01/2014 Present Cboe S&P 500 Buy Write Index

Crisis Risk Offset

01/01/2023 Present 33.3% SG Trend Index, 33.3% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index, 33.3% Blmbg. U.S. Government: Long Term Bond Index

08/01/2018 01/01/2023 100.0% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index

Cash

03/01/2011 Present FTSE 3 Month T-Bill

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

 Benchmark History | As of March 31, 2025

Page 10 of 16 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Additional Information

Additional Information

Performance Return Types: Performance shown is net of fees, except for OPFRS Total Plan, Domestic Equity, and International
Equity Composites, which have a mix of gross and net of fees performance. Performance shown for OPFRS Total Plan and
International Equity composite is gross of fees prior to January 2016. Performance shown for Domestic Equity composite is gross of
fees prior to January 2017.

Inception Date: Since inception date and performance begin in the month following an investments initial funding.

Fiscal Year: Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Fair Value Pricing Methodology: Though Vanguard Developed Markets ETF is a passive strategy, short-term performance may
appear to diverge from the index it tracks more than would be expected. This is due to Fair Value Pricing (FVP) adjustments that
address the pricing discrepancies that may arise from time-zone differences among global securities markets. The resulting temporary
divergence is expected to correct itself when the foreign markets reopen.

Page 11 of 16 



Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 
 

Page 12 of 16 



 
Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 

 
 

 

MEKETA.COM 

THIS REPORT (THE “REPORT”) HAS BEEN PREPARED FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”).  

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT, AND IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR 
RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT. THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN, INCLUDING ANY OPINIONS OR 
RECOMMENDATIONS, REPRESENTS OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY 
TIME. ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK, AND THERE CAN BE NO GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS 
DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

THE INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT MAY HAVE BEEN OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND 
OTHER EXTERNAL SOURCES. SOME OF THIS REPORT MAY HAVE BEEN PRODUCED WITH THE ASSISTANCE OF ARTIFICIAL 
INTELLIGENCE (“AI”) TECHNOLOGY. WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT 
GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY, ADEQUACY, VALIDITY, RELIABILITY, AVAILABILITY, OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY INFORMATION 
CONTAINED HEREIN, WHETHER OBTAINED EXTERNALLY OR PRODUCED BY THE AI. 

THE RECIPIENT SHOULD BE AWARE THAT THIS REPORT MAY INCLUDE AI-GENERATED CONTENT THAT MAY NOT HAVE CONSIDERED 
ALL RISK FACTORS. THE RECIPIENT IS ADVISED TO CONSULT WITH THEIR MEKETA ADVISOR OR ANOTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVISOR 
BEFORE MAKING ANY FINANCIAL DECISIONS OR TAKING ANY ACTION BASED ON THE CONTENT OF THIS REPORT. WE BELIEVE THE 
INFORMATION TO BE FACTUAL AND UP TO DATE BUT DO NOT ASSUME ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR ERRORS OR OMISSIONS IN THE 
CONTENT PRODUCED. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL WE BE LIABLE FOR ANY SPECIAL, DIRECT, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, 
OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES OR ANY DAMAGES WHATSOEVER, WHETHER IN AN ACTION OF CONTRACT, NEGLIGENCE, OR OTHER TORT, 
ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE USE OF THIS CONTENT. IT IS IMPORTANT FOR THE RECIPIENT TO CRITICALLY 
EVALUATE THE INFORMATION PROVIDED. 

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE 
IDENTIFIED BY THE USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM,” “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” 
“ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” “CONTINUE,” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE 
TERMINOLOGY. ANY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS REPORT ARE 
BASED UPON CURRENT ASSUMPTIONS. CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS. ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY 
DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS REPORT. 

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE. PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE 
RESULTS. 

Page 13 of 16 



 
Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 

 
 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Credit Risk:  Refers to the risk that the issuer of a fixed income security may default (i.e., the issuer will be unable to make timely principal and/or 
interest payments on the security). 

Duration:  Measure of the sensitivity of the price of a bond to a change in its yield to maturity.  Duration summarizes, in a single number, the 
characteristics that cause bond prices to change in response to a change in interest rates.  For example, the price of a bond with a duration of three 
years will rise by approximately 3% for each 1% decrease in its yield to maturity.  Conversely, the price will decrease 3% for each 1% increase in the 
bond’s yield.  Price changes for two different bonds can be compared using duration.  A bond with a duration of six years will exhibit twice the 
percentage price change of a bond with a three-year duration.  The actual calculation of a bond’s duration is somewhat complicated, but the idea 
behind the calculation is straightforward.  The first step is to measure the time interval until receipt for each cash flow (coupon and principal payments) 
from a bond.  The second step is to compute a weighted average of these time intervals.  Each time interval is measured by the present value of that 
cash flow.  This weighted average is the duration of the bond measured in years. 

Information Ratio:  This statistic is a measure of the consistency of a portfolio’s performance relative to a benchmark.  It is calculated by subtracting 
the benchmark return from the portfolio return (excess return), and dividing the resulting excess return by the standard deviation (volatility) of this 
excess return.  A positive information ratio indicates outperformance versus the benchmark, and the higher the information ratio, the more consistent 
the outperformance. 

Jensen’s Alpha:  A measure of the average return of a portfolio or investment in excess of what is predicted by its beta or “market” risk.  Portfolio 
Return- [Risk Free Rate+Beta*(market return-Risk Free Rate)]. 

Market Capitalization:  For a firm, market capitalization is the total market value of outstanding common stock.  For a portfolio, market capitalization 
is the sum of the capitalization of each company weighted by the ratio of holdings in that company to total portfolio holdings; thus it is a weighted-
average capitalization.  Meketa Investment Group considers the largest 65% of the broad domestic equity market as large capitalization, the next 
25% of the market as medium capitalization, and the smallest 10% of stocks as small capitalization. 

Market Weighted:  Stocks in many indices are weighted based on the total market capitalization of the issue.  Thus, the individual returns of higher 
market-capitalization issues will more heavily influence an index’s return than the returns of the smaller market-capitalization issues in the index. 

Maturity:  The date on which a loan, bond, mortgage, or other debt/security becomes due and is to be paid off. 

Prepayment Risk:  The risk that prepayments will increase (homeowners will prepay all or part of their mortgage) when mortgage interest rates 
decline; hence, investors’ monies will be returned to them in a lower interest rate environment.  Also, the risk that prepayments will slow down when 
mortgage interest rates rise; hence, investors will not have as much money as previously anticipated in a higher interest rate environment.  A 
prepayment is any payment in excess of the scheduled mortgage payment. 

Price-Book Value (P/B) Ratio:  The current market price of a stock divided by its book value per share.  Meketa Investment Group calculates P/B 
as the current price divided by Compustat's quarterly common equity.  Common equity includes common stock, capital surplus, retained earnings, 
and treasury stock adjusted for both common and nonredeemable preferred stock.  Similar to high P/E stocks, stocks with high P/B’s tend to be riskier 
investments.  

Page 14 of 16 



 
Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 

 
 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Price-Earnings (P/E) Ratio:  A stock’s market price divided by its current or estimated future earnings.  Lower P/E ratios often characterize stocks in 
low growth or mature industries, stocks in groups that have fallen out of favor, or stocks of established blue chip companies with long records of stable 
earnings and regular dividends.  Sometimes a company that has good fundamentals may be viewed unfavorably by the market if it is an industry that 
is temporarily out of favor.  Or a business may have experienced financial problems causing investors to be skeptical about is future.  Either of these 
situations would result in lower relative P/E ratios.  Some stocks exhibit above-average sales and earnings growth or expectations for above average 
growth.  Consequently, investors are willing to pay more for these companies’ earnings, which results in elevated P/E ratios.  In other words, investors 
will pay more for shares of companies whose profits, in their opinion, are expected to increase faster than average.  Because future events are in no 
way assured, high P/E stocks tend to be riskier and more volatile investments.  Meketa Investment Group calculates P/E as the current price divided 
by the I/B/E/S consensus of twelve-month forecast earnings per share. 

Quality Rating:  The rank assigned a security by such rating services as Fitch, Moody’s, and Standard & Poor’s.  The rating may be determined by 
such factors as (1) the likelihood of fulfillment of dividend, income, and principal payment of obligations; (2) the nature and provisions of the issue; 
and (3) the security’s relative position in the event of liquidation of the company.  Bonds assigned the top four grades (AAA, AA, A, BBB) are considered 
investment grade because they are eligible bank investments as determined by the controller of the currency. 

Sharpe Ratio:  A commonly used measure of risk-adjusted return.  It is calculated by subtracting the risk free return (usually three-month Treasury 
bill) from the portfolio return and dividing the resulting excess return by the portfolio’s total risk level (standard deviation).  The result is a measure of 
return per unit of total risk taken.  The higher the Sharpe ratio, the better the fund’s historical risk adjusted performance. 

STIF Account:  Short-term investment fund at a custodian bank that invests in cash-equivalent instruments.  It is generally used to safely invest the 
excess cash held by portfolio managers. 

Standard Deviation:  A measure of the total risk of an asset or a portfolio.  Standard deviation measures the dispersion of a set of numbers around 
a central point (e.g., the average return).  If the standard deviation is small, the distribution is concentrated within a narrow range of values.  For a 
normal distribution, about two thirds of the observations will fall within one standard deviation of the mean, and 95% of the observations will fall within 
two standard deviations of the mean. 

Style:  The description of the type of approach and strategy utilized by an investment manager to manage funds.  For example, the style for equities 
is determined by portfolio characteristics such as price-to-book value, price-to-earnings ratio, and dividend yield.  Equity styles include growth, value, 
and core. 

Tracking Error:  A divergence between the price behavior of a position or a portfolio and the price behavior of a benchmark, as defined by the 
difference in standard deviation.  
  

Page 15 of 16 



 
Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 

 
 

 

MEKETA.COM 

Yield to Maturity:  The yield, or return, provided by a bond to its maturity date; determined by a mathematical process, usually requiring the use of a 
“basis book.”  For example, a 5% bond pays $5 a year interest on each $100 par value.  To figure its current yield, divide $5 by $95—the market price 
of the bond—and you get 5.26%.  Assume that the same bond is due to mature in five years.  On the maturity date, the issuer is pledged to pay $100 
for the bond that can be bought now for $95.  In other words, the bond is selling at a discount of 5% below par value.  To figure yield to maturity, a 
simple and approximate method is to divide 5% by the five years to maturity, which equals 1% pro rata yearly.  Add that 1% to the 5.26% current 
yield, and the yield to maturity is roughly 6.26%. 
 

5% (discount) 
= 

1% pro rata, plus 
5.26% (current yield) 

= 6.26% (yield to maturity) 
5 (yrs. to maturity) 

Yield to Worst: The lowest potential yield that can be received on a bond without the issuer actually defaulting.  The yield to worst is calculated by 
making worst-case scenario assumptions on the issue by calculating the returns that would be received if provisions, including prepayment, call, or 
sinking fund, are used by the issuer. 

NCREIF Property Index (NPI):  Measures unleveraged investment performance of a very large pool of individual commercial real estate properties 
acquired in the private market by tax-exempt institutional investors for investment purposes only.  The NPI index is capitalization-weighted for a 
quarterly time series composite total rate of return. 

NCREIF Fund Index - Open End Diversified Core Equity (NFI-ODCE):  Measures the investment performance of 28 open-end commingled funds 
pursuing a core investment strategy that reflects funds' leverage and cash positions.  The NFI-ODCE index is equal-weighted and is reported gross 
and net of fees for a quarterly time series composite total rate of return. 

Sources:  Investment Terminology, International Foundation of Employee Benefit Plans, 1999. 
 The Handbook of Fixed Income Securities, Fabozzi, Frank J., 1991 

The Russell Indices®, TM, SM are trademarks/service marks of the Frank Russell Company. 

Throughout this report, numbers may not sum due to rounding. 

Returns for periods greater than one year are annualized throughout this report. 

Values shown are in millions of dollars, unless noted otherwise. 

Page 16 of 16 



 

MEMORANDUM 

 
MEKETA.COM 

2175 NW Raleigh Street 
Suite 300A 
Portland, OR 97210 
 

503.226.1050 
Meketa.com 
 

TO: Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“PFRS”) 
FROM:  Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) 
DATE:  April 30, 2025 
RE:  Proposed Revisions to Investment Policy Statement and Manager Guidelines (IPS) 

 

Over the past few quarters, the PFRS has embarked on reviewing the portfolio structure of various 
component asset classes and investment managers. This memorandum outlines the proposed revisions 
incorporating the Board’s recent decisions emerging from this process into the Investment Policy 
Statement and Manager Guidelines (IPS)1. The pages with proposed revisions, marked in red, are 
attached. 

Summary of Proposed Revisions 

Section Section Name Revision 

E.2. Long-Term Target Allocations 
Specifies the effective date of the target allocations to clarify 
and differentiate from the approval date. 

F.2. 
Performance Benchmarks and 
Targets for the Total Fund and Fund 
Asset Classes 

Updates the benchmark for Fixed Income asset class from 
Bloomberg US Universal Index to Bloomberg US Aggregate 
Index, as approved by the Board on January 29, 2025. 

L.2. Fixed Income Guidelines 
Updates the benchmark for Core Bond Plus style to 
Bloomberg US Aggregate Index as above. 

 

DS/PN/JLC/mn 

 
1 The IPS was last revised/amended on April 24, 2024. 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

Investment Policy Statement 

Revised as of April 30, 202524, 2024 

- 8 - 

E. ASSET ALLOCATION 

 Asset Classes to be Used 

The Board has considered and adopted the use of three significant asset class categories: 

a) Equities, including US (Domestic) and International Equities; 
b) Fixed Income including U.S. Treasury Notes and Bonds, U.S. Government Agency 

Mortgage-Backed Securities*, U.S. Corporate Notes and Bonds, Collateralized Mortgage 
Obligations, Yankee Bonds, High Yield Bonds/Bank Loans, and Non-U.S. issued fixed 
income securities denominated in foreign currencies; and, 

c) Crisis Risk Offset strategic class, as defined in section M. 

There will be a negligible permanent allocation to cash equivalents.  

 Long-Term Target Allocations 

In March 1996, Oakland voters passed Measure E which amended Article XXVI, Section 2601(e) 
of the Oakland City Charter to increase the percentage of the invested funds of the System that 
may be invested in common stocks and mutual funds from forty percent (40%) to fifty percent 
(50%). 

In November 2006, Oakland voters passed Measure M which further amended Article XXVI of 
the Oakland City Charter to allow the OPFRS Board to make investments solely in accordance 
with the prudent person standard as required by the California Constitution, Article XVI, 
Section 17 (a). 

Long-term asset class targets as adopted by the Board in the first quarter of 2024, effective 
July 1, 2024,  are as follows: 

Strategic Classes 
Long-Term  

Allocation Targets (%) 

Equities  

 US Equity 25.0 

 International Equity 5.0 

Fixed Income  

 Investment Grade Bonds 51.0 

 High Yield Bonds 10.0 

Crisis Risk Offset  

 Alternative Risk Premia (ARP) 3.0 

 Systematic Trend Following 3.0 

 Long-Term Government Bonds 3.0 

In order to not disrupt the portfolio’s return production and diversification capabilities in the near 
term, the long-term allocation targets will be implemented gradually over 24 months, as illustrated 
in Appendix B. 

International equity may include emerging markets equity, not to exceed 25% of the total 
international exposure. 

 
* Includes Non-Agency issues, which are fully collateralized by Agency paper. 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

Investment Policy Statement 

Revised as of April 30, 202524, 2024 

- 13 - 

[Intervening pages without changes are omitted.] 

F. PERFORMANCE OBJECTIVES 

 Overall Investment Goal 

The overall investment goal of the retirement system is to generate a long-term oriented rate of return 
for the total portfolio that equals or exceeds the actuarial investment rate assumption. This objective 
will primarily emanate from the overall asset allocation policy of the Plan. The Board will maintain a 
long-term investment horizon and will monitor on a routine periodic basis the investment performance 
of the total fund, various asset classes, and investment managers (see Monitoring Procedures).  

 Performance Benchmarks and Targets for the Total Fund and Fund Asset Classes 

Total Fund performance is evaluated against two benchmarks: (i) a Policy Index (a weighted 
average of performance using policy targets by asset class), and (ii) an Asset Allocation Index (a 
weighted average of performance using actual allocations by asset class). By doing so, the Board 
is able to determine whether Fund performance is due to active decisions by its investment 
managers and/or differences between the target policy allocation and actual asset allocation. 

In addition, the Board will compare performance of each asset class against a benchmark that 
has characteristics representative of a broad market and indicative of the investment managers 
comprising that asset class.  

Asset Class Benchmarks, effective January 1, 2025 

Asset Class Benchmark* 

Domestic Equity Russell 3000 Index 

International Equity MSCI ACWI ex US Index 

Fixed Income Bloomberg US Aggregate Universal Index 

Credit Bloomberg US High Yield Index 

Covered Calls CBOE S&P 500 Buy Write Index (BXM) 

Crisis Risk Offset (CRO) 33.34% SG Trend Index,  
33.33% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index,  
33.33% Bloomberg US Government: Long Term Bond Index 

 Performance Benchmarks and Targets for the Fund's Investment Managers 

 Market Indices 

The Board recognizes that investment managers must use the broad capital markets as their 
basic tools for investing and that a substantial portion of investment returns will not be attributable 
to management skills, but rather to the markets themselves. The Board expects active (non-index) 
investment managers to add value to the broad markets' returns, net of fees. The Board expects 
passive (index) investment managers match the broad markets’ risk and return attributes, net of 
fees. Performance expectations (or standards) of individual investment managers are stated in 
the "Manager Specific Guidelines" (and are an integral part of) this Policy. 

 
* Reported asset class benchmark returns may contain results of prior benchmarks (a blended benchmark). Please refer to the performance 
reports for the full history of benchmark compositions. 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

Investment Policy Statement 

Revised as of April 30, 202524, 2024 

- 30 - 

[Intervening pages without changes are omitted.] 

L. INVESTMENT MANAGER GUIDELINES 

[Section/pages without changes omitted.] 

 Fixed Income Guidelines 

Fixed income managers are expected to adhere to their manager-specific guidelines (as attached) 
and the following general guidelines.  

a) Diversification 

Managers are expected to construct diversified portfolios unless they present compelling 
reasons for a concentrated portfolio. The portfolio should not own more than 10% at cost 
of any one issue (unless provided otherwise in the individual manager guidelines) and 
should not own more than 10% of the outstanding issue of any one issuer. In the case of 
mortgage-backed securities the portfolio shall not own more than 10% of an outstanding 
issue and such issue shall be at least $50 million in face value. There are no restrictions 
for securities backed by the U.S. Government or its instrumentalities. 

b) Evaluation of Investment Performance 

Subject to the provisions of Performance Objectives, fixed income managers are expected 
to rank within the top 50% of their respective style group and to outperform, over time, 
their respective style benchmarks.  

c) Cash 

Managers are expected to remain fully invested with maximum cash positions at the 15% 
level. If there is a situation where the manager expects to raise cash above the 15% level 
and to maintain same for more than a quarter, then such manager should inform the Board 
in writing of the circumstances surrounding this investment decision. 

d) Investment Performance Monitoring Procedures 

Subject to the provisions of Monitoring Procedures, fixed income managers will be 
monitored on a periodic and ongoing basis according to qualitative considerations and 
quantitative criteria (see table: Investment Performance Criteria by Asset Class under 
section H.3.b.).  

The following table reflects the existing styles within the Board’s portfolio and the 
associated style benchmarks: 

Style Benchmark Peer Group 

Core Bond Bloomberg US Aggregate Core 

Enhanced Core Bond Bloomberg US Aggregate Universal Core Plus 

Credit ICE BofA High Yield Master High Yield 

 

  



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 8129 

 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER    SECONDED BY MEMBER    

RESOLUTION APPROVING A FEE INCREASE FOR MEKETA INVESTMENT 
GROUP (MEKETA) FROM ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS PER 
YEAR TO ONE HUNDRED SIXTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS PER YEAR 
UNDER THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF OAKLAND POLICE 
AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD AND MEKETA INVESTMENT GROUP IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION XXII OF THE AGREEMENT 

 
WHEREAS, the Board manages and administers the Police and Fire Retirement System 
("PFRS"), pursuant to Article XXVI of the Oakland City Charter ("City Charter"); and 
 
WHEREAS, Article XVI §17 of the California Constitution, commonly referred to as the 
Pension Protection Act or Proposition 162, and Article XXVI of the City Charter vest the 
Board with exclusive control of the administration and investment of the assets of the 
Police and Fire Retirement Fund (the "Fund"); and 
 
WHEREAS, Article XXVI of the City Charter expressly authorizes the Board to secure 
competent investment counsel to provide advice and counsel regarding the investment 
of the Fund and further provides that discretionary powers granted to such investment 
counsel will be at the option of the Board; and 
 
WHEREAS, on July 1, 2004, the City of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board 
entered into an agreement with Pension Consulting Alliance whereby Pension Consulting 
would provide advice and counsel to the PFRS Board regarding investments of the assets 
of the Police and Fire Retirement Fund with the annual fee of One Hundred Thousand 
Dollars ($100,000), inclusive of travel cost for their service; and 
 
WHEREAS, on March 27, 2019, the City of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Board contract with Pension Consulting Alliance was reassigned to the Meketa 
Investment Group (“Agreement”); and 
 
WHEREAS, on March 26, 2025, Meketa Investment Group proposed a fee increase to the 
PFRS Board that would provide advice and counsel to the PFRS investment Board 
regarding investments of the assets of the Police and Fire Retirement Fund from a 
current annual retainer of One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000) per year to a new 
fee of One Hundred Sixty-Five Thousand Dollars ($165,000) per year (or approximately 
0.03 percent), inclusive of travel; now, therefore, be it 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved to 
Form 

and Legality 
 

   



2 
 

 
 
 
RESOLVED: That the City of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board hereby 
approves an amendment to the Agreement with Meketa Investment Group to provide 
advice and counsel to the PFRS Board regarding investments of the assets of the Police 
and Fire Retirement Fund for an increased annual fee from One Hundred Thousand 
Dollars ($100,000) to One Hundred Sixty-Five Thousand Dollars ($165,000). 

IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA                       APRIL 30, 2025  

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  

AYES:  GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, WILKINSON & PRESIDENT JOHNSON 
NOES:   
ABSTAIN:   
ABSENT:   
 
 

ATTEST:    
 PRESIDENT 

ATTEST:    
 SECRETARY 



 Approved as to   
     Form and Legality 

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 8130 

 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER  SECONDED BY MEMBER    

 
RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE FEBRUARY 26, 2025 MOTION OF 
THE OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD 
TO HIRE LOOP CAPITAL ASSET MANAGEMENT TO SERVE AS 
THE CORE FIXED INCOME INVESTMENT MANAGER FOR THE 
OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM AT A FEE 
RATE OF 0.20 PERCENT OF THE PORTFOLIO’S ANNUAL ASSET 
VALUE AND AUTHORIZING THE PRESIDENT OF THE POLICE 
AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD TO EXECUTE A 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH LOOP CAPITAL 
ASSET MANAGEMENT 

 
WHEREAS, Article XVI §17 of the California Constitution, commonly referred 

to as the Pension Protection Act or Proposition 162, and Article XXVI of the City 
Charter vest the Board with exclusive control of the administration and investment 
of the assets of the Police and Fire Retirement Fund (the “Fund”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board manages and administers the Police and Fire 

Retirement System (“PFRS”), pursuant to the requirements of Article XXVI of the 
Oakland City Charter (“City Charter”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Oakland City Charter section 2601(e) gives the PFRS Board 

power to make all necessary rules and regulation for its guidance and exclusive 
control of the administration and investment of the funds established for the 
maintenance and operation of the system; and 

 
WHEREAS, Article XXVI of the City Charter expressly authorizes the PFRS 

Board to secure competent investment counsel to provide advice and counsel 
regarding the investment of the Fund and further provides that discretionary 
powers granted to such investment counsel will be at the option of the Board; and 

 
WHEREAS, on July 30 2024, pursuant to direction from the PFRS Board, the 

PFRS Investment Consultant, Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”), conducted a 
Request for Proposal (“RFP”) process for Core Fixed Income Investment Managers; and 

 
WHEREAS, in October 2024, Meketa released an RFP for two Core Fixed Income 

Investment Managers and received 39 responses, including the incumbents in the 
PFRS portfolio; and 

 
WHEREAS, on January 29, 2025, Meketa, recommended that the PFRS Board 

interview: 1) Loomis, Sayles, & Company; 2) Loop Capital Asset Management 
(LCAM); and 3) Ramirez Asset Management for Core Fixed Investment Manager 
position; and 

 
 
 



2 
 

 
WHEREAS, on February 25, 2025 after interviewing the candidates and 

discussing the qualifications of each candidate, the PFRS Board passed a motion to 
hire Loop Capital Asset Management to serve as the Core Fixed Income   Investment 
Manager for the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System at a fee rate of 0.20 
percent of the portfolio’s annual asset value, therefore, be it 

 
RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board hereby ratifies its February 26, 2025 motion 

to hire Loop Capital Asset Management to serve as the Core Fixed Income 
Investment Manager for the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System at a fee rate 
of 0.20 percent of the portfolio’s annual asset value; and be it 

 
FURTHER RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board hereby authorizes the Oakland 

Police and Fire Retirement System Board President to execute, on behalf of the 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System and its Board, a Professional Service 
Agreement with Loop Capital Asset Management (LCAM) to serve as the Core Fixed 
Income Investment Manager for the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System at 
a fee rate of 0.20 percent of the portfolio’s assets value each year. 
 
 
IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA  APRIL 30, 2025  

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  
AYES: GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, WILKINSON, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON 
NOES:  
ABSTAIN:    
ABSENT:  

 
 
ATTEST:    

PRESIDENT 

 
ATTEST:    

SECRETARY 



 Approved as to   
     Form and Legality 

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 8131 

 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER  SECONDED BY MEMBER    

 
RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE FEBRUARY 26, 2025 MOTION OF 
THE OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD 
TO HIRE RAMIREZ ASSET MANAGEMENT TO SERVE AS THE 
CORE FIXED INCOME INVESTMENT MANAGER FOR THE 
OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM AT A FEE 
RATE OF 0.22 PERCENT ON THE FIRST ONE HUNDRED MILLION, 
0.20 PERCENT OF THE NEXT ONE HUNDRED MILLION, 0.15 
PERCENT THEREAFTER PORTFOLIO’S ANNUAL ASSET VALUE 
AND AUTHORIZING THE PRESIDENT OF THE POLICE AND FIRE 
RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH RAMIREZ ASSET MANAGEMENT 

 
WHEREAS, Article XVI §17 of the California Constitution, commonly referred 

to as the Pension Protection Act or Proposition 162, and Article XXVI of the City 
Charter vest the Board with exclusive control of the administration and investment 
of the assets of the Police and Fire Retirement Fund (the “Fund”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board manages and administers the Police and Fire 

Retirement System (“PFRS”), pursuant to the requirements of Article XXVI of the 
Oakland City Charter (“City Charter”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Oakland City Charter section 2601(e) gives the PFRS Board 

power to make all necessary rules and regulation for its guidance and exclusive 
control of the administration and investment of the funds established for the 
maintenance and operation of the system; and 

 
WHEREAS, Article XXVI of the City Charter expressly authorizes the PFRS 

Board to secure competent investment counsel to provide advice and counsel 
regarding the investment of the Fund and further provides that discretionary 
powers granted to such investment counsel will be at the option of the Board; and 

 
WHEREAS, on July 30 2024, pursuant to direction from the PFRS Board, the 

PFRS Investment Consultant, Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”), conducted a 
Request for Proposal (“RFP”) process for Core Fixed Income Investment Managers; and 

 
WHEREAS, in October 2024, Meketa released an RFP for two Core Fixed Income 

Asset Investment Managers and received 39 responses, including the incumbents in 
the PFRS portfolio; and 

 
WHEREAS, on January 29, 2025, Meketa, recommended that the PFRS Board 

interview: 1) Loomis, Sayles, & Company; 2) Loop Capital Asset Management 
(LCAM); and 3) Ramirez Asset Management for Core Fixed Investment Manager 
position; and 

 
 



2 
 

WHEREAS, on February 25, 2025 after interviewing the candidates and 
discussing the qualifications of each candidate, the PFRS Board passed a motion to 
hire Ramirez Asset Management to serve as the Core Fixed Income Investment 
Manager for the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System at a fee rate of 0.22 
percent on the portfolio’s annual asset value, therefore, be it 

 
RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board hereby ratifies its February 26, 2025 motion 

to hire Ramirez Asset Management to serve as the Core Fixed Income Investment 
Manager for the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System at a fee rate of 0.22 
percent on the portfolio’s annual asset value; and be it 

 
FURTHER RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board hereby authorizes the Oakland 

Police and Fire Retirement System Board President to execute, on behalf of the 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System and its Board, a Professional Service 
Agreement with Ramirez Asset Management to serve as the Core Fixed Income 
Investment Manager for the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System at a fee rate 
of 0.22 percent on the portfolio’s assets value each year. 
 
IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA  APRIL 30, 2025  

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  
AYES: GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, WILKINSON, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON 
NOES:  
ABSTAIN:    
ABSENT:  

 
 
ATTEST:    

PRESIDENT 

 
ATTEST:    

SECRETARY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Approved as to   
     Form and Legality 

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 8132 

 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER  SECONDED BY MEMBER    

 
RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE FEBRUARY 26, 2025 MOTION OF 
THE OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD 
TO HIRE REAMS ASSET MANAGEMENT TO SERVE AS THE CORE 
PLUS FIXED INCOME INVESTMENT STRATEGY MANAGER FOR 
THE OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM AT A 
FEE RATE OF 0.20 PERCENT ON THE PORTFOLIO’S ANNUAL 
ASSET VALUE AND AUTHORIZING THE PRESIDENT OF THE 
POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD TO EXECUTE A 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH REAMS ASSET 
MANAGEMENT 

 
WHEREAS, Article XVI §17 of the California Constitution, commonly referred 

to as the Pension Protection Act or Proposition 162, and Article XXVI of the City 
Charter vest the Board with exclusive control of the administration and investment 
of the assets of the Police and Fire Retirement Fund (the “Fund”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board manages and administers the Police and Fire 

Retirement System (“PFRS”), pursuant to the requirements of Article XXVI of the 
Oakland City Charter (“City Charter”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Oakland City Charter section 2601(e) gives the PFRS Board 

power to make all necessary rules and regulation for its guidance and exclusive 
control of the administration and investment of the funds established for the 
maintenance and operation of the system; and 

 
WHEREAS, Article XXVI of the City Charter expressly authorizes the PFRS 

Board to secure competent investment counsel to provide advice and counsel 
regarding the investment of the Fund and further provides that discretionary 
powers granted to such investment counsel will be at the option of the Board; and 

 
WHEREAS, on July 30 2024, pursuant to direction from the PFRS Board, the 

PFRS Investment Consultant, Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”), conducted a 
Request for Proposal (“RFP”) process for Core Plus Fixed Income Investment Managers; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, in October 2024, Meketa released an RFP for two Core Plus Fixed 

Income Investment Managers and received 34 responses, including the incumbents 
in the PFRS portfolio; and 

 
WHEREAS, on January 29, 2025, Meketa, recommended that the PFRS Board 

interview: 1) Income Research & Management; 2) Reams Asset Management; and 3) 
Wellington Management Company for Core Plus Fixed Investment Manager 
position; and 

 
 



2 
 

WHEREAS, on February 25, 2025 after interviewing the candidates and 
discussing the qualifications of each candidate, the PFRS Board passed a motion to 
hire Reams Asset Management to serve as the Core Plus Fixed Income Investment 
Manager for the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System at a fee rate of 0.20 
percent on the portfolio’s annual asset value, therefore, be it 

 
RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board hereby ratifies its February 26, 2025 motion 

to hire Reams Asset Management to serve as the Core Plus Fixed Income Investment 
Manager for the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System at a fee rate of 0.20 
percent on the portfolio’s annual asset value; and be it 

 
FURTHER RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board hereby authorizes the Oakland 

Police and Fire Retirement System Board President to execute, on behalf of the 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System and its Board, a Professional Service 
Agreement with Reams Asset Management to serve as the Core Plus Fixed Income 
Investment Manager for the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System at a fee rate 
of 0.20 percent on the portfolio’s assets value each year. 
 
IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA  APRIL 30, 2025  

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  
AYES: GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, WILKINSON, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON 
NOES:  
ABSTAIN:    
ABSENT:  

 
 
ATTEST:    

PRESIDENT 

 
ATTEST:    

SECRETARY 



 

 

 Approved as to   
     Form and Legality 

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 8133 

 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER  SECONDED BY MEMBER    

 
RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE FEBRUARY 26, 2025 MOTION OF 
THE OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD 
TO HIRE WELLINGTON MANAGEMENT COMPANY TO SERVE AS 
THE CORE PLUS FIXED INCOME INVESTMENT MANAGER FOR 
THE OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM AT A 
FEE RATE OF 0.20 PERCENT, (0.15 PERCENT MANAGEMENT FEE 
ON ASSET UNDER MANAGEMENT PLUS OPERATING EXPENSE 
CAPPED AT 0.05 PERCENT) PORTFOLIO’S ANNUAL ASSET 
VALUE AND AUTHORIZING THE PRESIDENT OF THE POLICE 
AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD TO EXECUTE A 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH WELLINGTON 
MANAGEMENT COMPANY 

 
 
WHEREAS, Article XVI §17 of the California Constitution, commonly referred 

to as the Pension Protection Act or Proposition 162, and Article XXVI of the City 
Charter vest the Board with exclusive control of the administration and investment 
of the assets of the Police and Fire Retirement Fund (the “Fund”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board manages and administers the Police and Fire 

Retirement System (“PFRS”), pursuant to the requirements of Article XXVI of the 
Oakland City Charter (“City Charter”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Oakland City Charter section 2601(e) gives the PFRS Board 

power to make all necessary rules and regulation for its guidance and exclusive 
control of the administration and investment of the funds established for the 
maintenance and operation of the system; and 

 
WHEREAS, Article XXVI of the City Charter expressly authorizes the PFRS 

Board to secure competent investment counsel to provide advice and counsel 
regarding the investment of the Fund and further provides that discretionary 
powers granted to such investment counsel will be at the option of the Board; and 

 
WHEREAS, on July 30 2024, pursuant to direction from the PFRS Board, the 

PFRS Investment Consultant, Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”), conducted a 
Request for Proposal (“RFP”) process for Core Plus Fixed Income Investment Managers; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, in October 2024, Meketa released an RFP for two Core Plus Fixed 

Income Investment Managers and received 34 responses, including the incumbents 
in the PFRS portfolio; and 



 

2 
 

 
WHEREAS, on January 29, 2025, Meketa, recommended that the PFRS Board 

interview: 1) Income Research & Management; 2) Reams Asset Management; and 3) 
Wellington Management Company for Core Plus Fixed Investment Manager 
position; and 

 
 

WHEREAS, on February 25, 2025 after interviewing the candidates and 
discussing the qualifications of each candidate, the PFRS Board passed a motion to 
hire Wellington Management Company to serve as the Core Plus Fixed Income   
Investment Manager for the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System at a fee rate 
of 0.20 percent, (0.15 percent Management Fee on Asset Under Management plus 
Operating Expense capped at 0.05 percent) of the portfolio’s annual asset value; 
now, therefore, be it 

 
RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board hereby ratifies its February 26, 2025 motion 

to hire Wellington Management Company to serve as the Core Plus Fixed Income 
Investment Manager for the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System at a fee rate 
of 0.20 percent, (0.15 percent Management Fee on Asset Under Management plus 
Operating Expense capped at 0.05 percent) of the portfolio’s annual asset value; 
and be it 

 
FURTHER RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board hereby authorizes the Oakland 

Police and Fire Retirement System Board President to execute, on behalf of the 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System and its Board, a Professional Service 
Agreement with Wellington Management Company to serve as the Core Plus Fixed 
Income Investment Manager for the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System at 
a fee rate of 0.20 percent, (0.15 percent Management on Asset Management plus 
Operating Expense capped at 0.05 percent) of the portfolio’s assets value each year. 
 
IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA  APRIL 30, 2025  

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  
AYES: GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, WILKINSON, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON 
NOES:  
ABSTAIN:    
ABSENT:  

 
 
ATTEST:    

PRESIDENT 

 
ATTEST:    

pSECRETARY 



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
MEKETA.COM 

2175 NW Raleigh Street 
Suite 300A 
Portland, OR 97210 
 

503.226.1050 
Meketa.com 
 

TO: Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“PFRS”) 
FROM:  Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) 
DATE:  April 30, 2025 
RE:  Annual Diversity, Equity, & Inclusion (DE&I) Questionnaire Results 

 

This memorandum provides the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“PFRS”) with the data 
collected from PFRS’s eleven investment managers regarding their diversity representation as of 
December 31, 2024.  

PFRS requested Meketa to collect this information at the December 2020 Board meeting as part of the 
discussion on minority representation at a specific manager, and to present it as a recurring annual report.  

In the same year in 2020, Meketa launched a formal initiative to gather data from public and private 
market asset management firms within our proprietary database to evaluate asset management 
firms’ efforts on diversity, equity, and inclusion matters more thoroughly within their organizations. As in 
previous years, the findings from this survey for calendar year 2024 will be published later this month 
aggregating the investment managers’ statistics and work in this area. 

The data collected from PFRS’s investment managers along with the aggregate (as “survey average”) 
findings from the questionnaire are summarized in the following section. Please note that response bias 
is likely in the averages derived from all the responded firms, with firms which have focused more on 
DEI initiatives opting to respond to the questionnaire.



 

 April 30, 2025

 

 
 

Employee Composition by Race & Ethnicity1 

Firmwide 

 
Survey  

Average Brown Earnest Kepos 
Northern  

Trust Ramirez Reams 
Rice Hall  
James 

Strategic 
Global Adv. Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Employees --- 863 44 42 599 47 --- 26 17 19,754 52 3,018 

African/Black 5% 8% 25% 5% 9% 9% --- --- 6% --- 2% 5% 

Asian/Pacific Islander 16% 7% 12% 21% 12% 26% --- 8% 29% --- 94% 28% 

Latino/Hispanic 6% 3% --- 10% 8% 13% --- 8% 6% --- --- 3% 

White 67% 79% 21% 62% 68% 51% --- 80% 59% --- 4% 57% 

Other/Undisclosed 5% 3% 42% 2% 4% 2% --- 4% --- --- --- 7% 

“Survey Average” is calculated using data from 581 respondents. 

Investment Team 

 Average Brown Earnest Kepos N. Trust Ramirez Reams RHJ SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Employees --- 251 16 20 432 11 --- 15 10 --- 41 92 

African/Black 4% 5% 25% 5% 9% 9% --- --- --- 2% --- 4% 

Asian/Pacific 
Islander 

20% 10% 31% 20% 10% 55% --- --- 50% 22% 95% 25% 

Latino/Hispanic 5% 2% --- 15% 9% --- --- 7% --- 3% --- 4% 

White 67% 82% 44% 55% 68% 27% --- 86% 50% 71% 5% 61% 

Other/Undisclosed 5% 1% --- 5% 4% 9% --- 7% --- 2% --- 6% 

“Survey Average” is calculated using data from 547 respondents. 

Senior Organization Management 

 Average Brown Earnest Kepos N. Trust Ramirez Reams RHJ SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Employees --- 31 10 10 149 4 --- 10 4 --- 17 644 

African/Black 4% 3% 10% --- 5% 25% --- --- --- --- 6% 3% 

Asian/Pacific Islander 12% 3% 30% 10% 17% 25% --- 10% --- --- 82% 16% 

Latino/Hispanic 4% 3% --- --- 3% 25% --- --- --- --- --- 2% 

White 74% 87% 60% 80% 71% 25% --- 90% 100% 58% 12% 75% 

Other/Undisclosed 5% 4% --- 10% 3% --- --- --- --- 42% --- 4% 

“Survey Average” is calculated using data from 529 respondents.  
 

1 Northern Trust data is as of June 30, 2024. Reams declined to provide the requested data noting that they are unable to do so “due to firm-level requirements and privacy guidelines related to small subsets of employees where individuals could 
potentially be identified”. Vanguard’s total number of employees data is as of September 30, 2024. For Senior Organization Management sub-group, Vanguard noted “In the US, people of color represent 26% of leaders, 25% of principals, 42% 
of executive management, and 29% of the board of directors. The percentage of people of color in executive management (42%) is illustrated here in the “Other/Undisclosed” category and is used to derive the percentage of white employees. 

Page 2 of 3 MEKETA.COM



 

 April 30, 2025

 

 
 

Employee Composition by Gender1

Firmwide 

 
Survey 

Average Brown Earnest Kepos 
Northern 

Trust Ramirez Reams 
Rice Hall 

James SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Employees -- 963 46 42 599 47 --- 26 17 19,754 52 3,018 

Female 35% 44% 40% 24% 36% 28% --- 31% 47%  10% 45% 

Male 62% 56% 60% 76% 64% 72% --- 69% 53%  90% 55% 

Non-Binary --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- 

Not Disclosed 2% --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- 

“Survey Average” is calculated using data from 647 respondents. 

Investment Team 

 Average Brown Earnest Kepos N. Trust Ramirez Reams RHJ SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Employees -- 278 15 20 432 11 --- 15 10 --- 41 92 

Female 22% 27% 20% 15% 36% 36% --- 20% 30% 23% 7% 30% 

Male 75% 73% 80% 85% 64% 64% --- 80% 70% 77% 93% 70% 

Non-Binary --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- 

Not Disclosed 2% --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- 

“Survey Average” is calculated using data from 603 respondents. 

Senior Organization Management 

 Average Brown Earnest Kepos N. Trust Ramirez Reams RHJ SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Employees -- 36 9 10 149 4 --- 10 4 --- 17 644 

Female 24% 33% 22% 0% 36% 25% --- 30% 50% 33% 0% 29% 

Male 75% 67% 78% 100% 64% 75% --- 70% 50% 67% 100% 71% 

Non-Binary --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- 

Not Disclosed 2% --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- 

“Survey Average” is calculated using data from 555 respondents.
 

 
1 Northern Trust data is as of June 30, 2024. Reams declined to provide the requested data noting that they are unable to do so “due to firm-level requirements and privacy guidelines related to small subsets of employees where individuals could 

potentially be identified”. Vanguard’s total number of employees data is as of September 30, 2024. For Investment Team sub-group, Vanguard noted that women represent 23% of the overall investment teams; male employee population percentage 
is derived as the remainder. For Senior Organization Management sub-group, Vanguard noted “Globally, women represent: 43% of leaders, 40% of principals, 33% of executive management, and 14% of the board of directors”. Percentage of 
women in executive management is illustrated here and is used to derive the percentage of male employees in the senior organization management population. 

Page 3 of 3 MEKETA.COM



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
MEKETA.COM 

2175 NW Raleigh Street 
Suite 300A 
Portland, OR 97210 

503.226.1050 
Meketa.com 

TO: Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“OPFRS”) 
FROM:  Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) 
DATE:  April 30, 2025 
RE:  2025 Preliminary Investment Program Agenda 

 

On an ongoing (monthly) basis, Meketa develops a list of projects that we expect to work closely with 
OPFRS to complete over the calendar year (see table below). In an attempt to coordinate the scheduling 
of these tasks, this memo details a Preliminary Investment Program Agenda by calendaring and 
prioritizing the expected tasks and deliverables that would be required to fulfill the Agenda. Meketa 
welcomes any suggestions and/or modifications to the proposed timeline. 

Date Task 

May 2025 

→ Flash Performance (April) 

→ Quarterly Performance Report (2025 Q1) 

→ Information/Educational: TBD 

June 2025 

→ Flash Performance (May 2025) 

→ Cash Flow Recommendations (2025 Q3) 

→ Manager Finalist Interviews/Selection: International Equity1 

July 2025 

→ Flash Performance (June 2025) 

→ Investment Policy Statement (IPS) Annual Review 

→ Information/Educational: TBD 

August 2025 
→ Flash Performance (July 2025) 

→ Quarterly Performance Report (2025 Q2) 

September 2025 
→ Flash Performance (August 2025) 

→ Cash Flow Recommendations (2025 Q4) 

October 2025 
→ Flash Performance (September 2025) 

→ Thermal Coal List Update: 2025 

November 2025 

→ Flash Performance (October 2025) 

→ Quarterly Performance Report (2025 Q3) 

→ Information/Educational: TBD 

December 2025 

→ Flash Performance (November 2025) 

→ Cash Flow Recommendations (2026 Q1) 

→ 2026 Preliminary Investment Program Agenda 

This agenda includes only major strategic items. Meketa also expects to work with the Staff and Board 
to complete more routine tasks and projects, as expected. 

DS/PN/JLC/mn 

 
1 Manager finalist interviews are expected to be conducted on a different day before the regular Investment Committee/Board meetings on last Wednesdays of the month 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 8134 

 

Approved to 
Form 

and Legality 
 

   

ON MOTION OF MEMBER    SECONDED BY MEMBER    

RESOLUTION FIXING THE MONTHLY ALLOWANCE OF NORMA M. 
GIORDANO, SURVIVING SPOUSE OF ALBERT P. GIORDANO JR., AND 
DEBORAH L. WICKWIRE, SURVIVING SPOUSE OF GARY N. WICKWIRE, 
RETIRED MEMBERS OF THE CITY OF OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE 
RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

WHEREAS, the retired member of the Police and Fire Retirement System, whose 
name appears in Column (1) below, died on the date shown in Column (2) below; and  

WHEREAS, the surviving spouse, whose name appears in Column (3) below, do 
not claim that their spouse’s death was by reason of an injury received in, or illness 
caused by, or arising out of the performance of duty; and  

WHEREAS, there is now presented to this Board, the monthly allowances shown 
in Column (7) below and as calculated by the Actuary in accordance with Article XXVI of 
the Charter of the City of Oakland; now, therefore, be it  

RESOLVED:  That the Police and Fire Retirement Board does hereby fix the 
amount shown in Column (7) as the monthly allowance that said surviving spouse shall 
receive beginning on the date shown in Column (4): 

 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) 

Name of 
Deceased 
Member 

Date of  
Death 

Name of 
Surviving 

Spouse 

Effective 
Date of 

Allowance 

Form of 
Retirement 

% of 
Compensation 

Attached to 
Avg. Rank 

Held 

Monthly 
Allowance 

Albert P. 
Giordano 

Jr. 
02/21/2025 

Norma M. 
Giordano 

02/22/2025 DIS 33.333% $4,829.97 

Gary N. 
Wickwire 

03/02/2025 
Deborah 

L. 
Wickwire 

03/03/2025 DIS 33.333% $4,154.55 

 

IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA                       APRIL 30, 2025  

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:   
AYES: GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, WILKINSON, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON  
NOES:  
ABSTAIN:   
EXCUSED:  
 
 
 

ATTEST:    
 PRESIDENT 

ATTEST:    
 SECRETARY 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 8135 

Approved to 
Form 

and Legality 
 
  

ON MOTION OF MEMBER    SECONDED BY MEMBER    

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE DEATH BENEFIT PAYMENTS AND 
DIRECTING A WARRANT THEREUNDER IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,000.00 
PAYABLE TO THE BENEFICIARY OF DECEASED CITY OF OAKLAND 
POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM MEMBERS ROBERT L. DEL 
GADO AND PHILLIP D. ARMISTEAD 

WHEREAS, due proof having been received in accordance with Article XXVI of the 
Charter of the City of Oakland of the death of the retired members of the Oakland Police 
or Fire Department identified in Column (1) below; and  

WHEREAS, the beneficiary to whom the death benefit provided in Charter Section 
2612 is payable, is the person whose name is stated in Column (2) opposite the name of 
the deceased retired member; and  

WHEREAS, the amount of said death benefit is stated in Column (3) opposite the 
name of the beneficiary; now, therefore, be it 

RESOLVED:  That the Police and Fire Retirement System Board does hereby 
approve the Death Benefit payments to the persons named in Column (2); and be it  

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the Director of Finance be and is hereby directed to 
draw and sign a warrant for the amount in Column (3) payable to the persons whose 
names appear in Column (2): 
 

(1) (2) (3) 
Name of 

Deceased Member 
Name of Beneficiary 

Death Benefit 
Amount 

Robert L. Del Gado 
Estate of Robert L. Del 

Gado 
$1,000.00 

Phillip D. Armistead 
Estate of Phillip D. 

Armistead 
$1,000.00 

 

IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA                       APRIL 30, 2025  

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  
AYES: GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, WILKINSON, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON 
NOES:  
ABSTAIN:    
ABSENT:                                  

                                                        

                                                                                                         ATTEST:    
 PRESIDENT 

ATTEST:    
 SECRETARY 



PFRS Board of Administration 
April 30 2025 

Agenda Item: Q 

AGENDA REPORT 

TO: Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System  FROM: David F. Jones 
(PFRS) Board of Administration PFRS Plan Administrator & 

Secretary 

SUBJECT: PFRS Board of Administration 
Agenda Pending List 

DATE: April 30, 2025

SUBJECT MEETING DATE STATUS 

1 Status Report of the PFRS Ad Hoc 
Committee regarding Actuarial 
Funding date of July 1, 2026 

02/24/2025 Ongoing 

Respectfully submitted, 

David F. Jones 
Plan Administrator & Secretary 
Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System 


	DRAFT_04.30.2025_PFRS_AGENDA_AUDIT_ jnl v2 (Cancellation).pdf
	DRAFT_04.30.2025_PFRS_AGENDA_INVESTMENT (Cancellation)_ jnl v2.pdf
	DRAFT_04.30.2025_PFRS_AGENDA_REGULAR_ v2 (Special & Hybrid).pdf
	PFRS_03.26.2025_Draft Minutes_REGULAR_v.1.pdf
	Feb 2025 Admin Ex. Rpt for PFRS Board Mtg on 4.30.25 (RE).pdf
	PFRS 2024_Annual Report_Final_V.2.pdf
	PFRS_Agenda Report_RSW_TRAVEL REQUEST_4.30.2025 - signed by DJ.pdf
	ATTACHMENT 1.pdf
	2025_PFRS RESO 8128_RSW TRAVEL_Milken Institute(3414098.pdf
	ATTACHMENT 2.pdf
	Milken 2025 Global Conference.pdf
	02_202503_Economic & Market Update.pdf
	03_250430_March Flash Report_OPFRS.pdf
	010_250411_March Flash Report_OPFRS v1
	100_Report Addendum
	999_Disclaimer, Glossary, Notes

	04_M250430_IPS Update w Redlined_OPFRS.pdf
	2025 PFRS_PFRS 20190424 RES 8129 Meketa Fees_Word (v2.0)(3415041.pdf
	2025_PFRS RESO 8130_NEW HIRE_CORE_LOOP (TJ) (003)(3415042.pdf
	2025 PFRS RESO 8131_NEW HIRE_CORE_RAMIREZ (TJ) (003)(3415043.pdf
	2025_PFRS RESO 8132_NEW HIRE_CORE PLUS_REAMS (TJ)(3415044.pdf
	2025 PFRS RESO_CORE PLUS_WELLINGTON (TJ) (003)(3415349.pdf
	10_M250430_Annual DEI Results_OPFRS.pdf
	11_M250430_Strategic Agenda_OPFRS.pdf
	2025 PFRS RESO 8134_Continuance_v1.0 - 04072025(3415347.pdf
	2025_PFRS RESO 8135_Death Benefit_v1.0 - 8125 - 04302025(3415346.pdf
	Agenda Report - Pending Items



